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NEEH
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Corporate Profile
A ARG

Elife Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) is principally engaged in trading businesses across Asia as
well as the provision of esmart digital services. It has also been expanding
its businesses into the consumer products market conforming to the Group's
business principle of “making life easier and benefiting people’s livehood” (%

£5%5 0 BRAE).
The Group has been managing the following businesses:

COMMODITIES TRADING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group continued to focus on
sourcing of overseas and domestic quality products for sales to retail channels
or lowertier agents in the PRC. To rapidly expand the customer base and
trading volume, the Group continues to adopt the low margin strategy which
attracts more sales channels for cooperation. The profit margin for trading

business had dropped due to the strong competition during the year.

ESMART DIGITAL SERVICES

Esmart Group leverages on the intelligentisation of retail information as its core
technology and relies on the combined application of internet, cloud computing,
artificial intelligence and big data to create a brand-new platform that is closely
integrated with traditional industries. With digital marketing solution as service
objective and retailers as the service object, the Group provides an integrated
software and hardware store management system and an information marketing
solution, and is an advanced online-to-offline smart retail service provider.
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Financial Highlights
MBERE

2020
—e-e%
HK$/000

EWTR

Operating Performance KRB

2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
BET T

2018
—E-NF
HK$'000
BT T

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RE
HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Turnover = +C 54,789
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (BB, EF (95,945)
(Loss)/profit for the year AATEBEAELEKRFEE

attributable to owners of (B18) A

the Company (76,932)

89,373

(161,177)

(138,609)

153,039

(144,506)

(126,655)

19,450 194,164

(154,767) 266,852

(152,116) 267,469

Financial Position B 3 AR R,

Total assets EEHAE 134,790
Cash reserves RemE 16,201
Total bank borrowings IBITIEEHRE -
Net cash reserves ReRETFH 16,201
Shareholders’ funds BRERES 61,629

227,479

19,383

329

19,054

131,749

305,208

7,867

7,867

257,805

350,661 279,555
132,453 7,338
132,453 7,338

337,472 241,516
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

Dear Valued Shareholders,

| would like to thank everyone for your patience, understanding and support
over the years.

The Sino-U.S. trade conflict remains unmitigated and the political chaos in Hong
Kong is getting worse. The economy continues to be in a slump as the sales of
consumer goods are showing signs of weakness, which resulted the pressure in
the activities of trading business across the industry in Hong Kong and the PRC
continuously.

Since early 2020, the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") has
considerably impacted the Group’s operation in the PRC. Worse still, the
management is concerned that more profound impact of the COVID-19 outbreak
has not been fully revealed. It is expected that the difficulties and challenges
in the business environment with the Group will continue for a period of time.
In response thereto, the Company has taken various cost control measures to
retain more cash for the Group’s business development. The Company also has
implemented a reduction in the salaries of all directors of the Company (the
“Director(s)”) and certain senior management of the Group in the range of 22%
to 50% with effect from February 2020. The Company has also taken measures
to scale down the smart terminal business sector due to the strong competition
in the PRC, which are expected to lower the operating cost and streamline the
workforce of the Group. However, the business activities have already resumed
gradually during the second quarter of the year 2020 in China. The Company’s
trading business has already returned to normal quickly and the result was
better than expected in the second quarter of 2020.

The Company will continue to monitor the further development of COVID-19
and market conditions as well as the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
as a result thereof. In the meantime, the Company will continue to explore
new opportunities of business development in relation to the consumer products
market conforming to the Group's business principle of “making life easier and

benefiting people’s livehood” (%4%5E ~ BRE).
We hope for more support amid various challenges in an ever-changing
environment. We will also persistently strive to create value for the Company

and the shareholders.

Thank you!

Zhang Xiaobin
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in trading businesses across Asia as well
as the provision of esmart digital services. It has also been expanding its
businesses into the consumer products market conforming to the Group's

business principle of “making life easier and benefiting people’s livehood” (5

5% BRE).

COMMODITIES TRADING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group continued to focus on
sourcing of overseas and domestic quality products for sales to retail channels
or lowertier agents in the PRC. To rapidly expand the customer base and
trading volume, the Group continues to adopt the low margin strategy which
attracts more sales channels for cooperation. The profit margin for trading
business had dropped due to the strong competition during the year.

ESMART DIGITAL SERVICES

Esmart Group leverages on the intelligentisation of retail information as its core
technology and relies on the combined application of internet, cloud computing,
artificial intelligence and big data to create a brand-new platform that is closely
integrated with traditional industries. With digital marketing solution as service
objective and retailers as the service object, the Group provides an integrated
software and hardware store management system and an information marketing
solution, and is an advanced online-to-offline smart retail service provider.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DM

RESULTS ANALYSIS

REVENUE

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded turnover of
approximately HK$54,789,000 (2019: approximately HK$89,373,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 38.7%. The revenue was generated
from the commodities trading and the esmart digital services segments. The
reasons for decrease in revenue during the year include: (i) the unfavourable
market conditions and longer receivable aging affected by the unfavourable
macro-economic environment, especially the China-U.S. trade dispute captured
global attention with the effect of unnerving the markets at times. The ageing
period of trade receivables was extended from 90 to 120 days on average
in the current year. The cash turnover rate decreased and the available cash
for trading also decreased accordingly. This affected the Group’s turnover
as compared with last year. Since the Group usually needs to make advance
payments to suppliers before delivery of goods, new orders are usually placed
only after collection of receivables from customers. The ensuing business
uncertainty seriously eroded the economy as well as the profitability of the
Group; [ii) the decrease in number of customers as compared with the previous
year, which was due to the Group maintaining good credit risk controls on
customers’ receivables collection and reduced volumes of trading with slower-
paying customers; and (iii) coupled with the COVID-19 outbreak, the operations
in China was nearly suspended in the last quarter of the year ended 31 March
2020. Despite this, the unaudited turnover of approximately HK$41,847,000
from 1 April to the date of this report was subsequently recognised, which
represented approximately 76.4% of the turnover for the year ended 31 March
2020. The business activities of the Group have already resumed gradually
during the second quarter of the year 2020.

More details of the Company’s performance by business segments are set out in
Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

COST OF SALES

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the cost of sales of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$56,514,000 (2019: approximately HK$83,585,000),
representing approximately 103.2% (2019: approximately 93.5%) of the
Group's revenue and a decrease of approximately 32.4% which is in line with
the fluctuation of the turnover.

GROSS (LOSS)/PROFIT AND GROSS (LOSS)/PROFIT
MARGIN

The Group’s gross loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$1,725,000 (2019: gross profit approximately HK$5,788,000),
representing a significant decrease of approximately 129.8%. For the year
ended 31 March 2020, the gross profit margin was approximately 0.7%
(2019: approximately 2.0%) in commodities trading business and gross loss
margin was approximately 867.5% (2019: gross profit margin approximately
63.2%) in esmart digital services respectively. The decrease of gross profit
margin in commodities trading business was due to the strong competition
during the year. On the other hand, the increase of gross loss margin in
esmart digital services was due to the fact that lower technical service fee
was recognised from Zhongshang Huimin (Beijing) E-Commerce Co. Ltd
(“Huimin”) while higher provision has been made for the depreciation of the
POS machinery to Huimin (booked under property, plant and equipment). The
overall gross loss margin of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
approximately 3.2% (2019: gross profit margin approximately 6.5%) of the
Group’s revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DM

SELLING EXPENSES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded selling expenses
of approximately HK$7,056,000 (2019: approximately HK$14,381,000). The
decrease was mainly due to the scaling down of the esmart digital services
segment in light of strong competition in the PRC. The Group also implemented
cost control policy to lower the operating costs and streamline the workforce
by cutting down the number of staff in the sales department. Thus, the selling

expenses dropped accordingly in the current year.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Other operating expenses incurred by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 was approximately HK$80,346,000 (2019: approximately
HK$153,542,000), representing a decrease of approximately 47.7%. The
decrease was attributable to: (i) the net allowance for expected credit losses
on trade and other receivables of approximately HK$8,846,000 (2019:
approximately HK$73,687,000) under adoption of HKFRS 9; and (ii) no
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment was recognised for the year
whereas approximately HK$7,918,000 was recognised for the year ended 31
March 2019, the above items had non-cash impact to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs incurred by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020
was approximately HK$570,000 (2019: approximately HK$457,000),
representing an increase of approximately 24.7% (2019: approximately
297.4%). The increase was mainly due to an increase of interest expenses on
lease liabilities recognised under HKFRS16 adoption during the year, while no
such finance costs were incurred in last year.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to shareholders of approximately HK$76,932,000 (2019
approximately HK$138,609,000), representing a decrease of approximately
44.5%. Basic loss per share was approximately HK2.6 cents (2019:
approximately HKé6.5 cents) for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in non-cash items, such as
(a) net allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$8,846,000 (2019: approximately HK$73,687,000); and
(b) no impairment loss on property, plant and equipment was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: approximately HK$7,918,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Goodwill Impairment

As at 31 March 2020, there was no carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill
(2019: approximately HK$18,320,000). During the year ended 31 March
2020, impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$18,320,000 (2019:
approximately HK$4,807,000) arising from esmart digital services had been
recognised in profit or loss. The reasons leading to the goodwill impairment was
due to: (i) the esmart digital services business recorded further operating loss
for the year ended 31 March 2020 when compared with last year; (ii) strong
competition in the esmart digital services industry, and a well known company
launched a similar products with lower cost; (iii) the cash flow demand in
the esmart digital services business was huge with longer packback period
than expected, thus the Group is scaling down the operation of esmart digital
services; and (iv) the unfavourable marco-economic environment, especially
the U.S.-China trade war and COVID-19 outbreak, which the business is
significantly being affected. The goodwill impairment was mainly attributable
to the impact of the weak performance of the global economy and the scaling
down of the esmart digital services business.

The Company was aware of the obvious indication of impairment on the
goodwill of the esmart digital services business above and it is reasonable to
adjust downward the 5-year projected financial performance die to the decline
in future cash flow. The recoverable amounts based on value-in-use calculation
of the esmart digital services business was lower than its carrying amounts, thus
impairment loss on goodwill was recognised during the year. The assessment
for the valuation of goodwill was performed by an independent professional
external valuer.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group derived its working capital mainly from financing activities.
For the year ended 31 March 2020,
operating activities of approximately HK$22,963,000 (2019: approximately

the Group had net cash used in

HK$54,344,000), net cash generated from investing activities of approximately
HK$905,000 (2019: net cash used in investing activities was approximately
HK$1,028,000) and net cash generated from financing activities of
approximately HK$19,787,000 (2019: approximately HK$75,536,000). As at
31 March 2020, the Group had available cash and cash balances amounting
approximately HK$16,201,000 (2019: approximately HK$19,383,000).

As at 31 March 2020, surplus on shareholders’ funds of the Group aggregately
amounted to approximately HK$61,629,000 (2019
HK$131,749,000). Net current assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$45,174,000 (2019: approximately HK$109,428,000). The Group’s total
current assets and current liabilities were approximately HK$117,044,000
(2019: approximately HK$179,838,000) and HK$71,870,000 (2019:
approximately HK$70,410,000) respectively, while the current ratio was

. approximately

approximately 1.6 times (2019: approximately 2.6 times). The Group's assets-
liabilities ratio (total liabilities to total assets) was approximately 0.5 times
(2019: approximately 0.4 times).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts to total equity)
was approximately 71.4% (2019: approximately 41.0%).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company announced on 26 October 2018 that it entered into two
subscription agreements with each of the two Directors (namely Mr. Zhang
Xiaobin and Mr. Gao Feng, the respective Chairman and Vice-Chairman and
both being executive Directors) (the “Subscriptions”) on the same date whereby
the two Directors agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of 1,142,857,142
shares of the Company at the subscription price of HK$0.105 each. The
subscription price and the number of subscription shares were subsequently
adjusted to HK$0.21 and 571,428,571 shares of the Company pursuant to
supplemental agreements to the subscription agreements dated 15 November
2018 in order to reflect the adjusted subscription price and the number of
subscription shares once the share consolidation has become effective.

On 26 April 2019, the Company entered into the third supplemental
agreements with the two Directors to revise certain major terms of the
Subscriptions whereby the two Directors agreed to subscribe for an aggregate
of 265,957,446 shares of the Company at the subscription price of HK$0.188
each. The aggregate gross proceeds from the Subscriptions amount to
HK$50,000,000. The extraordinary general meeting was held to pass the
above resolutions on 21 June 2019. While all conditions precedent to the
Subscriptions have been fulfilled, overall market conditions and sentiment
deteriorated since June 2019 due to the social unrest in Hong Kong and the
escalation in US-China trade tensions. The subscribers have requested, and the

Company has agreed, to extend the date of completion.

On 16 January 2020, subscription price of approximately HK$10,000,000
under the Subscription was received from Mr. Zhang Xiaobin and an aggregate
of 53,191,489 shares were issued at the subscription price of HK$0.188
each. The proceeds are intended to be used to satisfy the working capital
requirements of the Group, including the working capital to maintain the
Group’s daily operations and the funding for developing the daily consumer
goods trading business of the Group.

As at 31 March 2020, the cash consideration of HK$15,000,000 out of
HK$40,000,000 under the Subscription was received from Mr. Gao Feng for

his share subscription.

On 8 March 2019, Huimin International (HK) Limited (“Huimin Int'l"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Mr. Wang Haoyu (“Mr. Wang”)
entered into a loan agreement whereby Mr. Wang provided Huimin Int'l with
a loan in the principal amount of RMB20,000,000. The loan bears interest at
a rate of 8% per annum and would be due on the 60 days from the drawdown
date of the loan. On 26 April 2019, the Company, Huimin Int'l and Mr.
Wang entered into the loan capitalisation agreement (the “Loan Capitalisation
Agreement”) pursuant to which Mr. Wang conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, an aggregate of
125,008,842 loan capitalisation shares, at the loan capitalisation subscription
price of HK$0.188 each. The subscription amount payable by Mr. Wang under
the Loan Capitalisation Agreement was satisfied by capitalising the outstanding
principal amount of the loan and the interest accrued. Completion of the loan
capitalisation took place on 10 May 2019.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the capital expenditures mainly
for additions in property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HK$63,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,965,000). These capital expenditures

were funded by internal cash flow from operating activities.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had capital commitment of approximately
HK$259,476,000 (2019: approximately HK$277,817,000) in respect of the

authorised and contracted for capital contributions payable to subsidiaries.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES
AND ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group’s sales and purchase are mainly transacted in Hong Kong dollar,
United States dollar and Renminbi and the books are recorded in Hong Kong
dollar. Therefore, it may be exposed to foreign exchange risk. However, in view
of the stable currency policies adopted by the PRC government, the Directors
consider that the foreign exchange risk is insignificant.

The Group currently has no foreign exchange rate hedging policy in respect
of commercial transactions denominated in foreign currencies. However, the
Directors monitor exchange rate exposure regularly and will consider hedging
significant exchange rate exposure when necessary.

KEY RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group monitors the development of the industry on a regular basis and
timely assesses different types of risks in order to formulate proper strategies to
minimise the adverse impact on the Group.

For details, please refer to Note 5 “Financial Risk Management” to the

consolidated financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP
There was no pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March

2020.

DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend any payment of final dividend to shareholders for

the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

OTHER EVENTS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of 31 employees (2019: 106)
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United States. All employees are remunerated
according to their performance, experience and the prevailing industry
practices.

The Group also participates in retirement benefit scheme for its staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC.
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The existing share option scheme of the Company was adopted on 8 October
2010 and amended on 17 August 2017, with options to be granted to any
directors, employees and other parties at the discretion of the Board. During
the year ended 31 March 2020, 29,550,000 share options were granted to
directors, employees and other parties while 41,300,000 share options lapsed.
As at 31 March 2020, 261,667,000 share options remained outstanding.

The Group also adopted a share award scheme on 27 July 2017. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, no awarded share was granted to any eligible

Directors, employees or other parties.

The Group is committed to providing employees with a stable working
environment and continuing to uphold the principles of impartially, fairness
and merit-based employment, and constantly improves the criteria for personal

selection and appointment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal for the year

ended 31 March 2020.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group as at 31 March
2020 were set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31 March
2020.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

For further information about the environmental policies and performance of the
Company for this financial year, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report to be issued on or before the end of August 2020.

FUTURE PROSPECT

In the foreseeable future, the Company intends to allocate resources for
developing the benefit of people related consumer goods market, in particular,
the daily consumer products market, by expanding its existing trading business
to this area and considers acquisitions of relevant businesses with growth
potentials.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobin, aged 67, was appointed as the chairman and an
executive Director of the Company on 22 September 2015. He has over 30
years of experience in the investment and financial service fields. From 2010
through 2015, he was the Managing Director and the China Senior Advisor
for J.P. Morgan. He worked closely with senior management in driving J.P.
Morgan’s franchise expansion in China with his profound understanding and
knowledge of China’s capital markets. Between 2012 and 2015, he acted as
the Chairman of the Supervision Committee of China United SME Financial
Guarantee Corporation (a joint venture of J.P. Morgan with the ExportImport
Bank of China and other global institutions), the largest credit guarantee
company in China. Prior to joining J.P. Morgan China as the Managing Director
and China Senior Advisor in 2010, Mr. Zhang led a storied career, including
one of the founders of Chinese Stock Exchange system, Secretary General of
Stock Exchange Executive Council, the chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of China Venturetech Investment Corporation. Mr. Zhang graduated from
Xian Jiaotong University (FAZXEAZ) in 1977 with a major in mechanical
engineering. He was a UNESCO Scholar from 1981 to 1982 and a visiting
scholar at Stanford University in 1983 and was then selected as a Eisenhower
Fellow in 1987. In 1994, he studied in Advanced Management Program
(“AMP”) at Harvard Business School. Mr. Zhang was a non-executive director
of China Financial Services Holdings Limited (stock code: 0605) for the period
from 30 September 2015 to 13 July 2017.

Mr. GAO Feng, aged 50, was appointed as the vice-chairman and an
executive Director of the Company on 18 June 2009. He has extensive
management experience in particular for PRC businesses for over 15 years, and
has served various important roles in a couple of listed companies and sizable
financial institutions. Mr. Gao was the former president of North America for
I.N.C. Financial Organization Ltd. and the former president of Asia-Pacific for
Morgan Funding Organization. Mr. Gao holds a master’s degree in business

administration from Keuka College in New York.

Mr. CHIU Sui Keung, aged 53, was appointed as the chief executive officer
and an executive Director of the Company on 20 April 2009. Mr. Chiu has
over 23 years' experience in the financial industry and accounting field. He
possesses extensive experience in corporate finance including initial public
offerings, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions, fund raising and corporate
advisory. Mr. Chiv graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from
the University of Melbourne, Australia and has obtained a Master’s Degree
in Applied Finance from Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia. He also
obtained a Diploma in Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations Affecting
Foreign Businesses jointly organized by Southwest University of Political Science
and Law, the PRC and the Hong Kong Management Association. At present
Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of King Stone Energy Group

Limited (Stock code: 0663).

Annual Report 2020 % -

MITESE

RBEEE 7/ R-ZE-—AFAA-+-REZR
ERERAEIERYTESZ - REFBA=TFHRE
REMBRBEIER R-Z2-ZFE2-FT-1FH
B REEERABESLLERTERSHEMD -
REPHREDERABEELRERS  AAAHTE
EXATSENAETHRRABMESREEREAREES
F-R-ZZE-—_FZ_Z-HFHH REEPER
ANBMEERDAPEPNEEREERROERD
A (BERABEPEERORTRAMBRREBER LY
FEREINESETR N SFMAERKE
THRETESASERTEESHERZA  REE
BREIZHEZRERY  BRTERSFXZAGA
MAZ— BSFBEARIERER  PEFKIMAIZE
&ﬁﬂﬁzﬁ&%ﬁﬂ TE REER-ALLFE
ERARRBARE  TBEEMIR -R-IWN\—FZF
—hWN\ZHF  REBSEARNEABEE  R-IN=
FREFERAREFHEE  BER-ANEFARE
YHEHEZEE - —WhWEF  RREZERHERER
EREESREERE R-ZE-HAFNA=+RE
“E-LFLA+T=HHE REERTEESRRE
EEARAE (RHAR - 0605) 2FHTES -

BEEE 505  R-ZZNAFAATN\BEEES
ARRBEFERATES - MEFLEEELRAS
FEPEEFLEBE)  AEZBALHTRAARRE
BACHBHBEAETEERE -SEEEAER
ERRKERMVBzLXBEBAARRERESES
ZEAEBMAR SAEFAANERAKBIHEE
[l SDAL

BImMEE S8m R-ZEEAFHA-TREZRE
ARRBATHRAERATES - ﬁ?ﬁiﬁ*‘%%ﬂ%&é’
SAREBAFEULERR  UHROCERMESHEE

KE o BEBERLMBE - BB - o8- %ﬁ&u—.%?&‘
o WAL EENRMNERMAKRE  FEHELEW
THABRNEEEREARZNSEAESHELEN 3
SEHFEERBEAEREEEEEXEHS AN
MEEIIMMEEE 2 PEEERERER R BAT -
BEERSIWEREBARQE RV 0663) 2
BYRHITES -

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4= 3 2 Jit 47 Fit 23 5]



Directors & Senior Management Profiles

EEREHREEERBRN

Mr. SUN Qiang, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director and
Group chief technology officer with effect from 8 January 2018. He has over
13 years of work experience on research and development in the area of
big data system and machine learning technologies. He was the Senior Data
Scientist of Alexa Internet, Inc (a subsidiary of Amazon.com) from 2013 to
2017 and the technical project manager thereof from 2009 to 2013. Mr.
Sun obtained his doctoral degree in Computer Science from the University of
lllinois at Urbana-Champaign lllinois in 2005. He obtained his master degree
in Molecular Biology from the Wesleyan University, Connecticut and bachelor
degree in Biochemistry from Peking University, Beijing, China in 1998 and
1996, respectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Williamson, aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 January 2011. Mr. Lam is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the CPA
(Australia). He holds a Bachelor of Business Degree from Monash University,
Australia and a Master of Professional Accounting Degree from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam had held directorships and senior finance
positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lam is currently an
independent non-executive director of Lerado Financial Group Company Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1225)
since 20 July 2018.

Mr. CHENG Wing Keung, Raymond, aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 25 August 2007. Mr. Cheng is a
solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and has over 31 years of experience in
corporate, company secretarial and listing affairs. He holds a degree in laws in
the University of London and a Master Degree in Business Administration in the
University of Strathclyde, Scotland. He has been appointed by the Hon Chief
Justice Ma of the Court of Final Appeal as a Practising Solicitor Member of the
Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal Panel with effect from 4 October 2017. Besides,
Mr. CHENG has also been appointed by The Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region as a member of the Panel of the Board of Review
(Inland Revenue Ordinance) with effect from 1 January 2018. At present, he
is an independent non-executive director in one listed company in Hong Kong:

Skyfame Realty (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: 0059).

Mr. WONG Hoi Kuen, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 9 May 2011. Mr. Wong is a practising certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong is currently
an independent non-executive director of REXlot Holdings Limited (Stock code:
555) and China Information Technology Development Limited (Stock code:
8178). Mr. Wong was also an independent non-executive director of China
Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 164) from 13 February
2006 to 16 July 2018. The shares of above companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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Dr. LAM Lee G, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 18 November 2015. He has over 30 years of international
experience in general management, strategy consulting, corporate governance,
investment banking, direct investment and fund management. He is the
Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited, the Non-
Executive Chairman - Hong Kong and ASEAN Region and the Chief Adviser
to Macquarie Infrastructure and Real Assets Asia, a member of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region Government’s Committee on Innovation,
Technology and Re-Industrialisation, and of the Court of the City University
of Hong Kong, Convenor of the Panel of Advisors on Building Management
Disputes of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government Home
Affairs Department, the President of the United Nations Economic and Social
Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business Network
(ESBN) Executive Council and the Chairman of its Task Force on Banking
and Finance, the Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic Council (PBEC),
and a member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council Belt and Road
and Greater Bay Area Committee and the Sir Murray Maclehose Trust Fund
Investment Advisory Committee.

Dr. Lam holds a BSc in Sciences and Mathematics, an MSc in Systems Science
and an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, an LLB (Hons) in law
from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, a LLM in Law from the
University of Wolverhampton in the UK, an MPA and a PhD from the University
of Hong Kong. He is also a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong (and
formerly o member of the Hong Kong Bar), an Accredited Mediator of the
Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution, a Fellow of Certified Management
Accountants (CMA) Australia, the Institute of Public Accountants, the Institute
of Financial Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators, and the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, and an Honorary Fellow of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management,
and the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing
Education. In 2019, Dr. Lam was awarded by the Hong Kong Government a
Bronze Bauhinia Star for serving the public.

Dr. Lam is currently an Independent Non-executive Director of Aurum Pacific
(China) Group Limited (Stock Code: 8148), CSI Properties Limited (Stock
Code: 497), Elife Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 223), Greenland Hong Kong
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 337), Haitong Securities Company Limited
(Stock Code: 6837, 600837 on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), Hang Pin
Living Technology Company Limited (Stock Code: 1682), Huarong Investment
Stock Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 2277), Kidsland International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 2122), Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (Stock Code:
391), and Vongroup Limited (Stock Code: 318). He is a Non-executive Director
of China LNG Group Limited (Stock Code: 931), National Arts Entertainment
and Culture Group Limited (Stock Code: 8228), Sunwah Kingsway Capital
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 188), Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (Stock
Code: 455) and Mingfa Group (International) Company Limited (Stock Code:
846, re-designated from independent non-executive director on 23 April 2020)
and the shares of all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Lam is
also an Independent Non-executive Director of China Real Estate Group Limited
(Stock code: 5RA), JCG Investment Holdings Ltd. (Stock code: VFP), Thomson
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Medical Group Limited (Stock Code: A50) and Top Global Limited (Stock code:
BHO), and is Non-executive Director of Singapore eDevelopment Limited (Stock
code: 40V) all of which are listed companies on the Singapore Exchange. Dr.
Lam is Independent Non-executive Director of Sunwah International Limited
(Stock code: SWH), whose shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange,
AustChina Holdings Limited (Stock code: AUH), whose shares are listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange and TMC Life Sciences Berhad (Stock code:
0101), whose shares are listed on the Bursa Malaysia, and Non-executive
Director of Adamas Finance Asia Limited (Stock code: ADAM), whose shares
are listed on the London Securities Exchange.

Dr. Lam was a non-executive director of China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial
Group Limited (Stock Code: 412),
(Stock Code: 0061 which he was appointed in June 2019 and resigned in July
2019) and Roma Group Limited (Stock Code: 8072), and an independent non-
executive director of each of Hsin Chong Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
404) which shares were delisted on the Stock Exchange in December 2019,
Glorious Sun Enterprises Limited (Stock Code: 393), Xi‘an Haitiantian Holdings
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 8227), all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange;
and an independent non-executive director of Rowsley Ltd. (Stock Code: A50),

Green leader Holdings Group Limited

a company listed on Singapore Exchange, and Vietnam Equity Holding (Stock
Code: 3MS), a company listed on Stuttgart Stock Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHOW Chi Fai, aged 49, was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 29 December 2008 and possesses over 23 years of
experience in accounting and finance field. Mr. Chow holds a bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from the University of South Australia and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow is currently
an independent non-executive director of Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited
(Stock Code: 9938).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LIU Gang, aged 49, was appointed as president of the China region of
the Company on 1 May 2014 and the president of Zhongnongxin Supply Chain
Management Company Limited (“Zhongnongxin”). Mr. Liv Gang has over 20
years experience in large-scale project management in the PRC and overseas,
and maintains long-term cooperative relationship with large state-owned
enterprises and corporations as well as global 500 companies such as CNPC,
Geological Survey of China, and Mining Affairs Bureau.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
through the establishment and adoption of good practices and procedures
which are in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
principles of corporate governance adopted by the Company enhance board
practices, internal controls, transparency and accountability to the Company’s
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company had applied and
complied with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange save for the deviation from

CG Code A1.1, A5 and A.6.7.

Under the CG Code A.1.1, board meetings should be held at least four times
per year (each quarter). During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company
held four board meetings, out of which one meeting did not have any written
minutes.

Under the CG Code A.5, the nomination committee is responsible to review the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at least annually. The
Company convened one nomination committee meeting during the year ended
31 March 2020. However, no written document such as notice, agenda and
minutes was prepared for the nomination committee meeting.

Under the CG Code A.6.7, independent non-executive directors and other
non-executive directors, as equal board members, should give the board
and any committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills, expertise
and varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance and
active participation. They should also attend general meetings and develop
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. However, two
independent non-executive Directors and two non-executive Directors were
unable to attend the general meeting of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2020 due to conflicting business schedules.

The Board has updated or established various policies and procedures and the
committees have updated their terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code.

The Board has taken up the corporate governance function stipulated in the CG
Code and has included such function in its terms of reference. The Board has
reviewed the compliance status of the Company with the CG Code.

The Board will review the CG Code from time to time and shall make necessary
arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.

We have summarised the CG Code adopted by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2020 as below:
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of eight Directors,
including four executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors
(the “INEDs”). Two of the INEDs have the relevant accounting and related
financial management expertise as required by the Listing Rules. The names of
the Directors by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) (Resigned on 29 February 2020)
Ms. Xu Ying (Resigned on 1 March 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Dr. Lam Lee G.

Biographical details of each of the Directors are set out under the Directors and
Senior Management Profiles section on pages 12 to 15 of this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors has respectively entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years but is subject to
retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.

Each of the INEDs has entered info a letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of three years but subject to retirement by rotation and is
eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and continues to consider each
of them to be independent.

The Board, as led by the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman, is collectively
responsible for the set up of the Group’s overall strategies, operating and
financial policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation of
the performance of the Company’s business, and oversight of the management
team. The management team is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group under the supervision of the Chief Executive Director.
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CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT FOR
DIRECTORS

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of
the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company, the Company’s constitutional documents and the Guides on Directors’
Duties issued by the Companies Registry to each newly appointed Director
to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and

obligations under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Company Secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials, and the legal advisers
of the Company prepare and provide the Directors with detailed interpretations
and analysis on the revised contents for them to understand the latest
developments in a timely and accurate manner and to perform their duties in
accordance with relevant laws and regulatory requirements.

During the year, all Directors were provided with regular updates on the
Group’s business and operations. The Company has arranged to update the
Directors on the amendments on the Listing Rules and guidelines on disclosure of
insider information and connected transactions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this report, there was
or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of
the directors of the Company (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or
an associated company (if made by the company).

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover the certain
legal actions brought against its Directors and officers.

CHAIRMAN, VICE-CHAIRMEN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman, Vice-Chairmen and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective
segregation of duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to-
day management of the Group's businesses.

The Chairman and the Vice-Chairmen lead the Board and oversee the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval
of the agenda prepared by the Company Secretary for each Board meeting,
and taking into account, where appropriate, matters proposed by members of
the Board and including them in the agenda. With the support of the two Vice-
Chairmen, other executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman
seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and receive sufficient and reliable information in a timely manner
before the Board meetings. The Chairman and the Vice-Chairmen also actively
encourage Directors to engage in the Board’s affairs and make contribution to

the Board’s decisions.
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The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating and
financial policies among the Group and accountability to the Board for all the
Group's operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the management
team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent with the strategies
and objectives established by the Board. In addition, the Chief Executive Officer
ensures that the Company meets its funding requirements and closely monitors
the operating and financial results against the Company’s business plans and
budgets, and takes remedial actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer
is also responsible for the establishment and maintenance of an effective
management team to assist him in the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses.

BOARD PRACTICES

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give all Directors an
opportunity to attend in person. Four regular Board meetings had been held
during the year ended 31 March 2020. Each of the Directors has full access
to information of the Company and has access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary in respect of compliance with board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations. Each of the Directors may also take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary,
in accordance with the approved procedures. The minutes of the Board are
prepared by the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered
by the Board and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
members of the Board or dissenting views expressed.

The Board held four Board Meetings and two General Meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2020 and the attendance record of each member of the Board
is set out below:
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EEENBE T EF A=+ -HLFERET
THRAESEEZIRMARRAE  ETFEURE
ZHERHNT
Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meetings General Meeting

EFETMHRERY BRXFHERE
Executive Directors BiTER
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWEE(E 4/4 1/2
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BleEE (BlE ) 3/4 1/2
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) iR ((THER) 4/4 2/2
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer) BRREE(BREEME) 3/4 2/2
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) R—HEE (BERE)

(Resigned on 29 February 2020) (R=—F=-FF-F =1 NHBF) 1/4 1/2
Ms. Xu Ying (Resigned on 1 March 2020) BRLT (R=F=-FF=ZF—HEFHF) 1/4 1/2
Independent non-executive Directors BUFRTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond KR EE 4/4 1/2
Mr. Lam Williamson ME2EEE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERELE 4/4 2/2
Dr. Lam lee G. MREBHEL 3/4 1/2
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”), any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election by Shareholders at the first general meeting of
the Company. In accordance with articles 87(1) of the Articles, every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term or holding office as Chairman of
the Board or the Chief Executive Director of the Company) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

As stated in Code Provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, any further appointment
of an independent non-executive Director serving more than nine years should
be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. Mr.
Lam Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen were appointed as independent non-
executive Directors on 1 January 2011 and 9 May 2011, respectively and
each of them will have served as an independent non-executive Director for
more than nine years on the date of the forthcoming annual general meeting.
As such, separate resolutions will be proposed for their re-elections at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE “MODEL CODE")

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules on
the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2020. After having made specific enquiry
to all directors of the Company, the Directors are of the opinion that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the year ended

31 March 2020.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 47 to 52 of
the annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the
external auditors of the Company:

(i) Annual and Interim Reports and Financial
Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year which
gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at the year end and of the Group's profit or loss and cash flow
for the year then ended.

(ii) Accounting Policies
In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the Directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those
new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to the

financial statements, have applied them consistently with previous financial
periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are prudent and
reasonable.
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(iii) Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position
of the Group and enable the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

(iv) Safeguarding Assets
The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

(v) Going Concern
The Directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the Company
and of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board Committees to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. A majority of the members of each of these Committees are INEDs.
Each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees is governed by its
respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

On 18 March 2002, the Board established an Audit Committee which currently
comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Lam Williamson and the other two
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Audit Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(il Relationship with external auditors
e to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

e to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards; and

® to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

(i) Review of financial information
To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual
report and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements contained
in them.
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(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
and risk management systems
* to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

e to discuss the internal control system and risk management system
with management to ensure that management has performed its duty
to have an effective internal control system; and

e to consider major investigations findings on internal control and risk
management matters as delegated by the Board.

The Comnmittee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the websites of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March 2020

and the attendance record of each Audit Committee member is set out below:

(iii) BERARNBZHBEHREHE  ASBEZEREARE
HEHE
e BNAQNRAZHBEE ABEEREARE
BHIE;
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Attendance
of Audit
Committee
Meetings
ERTHRE
FRHERE

Independent non-executive Directors BIAFRITES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BPoK I EE 2/2
Mr. Lam Williamson MEBLEE 2/2
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen HEELEE 2/2

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year end 31
March 2020 is summarised below:

(i) Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group’s external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2019 before making recommendations for the Board’s approval. It
reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and representations
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

(ii) Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk

management and internal control systems

The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group evaluated
its control environment and its risk assessment process, and the way in
which business and control risks were managed. It made recommendations
to the Board about the effectiveness of internal control systems in the
Group’s business operations. These controls and systems allowed the
Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial position and to protect
its assets.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

On 14 July 2006, the Board established a Remuneration Committee which
currently comprises two INEDs and one executive Director, chaired by
Mr. Lam Williamson and the other two members of the Remuneration Committee

are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.
The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management and establishment of a

formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages to

individual executive Directors and senior management;

(iii) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of

non-executive Directors;

(v) to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and otherwise fair and

not excessive;

(vi) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

(vii) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
is own remuneration.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference

which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock

Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31
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March 2020. BITTZRERE -

Attendance of Remuneration
Directors Committee Meeting
E= FHEZEEEFEHERY
Mr. Lam Williamson mEEEE 3/3
Mr. Cheung Wing Keung, Raymond Bk 38 AL 3/3
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung iz Bk e 3/3
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SHEABE

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the

year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

FrE 8

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000
Over HK$4,000,000

Z£2%1,000,000% 7t
1,000,001 5t £2,000,000% 7T
2,000,001 7t £3,000,000% 7T
3,000,001 7t £4,000,000% 7T
##384,000,0007% 5T

BE-_ZE_ZF=-A=+—HLGESARBEEZH
BNAR BN T -

Number of persons

N

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

On 14 July 2006, the Board established a Nomination Committee which
currently comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond
and the other two members of the Nomination Committee are Mr. Lam

Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.
The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review the structure, size, composition (including skills, knowledge
and experience) and diversity of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement

the Company’s corporate strategy;

(i) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship, having due regard to the board
diversity policy and the nomination policy of the Company;

(iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for

Directors;

(v) to review the board diversity policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any required changes to the Board for consideration
and approval, and monitor its implementation so as to ensure its
effectiveness, and make disclosure of its summary and the progress of its

implementation in the corporate governance report; and

(vi) to review the nomination policy for directors of the Company and to make
disclosure of the summary of nomination policy in annual report of the

Company annually.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock

Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2020.

Directors

BE

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung BKIREE
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BBEEE

REZEENRBEZ-_ZEF=ZA=+—-HLFER

BT —REH

Attendance of Nomination
Committee Meeting

REZRTTREERY

1/1
1/1
1/1

The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed: (1) the prevailing
structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) the independence of the
INEDs; and (3) nomination of Directors for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee has made recommendations to the
Board.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy aims to:

(i)  sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
directors;

(i) ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company; and

(iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

Below are the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship.

Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in evaluating
and selecting candidates for directorships:

e character and integrity;

e quadlifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience and diversity aspects under the board diversity policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

e any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board;

e  requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the

Listing Rules;

®  any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity;

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4: % #% % FR A % - Annual Report 2020 % #

REZEELREHRNR  (ESS2RTEBE R
BRAR: Q)BUFHTES BN RO)RER
BRREFASLREERERE2ES -REEEEE
MESSRLERS -

"B E
ESSCRWREBHE  HER:

(i) BIALAREREZECAESZEERERF

(i) BRESSABIEACAEBAT2RKE &
BRETEH R

(i) BRESS2HFEURESECESEREAEZE
HAEAG-

FHREZEEMRMUBEREZESABZRS
BFURBREREEDHNT X -

BREME
EFERBEGREAETESS REZ8TETE
THIEE

o MIREMBIE

o ER BENAALAAEBRARKKZIERZE
EER K ABRER URESERES
TAEBET 25 LK

o AENEFEREZALLMEMZEMITAER

=

e LTHRAEHESSZFAEBRIUESIZRE U
kSREMRAUMB 2B IIES  TEARKRE
ARBHREREY ;

o REAEEMR R LR BUMRMAZT
EFEARAESSFRZEMBEETR



Corporate Governance Report
TERERHRE

e willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company; and

e any other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business
and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of Directors and succession planning.

Directors’ Nomination Procedures
The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination which are
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Articles as detailed below.

(a) Appointment of Directors

(i) the Nomination Committee identifies individual(s) suitably qualified
to become Board members, having due regard to the board diversity
policy and the nomination policy of the Company, and assesses the
independence of the proposed independent nonexecutive Director(s)
as appropriate;

(i)  The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board;

(i) The Board considers the individual(s) recommended by the
Nomination Committee, having due regard to the board diversity
policy and the nomination policy of the Company;

(iv) The Board confirms the appointment of the individual(s) as Director(s)
or recommends the individual(s) to stand for election at a general
meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board will be subject to re-election by
shareholders of the Company at the next annual general meeting
after initial appointment in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association.

(v)  The shareholders approve the election of individual(s), who stand(s)
for election at general meeting, as Director(s).

(b)  Re-appointment of Directors

(1) The Nomination Committee considers each retiring Director, having
due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy
of the Company, and assesses the independence of each retiring
independent non-executive Director.

(2) The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board.
(3) The Board considers each retiring Director recommended by the
Nomination Committee, having due regard to the board diversity

policy and the nomination policy of the Company.

(4) The Board recommends the retiring Directors to stand for re-election
at the annual general meeting in accordance with the Articles.

(5) The shareholders approve the re-election of Directors at the annual
general meeting.
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The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” in relation to the nomination
and appointment of new Directors, which provides that the selection of Board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference
to the Company’s business model and specific needs, including but not limited
to gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience. The above measurements
were also reviewed and adopted when the Nomination Committee reviewed
the composition of the Board. After assessing the suitability of the Directors’
skills and experience to the Company’s business, the Nomination Committee
confirmed that the existing Board was appropriately structured and no change
was required.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by the Board
pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by the Board, which
include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

During the financial year, the Board reviewed the current changes to corporate
government requirements of the Stock Exchange and current were practices.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.
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(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control

The relevant executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategy
and policy and contractual commitments.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and
timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews and
audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial statements
is carried out in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable laws and
regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of risk upon
directors and senior management.

During the year 31 March 2020, the Group has complied with Principle C.2
of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of
the risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk associated
with its business and operations. The system comprises the following phases:

(i) Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that
could affect the achievement of objectives;

(i) Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly; and

(iii) Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective communication
to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in for the year ended 31 March 2020,
no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group to achieve
objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
components of the framework are shown as follows:

i Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that
p
provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the Group;

(i) Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed;

(iii) Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to help
ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of
objectives are carried out;

(iv) Information and Communication: Internal and external communication to
provide the Group with the information needed to carry out day-to-day
controls; and

(v)  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each
components of internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and
to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy
and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to
time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

(i)  the access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve
confidentiality;

(i) confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations; and

(iii) the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of the

Company when communicating with external parties such as the media,
analysts or investors.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group has engaged an external professional to carry out the internal audit
functions of the Group. The internal audit function is independent of the Group's
daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal
control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating
effectiveness.

An internal audit plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems
is conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via Audit
Committee afterwards.

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these systems has been
conducted annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board’s
review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment; and (ii) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by internal audit function
and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications
and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and
budget provided were sufficient.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) is currently appointed as the
external auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit services
to the Company. In order to maintain HLB’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds meetings
with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related fees, and to
approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by the Company

and related fees.
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The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out
below:

Auditors’ remuneration B EBEnE &
— Audit services — BB
— Tax services — B3 B 7%
— Other services — H b PR 7%

BERUE BB RILBBRE 2HERIASTEE (B
FHESMEBMZHAREY  EARNEE 2EMH
B RABFEEBEN CREABE =AU SEE
ERZETMERA2BEARERD B2 ETHEE) 2
BERNT -

HK$'000
FTiExT

700

700

The Board has accepted the recommendation from the Audit Committee on
appointment HLB as the external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective
communication with shareholders of the Company and potential investors.
Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency
to ensure the potential investors and the shareholders of the Company receive
accurate, clear and comprehensive and timely information of the Group
by the regulatory publications such as publish financial statements, results
announcements and circulars, press release and news articles, general meetings
and other investment market communications such as roadshows and media

interviews.

The primary platform for publication of all announcements and circulars made
by the Company in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements
is through a financial printer who maintains a site for the Company at
http://www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp2co=223 (English Version) and
www.capitalfp.com.hk/chi/index.jsp2co=223 (Chinese Version). In addition,
the Company also publishes all corporate correspondence on its website
http://www.elife.com.hk as an additional communication channel to the
shareholders.

The Board maintains regular dialogues with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and
plans. The Directors and the members of various committees would attend
and answer questions raised at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Separate resolutions would be proposed at the general meeting on each
substantially separate issue.

The Chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting a poll before putting a resolution to vote. The results
of the voting by poll would be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company respectively.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ rights to requisite for and convene an

Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

According to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders holding
not less than 10 per cent of the paid-up capital of the Company may by written
requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company. The Board or the Company Secretary must proceed
to convene an EGM as soon as possible, within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition. The meeting shall be held not later than 2 months
after the date of deposit of the requisition. If the Board fails to convene the EGM
as requisitioned by the shareholders within 21 days after the date of requisition
was received, all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

Shareholders’ rights of procedures for sending
enquiries to the Board and making proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders have the right to send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
or make proposals at the shareholders’ meeting by addressing them to the
Company Secretary of the Company by mail at the Company’s correspondence
address in Hong Kong or by email to the Company’s official email address. The
Company Secretary forwards all enquiries and proposals relating to ordinary
business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and consumer complaints to the
Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Chow Chi Fai. Details of the
biography of the Company Secretary is set out in the section headed “Directors
& Senior Management Profiles” of this annual report.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chow has undertaken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
March 2020.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There had been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, subject to the approval of
the shareholders and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay
annual dividends to the shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations
environment is stable and there is no significant investment or commitment
made by the Group. The target annual dividend pay-out shall not exceed 30%
of the consolidated annual net profits (excluding extraordinary items, if any)
attributable to the shareholders

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account,
among other things, the Group’s financial results, financial position, cash flow
situation, business conditions and strategies, expected future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of shareholders,
any restrictions on payment of dividends and any other factors the Board may
consider relevant. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Articles

and all applicable laws and regulations.
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Report of the Directors
ESERE

The Board submits herewith its report and the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group is engaged in trading businesses
across Asia as well as the provision of esmart digital services. It has also been
expanding its businesses into the consumer products market conforming to
the Group’s business principle of “making life easier and benefiting people’s

livehood” (H4)E - BRA).

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 53 to 171.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2019: Nil) in
respect of the year to shareholders of the Company.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the
assefs and liabilities of the Group:

EEEEURERECRERLTEABE_Z-2F
ZRAET-RLEFEZEERYBRE -
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RESULTS E |
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_Z-_TF=A=1+—HItFE
2020 2019
k- Jomi- 32 —E-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
My & TET FER
Turnover EEX 6 54,789 89,373
Cost of sales HERAK (56,514) (83,585)
Gross (loss)/profit (£18) /E7 (1,725) 5,788
Other income Hglg A 7 4,132 2,480
Other losses — net HihEE - 35 7 (10,376) (1,065)
Selling expenses HEMX (7,056) (14,381)
Other operating expenses Hit g EMX (52,417) (67,130)
Equity-settled share-based payment UEREEW R A 2RE 38 (763) -
Impairment loss on goodwill BMEZRERFE 20 (18,320) (4,807)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment WE BERIBZREBE 16 - (7,918)
Net allowance for expected credit losses on trade and B ZRHEMEWREZRBHEE
other receivables BERBETE (8,846) (73,687)
Loss from operating activities REXKEE 8 (95,371) (160,720)
Finance costs BE R A 9 (570) (457)
Loss before tax BB A5 18 (95,941) (161,177)
Taxation g 12 (4) -
Loss for the year FEEER (95,945) (161,177)
Other comprehensive loss Hth2mEER
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEEHM/ EERRZER
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair BAFEFARMEERSEZ
value through other comprehensive income B EEAFEZ (1,113) —
Items that may be reclassified HETREHSE
subsequently to profit or loss: ERmE2EE:
Exchange differences on translating BEBIMNSEEKZ
foreign operations EXREZ (7,327) (10,193)
Other comprehensive loss FEERAMEZEER
for the year (8,440) (10,193)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEEREGRETE (104,385) (171,370)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) REFTHEE @)
2020 2019
k. et 2 —E-hEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ot = TER FTER
Loss for the year attributable to: BERTIALTZ
REERE
Owners of the Company AATHEBA (76,932) (138,609)
Non-controlling interests FEIEPRRES (19,013) (22,568
(95,945) (161,177)
Total comprehensive loss for the year BERTHALZ
attributable to: AEEZHEHBBERE:
Owners of the Company AATRHEEBA (85,713) (147,206)
Non-controlling interests IR ER (18,672) (24,164)
(104,385) (171,370)
Loss per share BRER
- Basic —-HER 15 (2.6) centsi&fl (6.5) centsi& Al
- Diluted -5 15 (2.6) centsiEfl (6.5) centsi& Al

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

BER 2 M E B AN AR A BT S SRR BB 2 — 701D o
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) HESHEE ®)
As at 31 March
®=A=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZBIBFE —T-hF T N\F ZB-tHFE ZB-XRF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET FAET FHBT FHET
Assets and liabilities BEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 17,746 47,641 66,285 35,817 106,936
Current assets REEE 117,044 179,838 238,923 314,844 172,619
Current liabilities RE R (71,870)  (70,410)  (21,970)  (13,189) (38,039
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,291) (25,320) (25,433) - -
61,629 131,749 257,805 337,472 241,516
Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 Bt AEBBE-ZE-NFZA=Z+-HRZZZZEF

March 2020 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 31
March 2020 are those set out on pages 53 to 171 of the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share-based payment are set out in Notes 36 and 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share-based payment as disclosed below and Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company during the year or subsisted as at the end of the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 4 3% # it /i iR 4+ vl - Annual Report 2020 £ %

ZAEtTt-HLRMAEAFEZEERANR=-Z-H
F=ZA=+—HR=-ZE-ZEF=ZA=+—-HZE
EHABBEHNGREMERRESIZEEIZIE

MR - BB R
FEBFAZYE BERRBEZDEFRNEEY
BIRMFE6 ©

B B LB 7 2 i IR
ARAFDFRAZBRAZBFBERADTURS XM 2K
BHERARS P BERM TIOR8 -

B 3R 4t 84 1 6%
BRTXRGEVBRMRMAISAMENARO T2
PN ARARFALER] LEMREHBIHZ
TENF RS FENRZEBIHE -

BrmRE

AMAREEHS (ARAREMH LR A EER) &
PIMERBARNELBERZGI  MEAQARR
AR RERRBEHRRND -

ME MOKHBEX2FZLTES

ARARAEAARBARNEFNBEEBE - MER S
EEAXRRZ LHRE -




Report of the Directors
EEEHRSE

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company did not have reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands to members. No final
dividend has been proposed out of such reserves for the year (2019: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's largest and three largest
customers’ (2019: four) aggregate amount represented approximately 62.2%
(2019: approximately 38.6%) and approximately 90.5% (2019: approximately
77.4%) of the Group's total revenue, respectively. The Group's largest and two
largest suppliers’ (2019: two) aggregate amount represented approximately
68.6% (2019: approximately: 58.3%) and approximately 83.7% (2019:

approximately 69.1%) of the Group's cost of sales, respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) (Resigned on 29 February 2020)
Ms. Xu Ying (Resigned on 1 March 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Dr. Lam Lee G.

In accordance with Articles 87(1) and (2) of the Articles, Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen,
Mr. Williamson Lam and Mr. Sun Qiang will be eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider each

of them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 12 to 15 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of 3 years commencing from the date of the
employment and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party by giving
not less than three months’ or one months’ notice in writing to the other.

All INEDs entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three years on 1 May 2018.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, Directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Group, is as follow:

EERGREIBZME

EERAEESREEECHERNAFREI2ESE
158 °

EFCREBESH
ERTESCEARRNTIBRBELN - AAREHE
HOSREEF UARHABEN EEHF-FHE
B-AREFIREZBAR—EAZEEBEM T UL
IERIE -

FREBILKYTESYR -_"ZT-NFAA-HEELD
AFYERE NS HRHB=F -

BREdEN  BREERRBEFASLEEEEZE
EREERAQFTTLALARER-—FRKILEMBA
EH B CERRBHEBRMN 2RBEKH -

EFEMe
Fr ESHE (BEREEAKEEBEMIATFAR
AREMBEARESESZRE)WT ¢

Basic
Name of Director Fees salaries
131 e EXFe
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn Ti#gn
2020: - et 5
Executive Directors BiTER
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWLE (£F) - 6,600
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman| BERE (BIXRE) - 2,860
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer] s 554 (1THEH) - 1,480
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer) Bett (BERINE) - 1,354
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) F—ELE (BIER)
[Resigned on 29 February 2020) (R-F-FF
ZAZTAAEE) - -
Ms. Xu Ying (Resigned on 1 March 2020) RERL (R-F_FF
ZH—HEHE) - 800
Independent non-executive Directors BUEMTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond 158t 220 -
Mr. Lam Williamson MEBEE 220 -
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BBERE 220 =
Dr. Lam Lee G. HRSEL 220 =
880 13,094

Equity-settled
Other share-based MPF
allowances payment contributions Total
LEREHE
bidbLdo)
Htt2Rs XfZRR BREUR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn TR TiEn
63 104 - 6,767
50 104 18 3,032
- 104 18 1,602
- 10 - 1,364
- - - 800
- 10 - 230
- 10 - 230
- 10 - 230
- 10 - 230
113 362 36 14,485
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) EEMe @
Basic Other MPF
Name of Director Fees salaries  allowances contributions Total
BEgE ko HEAX%& Hit)2 8 BEESHR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TEr TER TEr
2019: —E-NE:
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REBWEE (EF) - 7,200 499 - 7,699
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BELE (BIERE) - 3,120 50 18 3,188
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) ~ B¥si&%4%E ({TBAER) - 1,536 - 18 1,554
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer) BRRLE (HREREWE) - 2,069 - 4 2,073
Non-executive Directors FHiTES
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) R—BFxE (BEE) - - - - -
Ms. Xu Ying F3: % - 960 - - 960
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BxREE 230 - - - 230
Mr. Lam Williamson WEEEE 235 - - - 235
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERLE 230 - - - 230
Dr. Lam Lee G. MREHEL 240 - - - 240
935 14,885 549 40 16,409
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS EEZEHER
No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, RAB -HEZRATDREFARB AT R ERNLEE
in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the VEEEES NS EAS S ERAME RERER
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during FEBAZAMEN BRARSHEEN  FRATE

the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors has had any EHMEBEEESNNEREAERTMARELTEA - B
direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed EREEFHBA LHESHEZEMNEE 2 FME

of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or % o

leased to, any member of the Group during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

&
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Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors had BT X EE N —E-ZFE=-A=+—0  H#E
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the shares, EENAQNTREFABE AT (EEBERBPEIEM
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated (TBAEBEEIEM]) BEXVIFBR T2 EE) 2BH
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures HERORELETEEREZER S IEMBEXVIH
Ordinance (”SFO"B]) which would be required to be notified to the Compan /RSB BENERNPNTRER (BERIEEAER
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SF HEKM BN EEREEEEE RS R
(including the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed E)RIBIEH 5 B B &5 160 5535218 8 20 8 A & | B
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required, Mo BT MREREEESAMERNTRER2
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to FASEERE (BEESH%KAE) -
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Long positions in the shares of the Company RELFIRIGZHE
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company RARABDRGREERD ZHE
Interest in shares/ Number of shares/
Name of Directors Underlying shares Ca{guciry Underlying shares held
EEER R HRERZER 5 PSRk RkAzBE
Zhang Xiaobin Shares Beneficial owner 95,651,489
REH g BEREBA
Share options Beneficial owner 26,125,000
BRE BREBA
Gao Feng (Note 1) Shares Beneficial owner 32,082,000
BU& (far1) R4 BREBA
Shares Inferest of a controlled corporation 89,000,000
R4 BESESNQRZER
Shares options Beneficial owner 34,125,000
BRE EREBA
Chiu Sui Keung Shares Beneficial owner 28,271,000
bk igr) EREBA
Share options BeneFLcial owner 34,125,000
BRE ERERA
Sun Qiang Share options BeneFi_ciaI owner 24,822,500
B BRE BREEA
Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Shares Beneficial owner 2,041,000
#Ks i) BREBA
Share options Beneficial owner 1,362,500
BRE EREBA
Lam Williamson Shares Beneficial owner 2,181,000
g R4 EREBA
Shoreﬁoptions Beneficial owner 3,900,000
B E EREBA
Wong Hoi Kuen Shares Beneficial owner 2,181,000
R g BEREBA
Share options Beneficial owner 1,362,500
BRE BEREBA
Lam Lee G. Shares Beneficial owner 1,000,000
e i) BREBA
Share options Beneficial owner 2,543,500
BRE EREBA
Note: Hiet -
1. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of ACE 1. BEEEBEZEBACE Channel LimitedZ2 23R8 2
Channel Limited. TRA -
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRSE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share options scheme are set out in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 29,550,000 share options were
granted to directors, employees and other parties while 41,300,000 share
options lapsed respectively. As at 31 March 2020, 261,667,000 share options
remained outstanding.

The Group recognise equity-settled share-based payment of approximately
HK$763,000 during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$Nil) in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has approved the adoption of the Share Award Scheme (the “Old
Share Award Scheme”) on 11 February 2011, pursuant to which existing
shares will be purchased by the Bank of East Asia (Trustees) Limited (the “BEA
Trustee”) from the market at the cost of the Company and be held in trust. On
9 March 2011, the Board approved and transferred HK$5,000,000 to the
BEA Trustee. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company transferred
shares from the share award scheme from the BEA Trustee to Xin Yongan
International Securities Company Limited (the “Trustee”). As at 31 March 2020,
5,050,000 shares were purchased and held by the Trustee, representing
approximately 0.17% (2019: approximately 0.18%) of the issued share capital
of the Company. No award shares have been granted to any persons since the
commencement of the Old Share Award Scheme.

On 27 June 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board resolved to terminate the
Old Share Award Scheme with immediate effect. Such termination shall not
affect the shares awarded by the Board under the Old Share Award Scheme.
On the same day, the Board has conditionally resolved to adopt the new share
award scheme (the “New Share Award Scheme”).

The purposes and objectives of the New Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees and persons to the Group
and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to aftract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group. Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board in accordance with the scheme rules, the New Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10 years from the Adoption
Date.

The Board may select any individual or corporate entity being a Director
(including executive and non-executive Director), employee, officer, agent,
advisor, consultant or business partner of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and other persons who/which in the opinion of the Board has contributed
or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group (the “Eligible
Participant(s)”) for participation in the New Share Award Scheme and
determine the number of the awarded shares to be awarded to the selected
participants (the “Selected Participants”).
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

If the Board selects a director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to a Director may constitute a connected transaction of the
Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to Director forms part
of the remuneration of the relevant Director under his/her service contract, such
grant of awarded shares is exempted from all the reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholder’s approval requirement under Rules 14A.31(6) of the
Listing Rules.

For the award shares granted to the Selected Participants who are connected
persons (excluding Directors), the Company will comply with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements. However, any grant to any
Director or senior management of the Company must first be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

There was no purchase of shares by the Trustee under the New Share Award
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2020.

For further details, please refer to Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS
DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 March 2020, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERFEREBEEESRUVEEAATHS
ZHER

MRZBEZFF=A=+—H AR ASBTRAES%H
DEZTHERDEARARRBEESRBEGRGIE
O EBEFEZERZTMA :

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share

Number of capital of the Company
Name of shareholders Note shares interested Nature of interests Capacity (Note 2)
EEXTRFCRT
RERRFZzBHESL
ﬂ!ﬂﬁ/%ﬁ Wi #HRERZKROHBE HIHE g% (PHEE2)
Ms. Liv Qivhua 358,817,000 Long positions Beneficial owner 12.10%
nELL Br EREAA
ACE Channel Limited 1 89,000,000  Long positions Inferest of a controlled corporation 3.0%
("ACE Channel”) %E BEZERADA2ESE
Mr. Gao Feng 1 180,582,000  Long positions Beneficial owner 6.09%
BELE "R EREAA
Notes: Bt
1. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of = 4 E Ch ES:
ACE Channel. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the ;E?‘i o E;%iggﬂiﬁ?ﬁ ﬁﬁtﬂ%& fg;g_,%g
89,000,000 shares beneficially owned by ACE Channel. 89,000,00088 FIACE Channel G ~ 19 2 1
H o
2. The shareholding percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital of 2. BOARECESLIREAAIR-E-_EFE=5
the Company as at 31 March 2020. =+ —BERTRAE
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS Aty
During the year, save for the service contracts of the Directors, the Company REEER BEBESYREAYN  AAFMER
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to FAAL EEREABET TEME Y URAAT

manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the

Company.
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EEEHRSE

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No other contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiary companies and a controlling shareholder of the Company or may
compete with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transaction(s) as set out in Note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements also constituted connected transaction(s) under the Listing
Rules. Details of such connected transaction(s) of the Group during the year is/
are set out below.

On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into a loan agreement
(the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful Ocean International Group Holding
Limited (“Graceful Ocean”) as borrower and Mr. Ma Haike as first guarantor
whereby Sino Talent agreed to advance to Graceful Ocean a term loan in the
principal amount of HK$18 million (the “Loan”) with interest accrued at the rate
of 13% per annum. The parties entered into five supplemental agreements to the
Loan Agreement between April 2015 and June 2018 to, among other things,
postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2019. On 24 June 2019,
the parties and Mr. Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”) entered into the sixth supplemental
agreement to the Loan Agreement with the interest rate of 10% per annum, to
further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2020. Meanwhile,
as an additional security of the repayment obligations of the Borrower under
the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six supplemental agreements), Mr.
Gao, an executive Director and the vice-chairman of the Board, entered into a
second guarantee contract (“Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee”) with Sino Talent
and Graceful Ocean whereby Mr. Gao agreed to act as the second guarantor
and in the event and only when Mr. Ma failed to or refused to fulfill its guarantee
obligations as the first guarantor, guarantee the due performance of Graceful
Ocean in respect of its repayment obligations under the Loan Agreement (as
supplemented by the six supplemental agreements). On 12 June 2020, the
parties and Mr. Gao entered into the seventh supplemental agreement to further
postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2021. As at 31 March
2020, the total outstanding amount of the Loan and the interest accrued thereon
was approximately HK$25,598,000.
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EEEHG

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

As at the date of Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee, Mr. Gao is an executive
Director and the vice-chairman of the Board and is therefore a connected
person of the Company. Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee therefore constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter T4A of the Listing Rules.
However, Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee is conducted on normal commercial
terms or better terms and is not secured by the assets of the Group. In this
regard, it is exempt from all requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

So far as the Directors were aware, none of the Directors or their associates
had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the business
of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CG CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
through the establishment and adoption of good practices and procedures
which are in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
Company has applied the principles and complied with all code provisions of
the CG Code throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

Details of compliance with the Model Code by directors of the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 33 of this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the composition of the Audit Committee and the major work
performed by the Audit Committee during the year is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 16 to 33 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited be nominated for appointment as the auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Zhang Xiaobin
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 June 2020
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

B #F &<t E5% /A RN 3
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Elife Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 53 to 171, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountant (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

MRFEHER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB Z B EF

Refer to Notes 4(iii), 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

F2REE W BHRM () - 20%21 ©

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the management performed
impairment assessment of goodwill and concluded that an impairment loss
on goodwill of approximately HK$18,320,000 was recognised in relation to
the esmart digital services. This conclusion was based on value-in-use model
that required significant management judgement with respect to the discount
rate and the underlying cashflows, in particular future revenue growth and
capital expenditure. Independent external valuation were obtained in order
to support management’s estimates.

BE-Z-ZEFZA=+-HLFE EBEECHBOBETRENGE  LH®
BREHBEREEIAFE ZREEEL18,320,0008 T  IEHmIERNEHE
ERXGH HEZEEEUMREXREABRRESRE  BRIRERRE AL
RREARIFEHERAE -EBEFRF2EATERBLIMBEESTF -

BT =R (|)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B EstmMMEERRETER

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
HHEEEENEEMET 2RMENE  RAETZREFE
&

J Evaluating of the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

AEBEMZER  EORFEMN

J Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using
our valuation experts;
EEEMBERATE2ABREEERZER 7
EAERA 2 ERBERBR2IVEY

J Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and
REBEEMBEBRTE 2O FEEMRAZER
BRzZEEM &

J Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and

relevance of the input data used.

HEREMRACBABBE 2 ERERBEM -

We found the key assumptions made by management for
impairment assessment of goodwill were supported by
available evidence.
EMASEERHNAE ZREN MR EZBRBRREER
BREXE-

Annual Report 2020 §% - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 A 3% ¥ Jit i B A



Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
AREER

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables

B ZRAMEBUNIEZ BIEEERRE

Refer to Notes 4(v), 5, 24 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
E2HREMBHRRWE4(V) - 5 24R25°

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$14,855,000 and HK$57,977,000 respectively.
The provision of allowance for expected credit losses of approximately
HK$2,904,000 and HK$83,374,000 respectively.
RZZBZZEF=ZA=+—-H X EEEFEFESIRHGCERTEIRNNS
14,855,000 Tk 57,977,0008 T - FHEEEBERBE D N H2,904,000
BTk 83,374,000/ T °

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of the
trade and other receivables and the sufficiency of provision for allowance
for expected credit losses based on information including credit profile of
different customers or debtors, ageing of the trade and other receivables to
historical seftlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing
and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers or debtors. Management also
considered forward-looking information that may impact the customers’
or debtors ability to repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the expected credit losses for the allowance for expected credit losses
assessment.

EEECRBEERENBES REMERREZTREHREREEEEEE
ZROMETERTME  FREHNSREIRAEFREBAZEELE BEK
HtEWRE 2R - BELEELE  HEAEWRR - FHSRAKEELSHRZ
KEREHE  UREERATFIEBACENFEEZERER - EEESTE
BAHEFREBAGBEREEER CENBRATE ZAEMEER » LUEETTE
HEEBEBETET2HBEEHE -

We focused on this area due to the allowance for expected credit losses
assessment of trade and other receivables under expected credit losses
model involved the use of significant management judgements and estimates.
EMETE-—FTEHRHREEHNCESERATHE S REMERRIEET
ZHEHEEFEBRTIMIREEBHFHERME RIhE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEfEMMEERRTENER

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on trade and other receivables included:
SHEEEERE S R EMERGRIETET 2 RE - HM
ETZRRERE

J Understanding and evaluating the key controls
that the Group has implemented to manage and
monitor its credit risk, and validating the control
effectiveness on a sample basis;

TR BEEMREBERERHEERRITR
Bz EREEER - WMRRBERGIER 2R

J Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing
profile of the trade and other receivables to the
underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;
MEBESHBVBLCEMAZE S R EMEKRKIE
ZEREURRITHRBFMBFEEUNBZEE

J Inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material trade and other receivables past due
as at year end and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence, such
as performing public search of credit profile of
selected customers or debtors, understanding on-
going business relationship with the customers
based on trade records, checking historical
and subsequent seftlement records of and other
correspondence with the customers or debtors;
and
NEEESHSESRAMERFERNFER ZBH
MR URFBEEEHR EBAHAREES
BERBEEFREBAZEERR - RIBEH L8
TRERF ZENSEEBIRER BREEFN
EBACELEMEREELCHERAMETFRER
AZBRXHERE R

. Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining
the key data inputs on a sample basis to assess
their accuracy and completeness, and challenging
the assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine
the expected credit losses.
FEFEMEEERCBBLEZREN - HEER
TEZBEBAEUTGEEBRER TEMYE  URE
EREEHEMEEBERTAZERR  BEELRK
ATEMER -

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables and determine the allowance for expected
credit losses on trade and other receivables were to be
supportable by available evidence.

BMRBBAHEZ RAMERIEZ AREHREEE S
N H b FE U SR IE 2 FEH S B R 1R B A P 1E 2 B2 8 1 2 fh
AEERAEREXRE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the
“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other

Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not defecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYRZRENRES

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’
report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

mReEaRHEMEZERESR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZTF=ZA=+—AItFE

Turnover
Cost of sales

Other income

Selling expenses

—E L
$HE A
Gross (loss)/profit (£18) E7
Hib g A
Other losses — net HihE1E — FH
HEMRX
Other operating expenses Hith & ERX
Equity-settled share-based payment LR # A E I LR D AT 2 FRIE
Impairment loss on goodwill HMEZREBR

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

Net allowance for expected credit losses on
trade and other receivables

M BERREZHERSE

BSRAMERFEAREERE
BEFE

Loss from operating activities

Finance costs

BMEME

Loss before tax

Taxation

BRE AR

i

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss

ltems that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss:

Change in fair value of financial
asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income

ltems that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

FFEEEGIR

Htt2EEIR
TEENIEEEECEE

BATVESAHMEENREZ
B EEATEES

HETREH P BEZBH2ER ¢

MEBIMNEEXEB  ERLEH

Other comprehensive loss TEERUE2EEE
for the year
Total comprehensive loss for the year ZEE2HEREH

2020

—ETF

Notes HK$’000
R EE F#ExT
6 54,789
(56,514)

(1,725)

7 4,132
7 (10,376)
(7,056)

(52,417)

38 (763)
20 (18,320)
16 -
(8,846)

8 (95,371)
9 (570)
(95,941)

12 (4)
(95,945)

(1,113)

(7,327)

(8,440)

(104,385)

2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000

89,373

5,788
2,480
(1,065)
(14,381)
(67,130

(4,807)
(7,918)

(73,687)

(161,177)

(10,193

(171,370)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehenswe ncome

mReEaRRHEMEZEKESR

For the year ended 31 Mcrch 2020 BE-_Z_TF=A=1+—HILEE

2020 2019
—BZF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E TERT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: FERTIANLZAFEESE:
Owners of the Company KARERA (76,932) (138,609)
Non-controlling interests FERES (19,013) (22,568)
(95,945) (161,177)
Total comprehensive loss for the year BERTIALTZ
attributable to: REEREBERE
Owners of the Company RKATEB A (85,713) (147,206)
Non-controlling interests FERERE (18,672) (24,164)
(104,385) (171,370)
Loss per share BSREGR
- Basic —EK 15 (2.6) centsi&(ill (6.5) centsiEAl
— Diluted — 8 15 (2.6) centsi&fll (6.5) centsiBAl
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial M 2MEBAGRES M BEMRER 2 — 20D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR O &R

At 31 March 2020 ZZ=ZF=/F=+—H

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MIEE FE&T FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE BERRE 16 13,287 28,008
Right-of-use assets EREERE 17 4,345 -
Goodwill SRS 20 - 18,320
Financial asset at fair value through other BEAFEGFTAHEMEZEKE
comprehensive income ZHEEE 22 114 1,313
17,746 47,641
Current assets mENEE
Inventories =78 23 1,559 10,952
Trade and bill receivables BEENFEREREZE 24 14,855 30,601
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE FEARNRERAEMERKE 25 84,429 118,902
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBESEEER 26 16,201 19,383
Total current assets mEEEHEE 117,044 179,838
Less: Current liabilities W RBAR
Trade payables g5 BN RIE 27 1,050 7,558
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2FEEREMEMANFRE 28 26,901 32,743
Contract liabilities sHERE 29 1,186 1,374
Other borrowings HiE&E 30 - 23,353
Bank borrowings RITEE 31 - 329
Lease liabilities HEas 32 1,728 -
Obligations under finance leases R E T E R 33 - 950
Amounts due to shareholders FES IR R FE 34 31,960 4,103
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEst IR ERFE 35 9,045 -
Total current liabilities mEAEEE 71,870 70,410
Net current assets mBEERE 45,174 109,428
Total assets less current liabilities HERERTDHAR 62,920 157,069
Less: Non-current liabilities i ERBDAR
Lease liabilities HEAaE 32 1,291 -
Obligations under finance leases mEEERIE 33 - 2,280
Amounts due to shareholders FE A3 BR R FR 1B 34 - 14,555
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAS IR R AE R TR 35 - 8,485
1,291 25,320
Net assets HEBRE 61,629 131,749
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR O &R

At 31 March 2020 ZZ=ZF=/F=+—H

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
o £ FHET FHBT
Capital and reserves BER &R
Share capital i &N 36 59,319 55,755
Reserves e 64,261 129,071
Equity atftributable to owners of RATERAEILER
the Company 123,580 184,826
Non-controlling interests JFHERER (61,951) (53,077)
Total equity k=15 61,629 131,749
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2020 REZBZEFRASTNEARESSHER TR
and signed on its behalf by: YHTHATRRESE
Zhang Xiaobin Gao Feng
RBEH -1
Director Director
EF EF
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEM 2 EBARS MM RER 2 — 31D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LY TN
Financial assets Shares
ot fair value held
Share through other for share Share Non-
Share  premium  Exchange comprehensive  Accumulated award options Other controlling Total
capital account  reserves  income reserve losses scheme reserve reserve  Subtotal  interests equity
BATEHA L]
Eh2EkE mite FAR

Bt BRERE EREE CHARERR Rit6R ke RRAER L it f2 fiaea
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§000 HK§'000 HK$000
Tin Tin Tirn Tin Tirn Tin Tin Tirn Tin Tin Tin

e 37 e 37
(Hit37b)) (37))

A Apil 2018 HoE-NERE-F S WS S [ e (a7 mem oy 54080
Loss for the year KEEEE - - - - (138,609) - - - (138,609 (22568)  (161,177)
Other comprehensive loss REFRMEERE

for the yeor - - 8.597) - - - - - (8,597 [1,5%) 10,193
Totol comprehensive loss RERREEE

for e yer 45 - S B S %) - : SaNg pals) 7
Share opfions lapsed BREXN - - - - 7,63 - (7.83¢) - - - -
Subscription of shares (Note 36) TERA (M) 3833 45,239 - - - - - - 9072 - 2072
Share ssuing expenses BARARR - (13 - - - - - - (13 - (13
At 31 March 2019 ond W-Z-AEZB=1-AR

1 ol 2019 = WL $75 W14 795 SOOI W WE (28 Mg @ 13
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - (76,932 - - - 76,932 (19,013 [95,949)
Other comprehensive loss REEEH2EEE

for e oo - - e 0y - - - Yl W pu
Totol comprehensive loss REE2EEE

for e yer 45 - - I - : ST 8D (043
Change in noncontrollng inerest* R ER 28 - - - - [9.79) - - - [9.79) 9798 -
Equitysetled sharebosed poyment ~ HEREEXNR AN

by - - - - - - 763 - 763 - 763

Share options lapsed BRESH - - - - 9,008 - 9,008) - - - -
Subscrption of shares (Nofe 3¢] TERH (Hik0) 1,064 8,936 - - - - - - 10,000 10,000
Issuance of shares for loan HEFERLEARA

capifalsation (Notes 30 and 3¢] (H30836) 2,500 21,002 - - - - - - 23,502 - 23,502
At 31 March 2020 RZBZBEZAZ+-R 9,319 311,419 6,873) [1,113) (272,857) [4,986) 51,426 (12,755 123,580 (61,951) 61,629
*  Release of non-controlling interest due to de-recognition of a non-wholly owned * HECHBRFEZEMB AR MMAREZRES -

subsidiary.
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEMt 2 MiZE BAAR S B ISR EE 2 — 517 -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERNER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

2020 2019
—=_® —E-hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hit 5 FHET FExT
Cash flows from operating activities BREXBZRERE
Loss before tax BREAIEE (95,941) (161,177)
Adjustments for: T RE
Finance costs BE KA 9 570 457
Interest income FE WA 7 (3,588) (2,118)
Net exchange losses ENEEFE 7 39 71
Equity-settled share-based payment AR A B I LUR D AT 2 FRIE 763 -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERRBEZINE
equipment 16 6,506 7,058
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FRAREEZINE 17 3,174 -
Net allowance for expected credit losses on ESRHEMEVRZREZEREE
trade and other receivables BEEBREFHR 8 8,846 73,687
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZREESE 20 18,320 4,807
Impairment loss on property, M- BERRZEZHERBE
plant and equipment 16 - 7,918
Loss on written off of property, MEEME - BERREB2EE
plant and equipment 8 - 54
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BERREZEE
plant and equipment 7 2,393 -
Loss on disposal of financial asset at HEZQAFPEFAHEMEEKE 2
fair value through other MBEEZER
comprehensive income 7 - 1
Write-off of obsolete and slow-moving HSERERBRES
inventories 7 836 -
Write-down of inventories WoRZEE 7 7,108 -
Loss on lease termination KIEEP BB 8 210 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz & 7 - (32)
Operating loss before working REFHB RITEEELEH
capital changes (50,764) (69,27 4)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories wFERD (M) 885 (2,551)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bill ESRENREREREE
receivables D (E ) 12,979 (4,994)
Decrease in deposits, prepayments and other &€ - A RER HEU
receivables BB D 23,862 1,281
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables Z S REAFECED) Em (6,845) 7,555
(Decrease)/increase in accrued liabilities 2B EREMEMN A
and other payables CRLA) /&t (2,988) 12,794
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHEBORDY) /B (88) 1,374
Decrease in amounts due to shareholders FEAS IR SRR IE R 2 - (65¢)
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling FE A 3F 122 R #E 25 SR IE 3T AN
interests - 115
Cash used in operations REXBDAZRE (22,959) (54,356)
Income tax paid BN PREH (4) -
Net cash used in operating activities REXEDRAZRLBHA (22,963) (54,35¢)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERNER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

2020 2019
ot . —E-hEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hit 5 FHET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities BRAETHZRERE
Interest received 2WFIE 15 12
Net cash inflow from acquisition WEHRBARZRE R A S
of subsidiaries - 24
Net cash used in acquisition WEHEARBA RS FHE
of subsidiaries - (177)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE WMEREE (63) (885)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEVE BERREBZFEHRE
plant and equipment 953 4
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZTHEE (BB ZHLPHE
investing activities 905 (1,016)
Cash flows from financing activities METBCRA&RE
Repayment of obligation under finance leases {4 Rt & H E&IE - (964)
Proceeds from other borrowings HiEE 2558 - 23,353
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITEE ZTERIE - 8,103
Repayment of bank borrowings BITHREZER (316) (7,774)
Repayment of lease liabilities HEEBZER (3,786) -
Advances from shareholders BREREBFK 16,250 4,093
Repayments to shareholders @ R RE ™ (2,249) -
Proceeds from subscription of shares RER D 2 FTBHE 10,000 49,072
Share issuing expenses R EBEITHX - (13)
Interest paid 2 FE (112) (334)
Net cash generated from MEETHEEZRS
financing activities B8 19,787 75,536
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRBeSFEEA
cash equivalents (@Y) BmeH (2,271) 20,164
Cash and cash equivalents at FOZReRBE&SERH
beginning of the year 19,383 7,867
Effect of exchange rate changes BIMEERBCEXEFEHIRE
foreign operations (911) (8,648)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZEGRBESEERA
of the year 16,201 19,383
Analysis of balances of cash and HeéeRBEeFERERERSN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances HERIRITEE 16,201 19,383

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Elife Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at Unit 806, Level 8, Core D,
Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong.

The Directors consider that Ms. Liu Qiuvhua and Mr. Gao Feng are the
substantial shareholders of the Company which held approximately 12.1%
and 6.09% of existing issued ordinary share capital of the Company
respectively.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries include engaging trading businesses across
Asia as well as the provision of esmart digital services. It has also been
expanding its businesses into the consumer products market conforming
to the Group’s business principle of “making life easier and benefiting
people’s livehood” (B4JE » BR%). The principal activities, other
particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of the Company and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

Leases
Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

HKAS 19 (Amendments)

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

LFAEH
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FERAR (TBERFT]) £ o 2D 8 2 & M 3
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Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands e A QA B2 EBE XM BN EBHITE
E1005F 5 B3 EEDEBEBOGE °
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R BEIREFAEARARBORTEBREY
12.1%%6.09% °
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FEMBHRRUBLEY mEBLT (BT TR
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ERAHIEEMBEREEN((FRUH
BEEA D REETE

REFEERHNEUZHITETRMGERE
EAREETF
FEECRAFEERERUTHEBSFHMQ
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RS EREIN STEMELE - SEREE
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BB SR ERIE285 REELARARGED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current year.
HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Lleases ("HKAS 17”), and the related
interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and
not apply this standard to contracts that were not previously identified
as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts
which already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 April 2019, the Group
applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the requirements set
out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the related lease liabilities
by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the date of
initial application is recognised in the opening accumulated losses and
comparative information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS 16 at
transition, the Group applied the following practical expedients to leases
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on leaseby-lease
basis, to the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

(i) elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
leases with lease term ends within 12 months from the date of initial
application;

(ii)  excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use assets at
the date of initial application;

(iii) applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with a similar

remaining terms for similar class of underlying assets in similar
economic environment;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

2. ERHIERMEREEN((FRUE
BEEN) REETFE (])

FREMEBEHBEENBI16M AR I(E)

EREHN ()

(v) RERBEEAEAAMEERER =
BEEMAEEAEESEEARA LR
BEZAKZEN R

(iv) used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at the date
of initial application in determining the lease term for the Group’s
leases with extension and termination options; and

RERAE BT EREI7RNIBE IR
BERIREEIMELZERENREE
REBENZTE  ERHESH2ENRS
& o

(v) relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous by applying (v)
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as
an alternative of impairment review.

REASBARERN 2 HABRAENEEER
FEBCRANEEEERNERERBAHZE
BEEFNR - HREEERRAZMEFIIEE
BEFNENFI1.85%E12.47% °

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified as
operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing rates of
the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. The weighted
average incremental borrowings rates applied by the relevant group
entities range from 1.85% to 12.47%.

The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments as at 31 TREJIR=-Z-NF=ZA=+—HzLKEHSE
March 2019 to the opening balance for lease liabilities recognised as at AREER-_Z-NFHA-HABIZHEEED
1 April 2019: e IR -
HK$’000
FBT
Operating lease commitment as at 31 March 2019 RZZB-NWFZA=Z+-HB2EEHERRE 4,888
Less: total future interest expenses /ﬁ RRFEFZ4LEE (332)

Lease liabilities relating to operating lease
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16

HERAEBMBREENE 1SMBRA 2 LER
WEBEZHEAE 4,556

Less: Lease modification VA EFSRCTY (310)
Less: Shortterm leases recognition exemption W EBEAEIRRR (289)
Add: Obligations under finance leases recognised as m:M=B-NF=ZA=+—HER
at 31 March 2019 mERERIE 3,230
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019 RZZ-NEFOA-BEIZHEER 7,187
Analysis as: SRS :
— Non-current —3ERH 3,260
— Current —RE 3,927
7,187

Annual Report 2020 F% - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 2 i ¥ Jb 5 fit 23 7




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 A N
e MBS
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 April 2019 comprises

2. ERHIERMEREEN((FRUE

BEEN) REETFE (])

FEMERSEUNSI65EER (&)
ERAMA ()

EREEENR-ZE-NFNA-HZKREESRE

the following: LT &HE:
Notes HK$'000
Bt £ FHET
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases EHEERE B BERELRE 165 M (a)
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 BRREHNEBE2EREEE 3,957
Add: Amounts included in property, plant and equipment e ARBEEBEFEAFI7HETA (b)
under HKAS 17 — Assets previously under finance leases NE -BERERB2ZEH
—RAIRBMERNET2EE 4,203
8,160
By class: JA -
- leased offices -AREFE 3,957
— Motor vehicles - "B 4,203
8,160

Notes:

(a) The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously classified as
operating leases have been recognised at an amount equal to the amount
recognised for the remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April 2019.

(b) In relation to assets previously under finance leases, the Group
recategorised the carrying amounts of the relevant assets which were still
under lease as at 1 April 2019 amounting to HK$4,203,000 as right-
of-use assets. In addition, the Group reclassified the obligations under
finance leases of HK$950,000 and HK$2,280,000 to lease liabilities as
current and non-current liabilities respectively at 1 April 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2, ERHIIEEMBHREEN((EFEBME
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS HEEL ) REETE(E)
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) FRAMBBEEANE 16 HE | (H)
As a lessee (continued) ERAHEA ()
The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption of HKFRS 16 TREBIRATBHBEREENE16FHAEE
on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April REZEB-NFMA - BHHNARSH BN RERD
2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been HE AFFECH)RBAYECEER -
included.
Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts
reported at under
31 March Recognition HKFRS 16 at
2019  Reclassification of lease 1 April 2019
RZB-1E
ERR-S-1E mA—B#RE
=RA=+-H EERBEEER
ERZEEE ENOR i EAiE E16MIREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR Ti#n Ti#n
Non-current assets FnBEE
Property, plant and equipment N BERRE 28,008 (4,203) - 23,805
Right-of-use assets FHEEE - 4,203 3,957 8,160
Total non-current assets FnBEERE 47,641 - 3,957 51,598
Current liabilities RBAR
Lease liabilities HESE - 950 2,977 3,927
Obligations under finance leases (note) RERERE (&) 950 (950) - -
Total current liabilities RHARSHE 70,410 - 2,977 73,387
Non-current liabilities FnBARK
Lease liabilities HESE - 2,280 980 3,260
Obligations under finance leases (note) BERERE () 2,280 (2,280) - -
Total non-current liabilities FRDARES 25,320 - 980 26,300
Note: In relation to assets previously classified under finance leases, the MizE: MEMNDPERBRERNETZEEMS &

Group recategorised the carrying amounts of the relevant assets which

were still under lease as at 1 April 2019 amounting to approximately
HK$950,000 and HK$2,280,000 to lease liabilities as current and
non-current liabilities respectively at 1 April 2019. There has been no
change in the liability recognised.

Effect on cashflow

For the purpose of reporting cashflows from operating activities under

indirect method for the year ended 31 March 2020, movements in

working capital have been computed based on opening consolidated

statement of financial position as at 1 April 2019 as disclosed above.

EEEZER-ZT-NFHRA-RBNIRAE
# 18 T BRE B 2 950,0005% T K& 2,280,000
BLIzEBEEE EFOREHEEE H
REZZ-AFEA-B2RIARBRIER
BEE CRACEBYBEMLE -

HHEEREZZE
REBREBE-Z-_2HF=-A=+t—-RILFEU
BEIAZHR2ELEHFERERE  €EE
EZRYIRBELEXAEER-—Z-NFHA—
H2GRamBik R R AOERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material’

(Amendments)

HKFRS @, HKAS 39 and Interest Rate Benchmark Reform'’
HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business?

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
(Amendments) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) ~ COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the

new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHHREE

POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes
all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”), and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

(a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability of market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment

of Assets.
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FEEBREM-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHBEREE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) w8E 2 ()
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements o BB BmEmMS - A FEFTERED
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which FEFAEBEZBAEIVEREER A FEET
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the ENBABEHHEEENEZEM 2 ERE -
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, FEZRIE=ZR - FEAOT

which are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets o E-HAWMAEDNEBRNHEH TS
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the WEREEREBENERM S ZRE
measurement date; (REAE)

e Llevel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included e EZZWMAENHMEERAEGBEER
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, Bt AIBR W AEB (F—RANEE
either directly or indirectly; and ZHRERRN) R

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. o HEZHAWMAEDNEEIEBENTAH

EEAE -
The principal accounting policies are set out below. FESFTHERIMT o
(b) Basis of consolidation (b) FEKEZESE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial TREUBRREERALDTAREATARE

statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities) MEQAREFHNERNMBRE - HALQT

controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved BERFEUTEE - AIZRQ R EGEHIRE:

when the Company:

e has power over the investee; o HWRREFEEED .

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its e MHYGEEBHZHEBRRETEEZ
involvement with the investee; and A ER AR ER &

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. o HRENMTHEEENUZEHDMBRE -

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts HMEBERBERRALBESN Z=ZEAEEREN

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of H—HfZHEBREH 0 AAEEENRT

the three elements of control listed above. HHEREERRIRER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued) (b) FEEHEHZEZE ()
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an HMAARRBERES ZREERELKRS
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are g RERFRZUBTARARBREDT
EFEEERRER 2 HBERR  AQH
BB ERERED - EFEADTARE
REFZRERRBRUBMFHENE K
NAZEMBEEESERER 8%

3. EXEHFEME ()

sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e  the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative to the o AREHAEREEZHEE HRHAM

size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders; RERSEANMEREEZEERD
AR

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or o ANE - HMREBFTEARHEMA
other parties; TREZEERER

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and o HMEHNZHEEZEN R

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the o HRERFEFHRER A2AE
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the ARESEZEAEED 2ENEMEE
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, RER(BEABEIRKEEZL2RE
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings. FR) e

EANTREESHB QR ZERER - AR
HHGEAR MEXAQRRALEWBEQA
ZHEARE  BTBHAGRSAR - BEM
EAFERBRHENBAR ZWARR
X RAQXDESHBLREGEZAG
B HEEXAARTBHEENEQAREZEHEZ
Bib JAGEREREM2EBERRA

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

ENRBERAMEERSE 2E—1RE - 3
BERAARZERERFERES - BIE
MEBARZEWGAESRBNFERER
SELEEMGE  WELARZ2HWRSEREE
TDARABBRARNTEEARFZERES -

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

NEBE  AEESHNEATHBRE
R EHENRRRAEE S EHE

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets

of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

ERE-H-

FBESEREERAE  BRA - WE X
REBEEREZHARE 2REREBNER
EPNHEFS SEaf: K

RMBARZFERERZENZME QR
ZASKEREIHEY  FEREZERT
HEABAEFNREENE R RBEREZL
PEEZAREEFEZRKAAREER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHHREE (W)

POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

()

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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e IR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Business combinations (continued) (c) W& (#8)
o HWWBLZUROIZIMNZHZHR

3. EXERREME ()

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment

arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

e assefs (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at the
same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

&Y 3L LABUAC W B8 75 2 BARR 40 32
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BB EENE2R UK O Z N2
RugiE B2 (RUTSFEE)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHHREE (W)

POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company control another entity.

In the Company’s financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4: % #% % FR A % - Annual Report 2020 % #

(c)

(d)

REaH (|
TREFAFENERBLIRAREZR
FHSEH  HASHEBIARIARE
WA DM - W ERER 2 RARERER
BREBHTEENTE MEHBEERE
BAER - PBRR/-—HEER-—RABZH
AREREAREBHRIEFTESEL
IR ME RS EREI7RAE - AR
EERAAELEE (WBR)EHTE  MA
BRERBERBSEPER -

B ARG - BIAEELFRN
BRBELSEEZRAEZNWE BB (A
EERSEREAY) ENRATETE
Mt EE 2 RBRRER (WH) REEH
Hitp2mE W (WEA) pER - R
HARRWUBI cBEEELERAUESR
Hit2EWSEBALRETBYBREE
AR Bz RERRRAKECEE
HEZERAFEZREBEMBATA
ReEEAR-

HEBEHZNTEFEEREGHBEZ
BERRAATR - AAEERESHEE
REMZEBZEREHE R 2B (R
EX)RABEZEERHSE  IARIBENEE
FEE URRAESZABEREBREE
EEERBERZHEN (HEE - BIES
FENZAMBERZEH) -

B} I8 2 B
MEBARIAARDEEH 2R EARE
EENEEIHEREE -—BHLEZHBRE
SR EUBHEKESH G ATEER
FIE - EAEAEBMRDES S — DX
EEBBEAMATERTERNEERER
EEEEREFE -

RAERBDZBBREK - WHRIBFEHEZ
MEARRENBRASEREREBER
BHIRR - B AR 2 ¥ BEBAQARBESTI
REWREANER -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBEERE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(e) Revenue from contracts with customers (e) REEFREGHZWKA

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a RIEEBHBREZAE 1SS REER

performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods (HHEE) BRNEE TR FERWA - BB

or services underlying the particular performance obligation is ERNETHE2ERARE 2 [1ZH 5]

transferred to the customer. EBTEFPRERKA -

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle BHREXEAENERIRE (F—EHEM

of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or R HABMMRE 2 — R I BPEHE @K

services that are substantially the same. BR %

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time EREEREER  mEfS U TEMT—1E

by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the BE QIR AK2RE2BITHBARNER

relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is 2 3 T i s P A AR

met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits o MEAXREEELN FFEFISGILE
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs; AAEEBYFRRE R

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that o AEBEzENRIEIGBEL-EEE
the customer controls as the Group performs; or ZEEREAERBHNBETFES

E

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an o AEBEZEALRAIZHAEEEE
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable Hthfgz&EE  BXAEEHESE
right to payment for performance completed to date. TRBHNZREEBAREHIT 2E

A e

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the BE WAREFESHENERIRE 2

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service. ISR BT -

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in BRNEEEAEEROTFEEZE R

exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a 5 LU B AT U B AR (B (1B 1 R B A S AR 1)

customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment ZRER o HIRIES B B 15 R 5 2 A B O5R 7T

in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the ERE - Rz BRFEEAREBRERAE

Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of ZEGEER NEESREEBNRINX

time is required before payment of that consideration is due. TERNKE-

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer EHNEBEAEEREATFWBZRE

goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received (F—WoHBMENSKRE) MARBITZHE

consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the EERABRBETFEFZEE -

customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract B-—aXPzaNEERGHNEENIR

are accounted for and presented on a net basis. FHEEEARRZT] -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHHREE (W)

POLICIES (continued)
(e) Revenue from contracts with customers

(f)

(continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Revenue from the trading of commodities

Revenue from the trading of commodities directly to its customer.
For trading of commodities to the wholesale market, the Group
considers the revenue is recognised when the control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been delivered to the
customers and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. The customer has accepted
the products and the performance obligation is satisfied at a point
in time at which the products are delivered according to the term of
sales contract.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the
customer purchases the goods.

Esmart digital services income
Esmart digital service income is recognised in the accounting period
in which the services are based on the actual service provided.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not creditimpaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands is not depreciated and is measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBERE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued) (f) W% BERSE (&)
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected RERESEYEE Y SRR E AT
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there CREHIREESERE I B TIE o
is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end R EEEAEEERESSRATISES
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease FiEH  BISERENRES Y 0@ HE
term and their useful lives. WE BRI EE(TINE o
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon V¥ HMERSEEBERLESSESEES
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise A EEEE TS E T AH %SRS
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the BECEED c HERREYYE  BERSZE
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment BHEFRFELE 2EAWSSERRESEEY
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the EFEEHETEN Y SEEE IR
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated CAEEREMEEINGSE PRS-
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost B EE YR E AR A0
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the FREEZRA (B et iE) REstn
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any. EEE (0E) 58 o
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each REEANRETS SESHREEMEIER
of the Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) (or group of CGUs) AHBENE S AEEESELEN (B
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, ScE4AEN]) (KBEEESENAR) 5 B
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored AEIRNBETECENTEREER R X
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating R—ARE D> EIERE o
segment.
A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated EATEE Y ESELSN (RESELES
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is AR REE (RME S E RS AR
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an OB R » BIESE S i) /T RE B o
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to BNREHANEREFEE  EERS B
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before AR ESELESN (RESEESN
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less 4 BI) FAZIRE B E R > BT R E RIS o
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to WA ESELNEETE  HEsEE .
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other ATAEREEAEE ERE  EARIED
assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of BeELSEN (RESEESMAR) hE
each asset in the CGU (or group of CGUs). BEECEAERLAI BRI RENDH
fLEE -
On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group NEEEE S EE SNBSS EESNE
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the RINEAESELSNE SR ELSME
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the HAEBTHERER Y SE aAEE e
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within NESEASN N2 (RESEESH
a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured AR ESEESN) B EHEESR
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) HeEHUFEE ¥R (RELELES )
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) RFRE B SEESN (R SEEE
refained. AR 2 EES RS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Investment in associates

3. EXERREME ()

(h) RBIERRZERE

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associates other than profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless
such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBEERE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Investment in associates (continued) (h) REtEAT KRS (E)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an EAXAKETBREBRERRTHEEEARE
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in B WEARAEERRES 225 #m
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or MUELEZRERERER - EXAEERE
loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and RABERNRzERRZREEE A —HE
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS BEER  AEERZB2AFEFERE
9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date & MzAFERRAERANSERR 2
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. DNFE - REEHEZHEQNR Z2EBE
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate and the DEt AZBENR 2 REEEE MR ERE
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing aRkHEZBHENRHEER 2 E @RS
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the determination MEZNFEZENERE - W REFIR
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the BREMZBHENDNEELERNBEEERE
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other BEmMERRZEEREE  BERREMEE
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis WERERAMEZBERAEB AR
as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the BAR - Al MZEE QAR EANEMLS
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously HRBEABERZBBEARHERBEESR
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would BERENIBEZES  AXEEREE/
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets o HEHBBEE LIRS BRBRER
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to EFNSBEBRR GOHEENR S ERAE) -

profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment REERNRZRENANRECELEZRE
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an FREECECRENARBE AT 2R
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. B AEEEBEREAERE  NEAER
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in nEEE TS ENTEQAFEE-

ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate MAEEEHRERBENR 2 EAREER
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group MAKEEERERAER L EERAWRENE
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had BERLENBEEREBRENIEE
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating Bn AEESBEAEREMEEKSE
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be BREHREERESAFACWRREE
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or HoEHDEERS -

liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such MEBERELAEB CBERTETRS
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from (PIWEESETAEE)  EEBERARZ
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s EREAREBER BN - S NRET
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the REMEEZENRER  FERAEELKR

associate that are not related to the Group. EMBHRRPER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHHREE (W)

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the financial
assets and shareholders’ rights are presented as other revenue and
other income.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBEERE(E)

POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued) (i) MBIA(#E)
Financial assets (continued) MHEE &)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial HMEBEZHHRAENE (&)
assets (continued)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently BEUTHRGEZHBEERRRAFE
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income AHtm2EKE (RAFEFAEMEE
(“FVTOCI"): W) ErE
e the financial asset is held within a business model whose e ZUMBEERRULERKEENR

objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual EREAENZEBEXATEE K

cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash e REHNBKNSREIERPELEZRD
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the MEERAXNEFERRKEELRE ZF
principal amount outstanding. Bo

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except FEEMMBEERRRAFESAER

that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition IRETE EEBXREREBYBMELERE

of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present O ML HRUBEEZR » AEBA L

subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other TR HEEEEREMEZERE2IIRA

comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for RECAFEEZESH  AIREZRARE
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in WHFHEES » FFWBFETBHBERSE

a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations ERIEIREBEO I FTERZEHE O F

applies. R 2HARNRE -

Annual Report 2020 £ - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 2 % 8 47 it 4




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit- impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the creditimpaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to retained profits/will continue to be held in
the financial assets at FVTOCI reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income and other losses — net” line item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

3. EXERREME ()

(i) ¥BIAGE

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and bill
receivables, deposit and other receivables, and cash and cash
equivalents which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting period to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting period. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
period as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtor with
significant balances or collectively using a provision matrix with
debtors having similar credit ratings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting period with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHBEREE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments (continued) (i) MBIA(#E)
Financial assets (continued) MHEE &)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) HEZEZHHE (&)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued) EEERAEZN (&)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when BHR  ENAEERMRREEEEME
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly: SEZRUTER
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial o HMBTAZMNR(WAE)RABEERT
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating; RERNFERBEZEZ
e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit e NBMTESEERBESEZFEL W
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit FENMEREEN  BEHEAZEEE
default swap prices for the debtor; NI HERKRBEMNE |
e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or e B MEIKLERBEZREXER
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant 2R mMEBESLEFTSER
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; BERABTHEREEZEIKRET
B S
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating o EBERAREXBABRRFEHBEEFEL

results of the debtor;

® an actual or expected significant adverse change in the e BRAMEZEE KERRMRRE
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the ERSBEHHRZERTANETH W
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s FHLDEENEBABTHERES
ability to meet its debt obligations. E2BED KRIBTBE -

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group T LA AR EENAREHE

presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial BI0R  AKEKBREEFER BN SE

recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past RURCBEZIEN  BRIEREEESEAS

due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information BEXHF2ENTHAEEL ML -

that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used AEEEHEERBAEERBAELTEE
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit BMFAAZBREZNE  YRNBEEBRTE
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are AIERERE  DRRAZEEEETSHAHA
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the BEIEER ZBEEZM -

amount becomes past due.

Definition of default BHEE
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event RANEERBEENS  EERBERR
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained BOAMREREZ2ENBEREBATKT
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its REMEHEEA (BELAKE) 2HFE (5
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any ARASEREZEMERR) AEEK
collaterals held by the Group). BeRBEBNEMH-
Irrespective of above, the Group considers that default has occurred FRELMiERNF EEBETEAHNES
when the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the Group 90H ' RIFAKEESEAFEBIIFZ
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a EXNEREARERZENBRERRAE
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate. & BHAEEBRENCTERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

3. EXEHFEME ()

(i) ¥BIAGE

Financial assets (continued) MBEE (#|)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) HEZEZHE (&)
Creditimpaired financial assets EUHREEREZHEEE

A financial asset is creditimpaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) @ breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

3. EXERREME ()

(i) ¥BIAGE

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the

effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following

basis:

e Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and other

receivables are each assessed as a separate group);
° Past-due status;
e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of

the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade and bill receivables, deposits and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustments are recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

3. EXERREME ()

(i) MBI

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or

loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the financial
assets at FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is

transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contfractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability

and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Classification as debt or equity (continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accrued liabilities and
other payables, other borrowings, bank borrowings, lease liabilities,
obligations under finance lease, amounts due to shareholder and
amounts due to non-controlling interests are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discount)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition. Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Leases
Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contain, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed

modification date or

unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j) Leases (continued)

3. EXERREME ()

(i) H&E (|

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 2)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the

aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single

lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of office premises and equipment that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight- line

basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Except for short term leases, the Group recognises right-of-use assets
at the date of initial application of the lease. Right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,

less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition

required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j) Leases (continued)

3. EXERREME ()

(i) B8 (|

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in

accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the

lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.

lease liabilities

At the date of initial application of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the date of initial application if the interest rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBERE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(i) Leases (continued) (j) BE (&)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in FEEEBEBA (RIEME2Z 88 KE

accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued) XRERTEBYBEEERE165%) (#E)

Lease liabilities (continued) HEEE (&)

Lease payments included: HEANRERE

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), o [EEXHEFRR(BREEEMHZEEF
less any lease incentives receivable; ) BT A E R B E M E ;

e  variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, o TWHHEENZ HEAREHZRA
initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement Z S ERFRABBEH Y
date; %

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual o EBEAGEFGEEERETEIGES
value guarantees; e

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is o BEEBBRECITHEE (HABASERE
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and EAFTHEZIRERE) R

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term . BRIFAY B S =R (HFEH R 4K 1k
reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease. YT IRIBRERETE) o

After the date of initial application, lease liabilities are adjusted by REXERABHE HEEERATIER

interest accretion and lease payments. HENREHAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j) Leases (continued)

3. EXERREME ()
(i) B8 (\)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of

reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments

using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j) Leases (continued)

3. EXERREME ()

(i) HE&E(#E)

(k)

The Group as lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised

FREELSFREA (ZE—NAFHF—HZE)
RERERNFECEENSRESERA
HRBRBZLAFER (HER) REELF
REZRERIAREEH 2EE - HHAEA
ZHEEERFAREENEETAREY
BRI o

BANREDRAREEARBYETRHD
B DISEESRTEBRZITERR -
BMEBRANBMERTER  RERSEE
BEBREEREE  IBSEMNHR  RUEBR
T FERBAEEEBEERA 2 —RK

in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. RFUERE - RRHERELHERER
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in A% -

which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on REMONREDLUEREZEARREI A —

a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which

HAX MR - RREEFRRAKREES
EZRBNBEREEZRBER - BRI -

economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent REMHNEEZIABHERELHBAE
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense RE—HEMAX -

in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straightline basis, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to seftle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent liabilities are possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. These liabilities can also be present
obligation arising from past events that are not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When changes in the
probability of outflows occur so that outflows are probable, they will
then be recognised as a provision.

Contingent asset are possible assets that arise from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncerfain events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when the inflows of economic
benefits are probable. When inflows are virtually certain, assets are
recognised.

(m) Dividends distributions

(n)

Final dividend proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared,
they are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise except for:

e  exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating
to assets under construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency
borrowings;

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4: % #% % FR A % - Annual Report 2020 % #

3. EXEHFEME ()

(

RARRRUARE
SREBEERCBREZSHMAMSI L
B WEBAERE - RASREHES
B RERER > MAKEY THET 2EHIE
EEHEERE - REAABENTHEE
BRECEHIBREZER  BHRTHE
TEEUREHRER AEFLERETR
it BT RERR -

FREETEWRER - EEEFSUHERE
ZHERRE - BEHEER 2SR E
MEHHREREER  LEEEERER
BEHE -

FREEREACREZSEMMAEESE
ZEE BELEEARE -—RREZRAKSE
HERBESRER  MAKELFEERT
EHELERREHAEEHE -

FREETSWER - BRI RWEIRE
NEREFESPBRR ZMTRIRE %
TEEERERENS  FERILE -

(m) B B 5 &

(n)

HESERRN 2 RAHMREEEESEBRR
BHEETIMERBREN 2 -—BEBEYSE B
EREMBRRAS LEREH AL - FiIL
EREERRAEMEIRE @ ERANEB I
BHRRERH-—HEE -

5

RFERE B EEER 2 BRRE - U
BERDEESHUIINZER M) ETZR
SR AR ERAERER - REEH
K USMNEEEZERIBEGEZAZER
EREHMRE - BATVEUNMNEEEZFE
WEHEDERAFEEEERZERER
EHBRE c mIMEBERASFTEZFERIE
BEBREHBRE -

EMERCEREZEIRNEEELHER
RPN T FIEER

e HERRLEEABRZEREEREZ
IERECELEZR ZEELEZHR
RBERZEINEEERNERE 2
BETAZRZEEZRE




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n) Foreign currencies (continued)

3. EXERREME ()

(n)

e  exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to
hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

e  exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PN N

e MBS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBEERE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits (o) & BifE#)

i Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. No accrual is made at the end of the reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward as the
amount is immaterial.

ii.  Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment

transaction
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The fair value of share options and awarded shares granted to
employees in an equity-settled share based payment transaction is
recognised as an employment cost with a corresponding increase
in the employee share-based compensation reserve within equity.
In respect of share options, the fair value is measured at grant date
using the Binomial option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. In respect
of awarded shares, the fair value is based on the closing price at
the grant date. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options and
awarded shares, the total estimated fair value of the share options
and awarded shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the share options and awarded shares
will vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment

3. EXERREME ()

(p) LLiE & 4 56 LI B 17 & B RE Z £ 3K

transaction (continued)
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options and awarded
shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of comprehensive income for the year of the review,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options and
awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
employee share-based compensation reserve).

The equity amount for the share options is recognised in the
employee share-based compensation reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Shares held for Share Award Scheme

Where the shares of the Company are acquired under the Share
Award Scheme, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from total equity.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related weighted average cost of the awarded shares
vested are credited to “Shares held for Share Award Scheme”, and
the related employment costs of the awarded shares vested are
debited to the employee share-based compensation reserve. The
difference between the related weighted average cost and the related
employment costs of the awarded shares is transferred to retained
profits.

Where the Shares held for Share Award Scheme are revoked and
the revoked shares are disposed of, the related gain or loss is
transferred to retained profits, and no gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Where the cash or non-cash dividend distribution is declared in
respect of the shares held for Share Award Scheme, the cash or
fair value of the non-cash dividend is transferred to retained profits,
and no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PN N
e MBS
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Related party transactions
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(A)

(8)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to

the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

a person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

3. EX®

POLICIES (continued)
(q) Related party transactions (continued)

(r)

(s)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(iii) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related
parties.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits and shortterm, highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group's cash management.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit/loss before tax’ because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Taxation (continued)

3. EXERREME ()

(s) WA (#8)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBEERE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(t) Segment reporting (t) SHBE2H
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item REDPBRUBERTEHR 2B D MWER 2
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial S8 DRADTEEREERRENE
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive TRERRAGHEEMEHAAEERS
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and THRERERE 2 BEMRE P LREA -

assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for RUBRENS BT EHABIEELE
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar DE - BRFZOMNERRBBLE £E
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics IFME ZFEEYME sHEERTR
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the HEBFTEZREERENMESHTENE
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the BRHMEEL - HENTEENKEIBHTE
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and LRI R > IR —ERE D -

the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

(u) Inventories (v) &8
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. FEERARTERFEMEF ZREE
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first out method. Net AR BERKIZAASTHEEE - TER
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary FEATEAEERBERTAFZEE MK
course of business less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale. HEZFEMZ 2 —IEFHRA -

(v) Borrowing costs (v) EEEF
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction HiiE BRREEFERKBSHES A
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily REEARJFECCEREEMEREE
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use EZBERA Dt AREEEZHAS
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the EZZSEREEANLEHHEEERARST
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. HIEERL -
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the FEHEMEERAIREELHBEER
period in which they are incurred. PR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 4,

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, management is
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment
test.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

4. RREHIERAEHTITRERZERR

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY iR ()

(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies BEHEHBERISRZAEBHER (8)
(continued)

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (i) ¥ BMERREAREHELERE (&)

(iii)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are approximately
HK$13,287,000 and HK$4,345,000 respectively (2019:
approximately HK$28,008,000 and HK$Nil respectively). During
the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has not recognised
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (2019: impairment
loss of approximately HK$7,918,000) and right-of-use assets (2019:
HK$Nil). Details are disclosed in Notes 16 and 17.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has impairment
of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy are set out in
Notes 3, 20 and 21. The recoverable amounts of cash generating
units are determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions made by
management on the future operation of the business, pre-tax discount
rates, and other assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

The carrying amounts of goodwill at the end of the reporting period
were approximately HK$Nil (2019: approximately HK$18,320,000)
and impairment loss of approximately HK$18,320,000 (2019:
approximately HK$4,807,000) was recognised for the year. Details
of the impairment loss calculation is set out in Note 20 to the

consolidated financial statements.

(iii)

R-ZB-ZFTE=ZA=+—-8B YE KE
RRBUREAREECRAESI NS
13,287,0005% 7Tt }.4,345,0008 T (=&
—h&E 2 51428,008,0008 T kT8
) BE_E_ZEZF=ZA=+—-HILLE
E AEBLERYE BREERRE(CS
—h&E : FHERBELN7,918,000% T) &fE
FARREE (ZZ—NF BT BARE
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REED BIRBE M BIREMES - 202157
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)
(iv) Equity-settled share-based payment

The valuation of the fair value of share options granted requires
judgment in determining the expected volatility of the share price, the
dividends expected on the shares, the risk free interest rate during
the life of the options and the number of share options that are
expected to become exercisable, details of which are set in Note 38
to the consolidated financial statements. Where the actual outcome
of the number of exercisable options is different from the previously
estimated number of exercisable options, such difference will have
impact on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
subsequent remaining vesting period of the relevant share options.

(v]  Allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised
cost

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
past history, existing market conditions as well as forwardlooking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 5.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables
and other receivables are approximately HK$14,855,000 and
approximately HK$57,977,000 respectively (net of loss allowance of
approximately HK$2,904,000 and approximately HK$83,374,000
respectively).

The provision of expected credit losses is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the expected credit losses and the
Group's trade receivables and other receivables are set out in Notes

5, 24 and 25.
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

(vi)  Fair value of other financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments are determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgment to select an
appropriate valuation method and makes assumption that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the transaction date
and each reporting date with reference to the valuation performed
by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited, an independent
firm of professional valuers. The valuation model requires the input
of subjective assumptions, including the selection of relevant stock
price, expected volatility, expected dividend yield, risk free rate and
expected life. Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate.

(vii] Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income

The fair value of financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income that are not traded in active market is
determined by valuation techniques. Fair value of financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive income is determined by
independent valuers with reference to the adjusted profit-to-sales
ratio and marketability discount rate of the financial asset. Valuation
techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable
market data and make assumptions that are primarily based on
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Note
22 provide detailed information about key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value.

=

(viii) Incremental borrowing rate

In determination on incremental borrowing rate, the Group applies
judgement to determine the applicable rate to calculate the present
value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate of the

Group applied will significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities

and right-of-use assetfs recognised.
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. MBIR
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) BBITRA®EA

2020 2019
k. o —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT

Financial assets MERE
At amortised cost B 90,214 144,131

At fair valve BLFlE
Financial asset at fair value through BRAFEFAHMEEZENREGE 2

other comprehensive income BEERE 114 1,313
90,328 145,444

Financial liabilities MBAR
At amortised cost TE S K 71,926 94,301

(b) Financial risk management objectives

(b) MBERIERHR

103

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive income, trade and
bill receivables, deposit and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade payables, accrued liabilities and other payables,
other borrowings, bank borrowings, obligations under finance
leases, amounts due to shareholders, amounts due to non-controlling
interests and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

5. MBI ARGE)
(b) FA¥5EFREE B IR (48)

(continued)
Market risk

(i Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”). The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange risk
as most of the commercial transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency same as the functional currency of
each entity of the Group. Therefore the Group will only exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from the assets and liabilities
which are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the entity to which related. The conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise. The Group does not have significant
exposure to foreign currency risk.

(i) Interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have
any financial assets and liabilities which are at floating rate
of interests. The Group does not have significant exposure to
interest rate risk.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contfractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents. At
31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure fo credit
risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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FERBEXZHFIRTEGNERS
FEEFRUBHE AR FEEZEFE
REEREEREEZRRE HERAME
BREBUARRERAESEEHER - RZF=
ZERZZ-AF=ZA=+—H  XEEH
AXZHFRERBTEEMSERNBE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. MBI RGK)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MR EREH&K (W)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EERBRBESTG(E)
(continued)
Trade receivables and other receivables BEEWRER M ERSRE
Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit BN AE RN
terms. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of EEY o e MBS RS S % 4B B ZE
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take CBARYREE LN TEEES
into account information specific to the customer as well as to the BERIE LR EIBIE Y TEEE o

economic environment.

FEEAZ2EERRIEZTEEFZ

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the BERSHESE Bt HAEERERNES
individual characteristics of each customer and therefore significant AEZEAEAG HEAZESEEh s
concentrations of credit risk primarily arises when the Group has B o

significant exposure to individual customers.

In respect of trade receivables arising from provision of esmart SANEEEN T EESERERERR
digital services for retail stores in the PRC and trading businesses TR A EE S EREL G E
across Asia, the Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain SERS AEERETFENESSFASE
individual customers. At the end of each reporting period, the HESEK e NESRESK RARERE
five largest receivable balances accounted for approximately Uy R TE A B B PR SR TE K7 5.6% (==
75.6% (2019: approximately 99.7%) of the trade receivables and —REH99T%) TR ASE S EW R
the largest trade receivable was approximately 26.2% (2019: B ANEEE D EWSIBEEN26.2% (=
approximately 74.5%) of the Group's total trade receivables. The TN HTA5Y) c BEERYEREE
Directors closely monitor the risk exposure of the customers and RO BRI SR o 3 B EUE 2 4 i L
collateral and would take appropriate action to ensure the risk RERRBOSATRGE - 22258 5 R
exposure is acceptable. The Directors are of the view that the —E-—mE-A=+-—0 SSEKNEY
expected cash flow of trade receivables are sufficient to cover the FEHBEAAE R U A S ERNRE S E
carrying amount of trade receivables as at 31 March 2020. E{E °

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has delegated a BEEEAREERE  TEEBOER—%
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals EaSEEESNE  BHESRITH
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow up action is b BE B IR LU RE AR 0 U B 8 B (B S B B
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management reviews SEEITE) o M BEBREREBMABE
the recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each reporting EESERAREY - BT TREXR
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for EEE RN RERE - REBEHESE
irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified approach on WS BR AL LR E BB IR
trade receivables to provide for the ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9. B0 Fi I T A S SR R R -
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an AEERAZ N AN EN S E4 8
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision HEgEERRE SRR SESED
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not EAREEEE  c HREAEE B S
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer SEEERFEAR  FTAEESS Y EEE
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further EWWBERE > HER BB R AL
distinguished between the Group's different customer bases. CEERETEE—SRAEEREES

H@EES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. BBIAR(HE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBREEEHEK (&)
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 65 B B B iRk (B AT 45 (48)
(continued)
Trade receivables and other receivables (continued) BHEBRRER M ERRE (&)
The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure THREMEEAEENR -_S-BEER -
to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March 2020 —NE=ZA=1T—HHE S EWRFERX
and 2019: TrEERBREBHEESRE2ER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RBRE HRRmE E BiRE
At 31 March 2020 A _E_EF=A=+—H %o HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET
Current (not past due) BNER (GREH) 6.0 1,572 (130)
Less than 1 month past due BEAORN—EA 6.0 - -
Over 1 to 3 months past due BHEB—Z=MEA 6.0 - -
Over 3 months to 1 year past due BHBB=EAZE—F 7.5 7 (1)
More than 1 year BE—F 17.0 16,180 (2,773)
16.5 17,759 (2,904)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHEEE HBERMEE BiaRE
At 31 March 2019 R=ZZ-—NhE=A=+—H % HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Current (not past due) BNER (REH) 4.0 1 -
Less than 1 month past due BELR—EA 4.0 39 (2)
Over 1 to 3 months past due BEBEB—Z2=@A 4.0 2,526 (108)
Over 3 months to 1 year past due BPEB=ERE—F 5.5 8,100 (435)
More than 1 year HiB—F 8.0 10,178 (855)
7.0 20,844 (1,400)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#r e BF 7% 3R R B R
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

5. MBI ARGE)
(b) FA¥5EFREE B IR (48)

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 5 B B Al (B BT 4 (#8)
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables (continued) B 5 MR IR B 3 it B M Rk R (#8)

R-ZZBZZEF=ZA=Z+-AR=-Z2-IF
ZA=+t—-R HERESEUEREM

The closing loss allowances for including trade receivables and other

receivables as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 reconciled to

the opening loss allowances as follows: BRREFAR 2B REEREERIEE
BEHRWOT ¢
Trade Other
receivables receivables
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit impaired  credit impaired Total
EHREREE: CHRAGHEEZ
HABBRE BRI
RHFHEERR 2UANERER #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TR
At 1 April 2018 - HKFRS 9 R-E-N\EMA-A
- BB BRI EREI 669 3,076 3,745
Increase in loss allowance recognised FRARBERA ZEBRESEM
in profit or loss during the year 1,030 73,376 74,406
Reversal of loss allowance recognised ERRERRR CEREGEE
in profit or loss during the year (299) (420) (719)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-ZZ-NF=ZA=t-H
“Z-nEMA-A 1,400 76,032 77,432
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss & B Z TR < BB E LN
during the year 1,696 7,585 9,281
Reversal of loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FRARERBER ZEEEERD
during the year (192) (243) (435)
At 31 March 2020 AZBBEZAZ+—H 2,904 83,374 86,278

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period greater than agreed
contract terms.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the same line
item.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past 2 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has trade and other receivables
with approximately HK$2,904,000 and HK$83,374,000
respectively (2019: HK$1,400,000 and HK$76,032,000
respectively) being credit impaired since the management of the
Company considered these balances are unlikely to be recoverable
or partially recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

5. MBI ARGE)
(b) FA¥5EFREE B IR (48)

(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and other receivables (continued)
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables and other receivables are
set out in Notes 24 and 25 to the consolidated financial statement.

The management monitored the financial background and
creditability of those debtors on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks
to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have good
credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired have no default payment history. In this regard, the
directors consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Deposits

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for
expected credit losses on a timely basis. The Group has assessed
that the expected credit loss rate for these receivables are immaterial
under 12 months expected credit losses method. Thus, no loss
allowance for deposits was recognised as at 31 March 2020 and
2019.

Deposits with bank

In respect to the Group’s deposit with bank, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial institution
with high credit rating and no recent history of default. Given the
high credit ratings of the banks, management does not expect
any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. Management will
continues to monitor the position and will take appropriate action if
their are changed. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group has
no significant concentration of credit risk in relation to deposit with
bank.

In these regards, other than the credit risks mentioned above, the
management considers the Group does not have any other significant
credit risk and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

15 S5 B2 % iR {EL B 4 (48)

B2 5 B M R T R it M R O (H)
ERAKERE 5 MWK R H MR W
HRZ 2 EERBZE—SESRE T
2 BIER K 24825 ©

BEEERAEEZSERAZHBER
FRE FAEEZBHEABRFEERELZ
REZBFETRS  UREREERRE - &
RBBFRBEZKRID E S EBRRIEY
BNMEBREZEZ -HUMS EXZRA
TEBZEERBE XIBRE -

e
AEEZEBERASENFESBFEHER
BERECMEGERR -AEECRE2
BRAENEEBRETEZSTERREZ
AHEEERRATER At R=ZFZ
ZERZZE-NF=ZRA=+—H  LEMRE
THEABERME -

|MITER

RAKEZRTERMS  AREEERE
BREBREFFEEFRBIHAEENLE
ZUBHEE . UREIEAZCEERR - £
REZSRTEASFEENR  EEEEHT
EAAARZHFELIBTHEL - EEE
B EERARMR  HETRBEESL
HRIEETE R-ZZE-2ER-Z2-N
FZA=1T—R  AREALERRITEE
ZEEERZEERE -

RUME  RELMEERRN  EEERB
AEBIBETAEMEREERRE » MR
BeRERERBDTFUREER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
(continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash

and cash equivalents, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

5. HETAGE)
(b) B ¥ RIS EE & ()

it B 3 & B
AEEBBERARRSRRITAES BT
BAARBERRSAE URESHBEER
EECHANBER HUERRDEASA
Bax o

ERESEEERDESRR - BHEEEE
HEREERDESTERZBEERDE
BEREREXUMER  LER  EEEZEMN
BERIHAETERE -

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management.
Reports with maturity dates of borrowings and thus the liquidity
requirement are provided to management for review periodically.
Management will raise or refinance borrowings whenever necessary.

TRETAEESEE 2UBEE R
IRARBEEI AR - BIEHBERRESHE
HAZRBHREETON - RAREZEHE
RESHRBBRAIRFE  FHELOT

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will
be settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, as follows:

At 31 March 2020
R-B-Z£=RA=+-H

Weighted
average  On demand Between Between Between Total Total
effective  or less than 1to3 3 months 1 year undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year to 5 years cash flow amount
mEFEy BEXH HREH
ERf% —ERA —-E=fdif =fERE-% —-£E5F ReR AREE
% HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
TET TER TET TET TER TET
Non-derivative financial  FfiEHMBEAR
liabilities
Trade payables ESRMAFE - 1,050 - - - 1,050 1,050
Accrued liabilities and R BERHMENTE
other payables - 26,852 - - - 26,852 26,852
Amounts due to shareholders ERRRRAE 6.13 17,965 - 14,004 - 31,969 31,960
Amounts due to EAFERERTE
non-controlling interests - - - 9,045 - 9,045 9,045
Lease liabilities HEEE 4,07 306 612 897 1,327 3,142 3,019
46,173 612 23,946 1,327 72,058 71,926
At 31 March 2019
RZE-AE=A=1-H
Weighted
average On demand Between Between Between Total Total
effective or less than 1103 3 months 1year  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 month months fo 1 year fo 5 years cash flow amount
mET3 EEZXH ARER
ERRIZ —EAR -2=fif Z@ERE-%¥ —-FZ2HE BeR AREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn T TR TiEn TiEn
Non-derivative financial FHTERBEE
liabilities
Trade payables ESENFE - 7,558 - - - 7,558 7,558
Accrued liabilities and ZBERHMENTE
other payables = 32,688 = = = 32,688 32,688
Amounts due to shareholders EfRRTE - 2,943 - 1,219 14,555 18,717 18,658
Amounts due to B ERERTE
non-controlling interests = = = = 8,485 8,485 8,485
Other borrowings Hitrfe & 8.00 = 23,660 = E 23,660 23,353
Bank borrowings RITEE 11.00 337 - - - 337 329
Obligations under finance leases BEHERIE 1.94 88 177 794 2,386 3,445 3,230
13,614 23,837 2,013 25,426 94,890 94,301
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. BBIAR(HE)

Fair value of financial instruments MEBEIRZALATFE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as MBEERMBEEZAFERUTHIAEE

follows:

e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including o BEZEERRRGESE  TRRBERTIEE
derivative instruments) with standard terms and conditions and traded BB EERMBAG (BETETR)
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted ZAFE NoRSEMSEAREHLRE
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and BE R

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities e HUWMBEERVBEEB(BENETAR)
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance ZAVE DREBEAREEER - WRITH
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash REREDN  RAFABAZTEERE
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market MERXRZZEBERSERTE - UHEAER
transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the fair value is EZTETIAMS  AFENKABEEE
estimated using option pricing model. R LG -

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and EERRGEVBBRICH M BEERVHE

financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial statements EBECREEEEQAFEEE -

approximate to their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of RESHBENRLXAEBRS L FHEE

financial position

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that are UTREDSEIARELATEAEZHEITAD

measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into o DRBAFEZTBEEESEE—ZE=

Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: & o

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices - ¥E-RAFEFENEHREERERER
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; SERTWISZHRE CREAR)EBE

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other - B ATEFTEHE-—REAHBEAIN
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for ZAUBREEREEREEE (AER) R
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. EEZ(EEE®KR)EBLE &
derived from prices); and

- level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation - EZRLAFEMERERELFEUTERD
techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not SEE (TBEYE) ARBCEERE
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). BEHEE 2 EERMEEH -

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the current year. AREE  £—F - EREE =5 B MEEBR o

Financial asset measured at fair value RAFEFEZHBEE

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2020 R-IEBEZEF=ZA=1+—HZ2FEER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—ik B BE=#W #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
Financial asset MBEAE
Financial asset at FVTOCI RAVEFAEMLEE KRGS Z
(Note 22) (Note) M EE (K7222) (KE) - - 114 114
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2019 RZB-AE=ZA=+—B2Z2FEEH
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R FEIR E=; et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
Financial asset PBERE
Financial asset at FVTOCI BAFEFARMEERKEZ
(Note 22) (Note) B EE (7E22) (KBat) - - 1,313 1,313
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. MBI R\

111

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Note:

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of financial asset at FVTOCI of
approximately HK$114,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,313,000) was
valued by an independent valuer. The calculation was based on investment
costs and including some unobservable inputs.

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs to
the valuation of financial asset at FVTOCI:

MEBETRZAFHEE)
Wi -

REZZZZEF=ZA=Z+—-H BOVEFAREMLR
EWE P BEEANFELN14,0008T (ZF—H
% :4#91,313,00087T) JIHRB Y MHEEGE - B
FHERRERALBEETFITEEEE -

DTHUIMA RN FESARMEE RS 2 BB E
EZETRMAGERTREZHIE

Valuation Significant unobservable
technique inputs 2020 2019
HER EXFARRHIE ek -2 3 —E-NF
Financial asset at FVTOCI Market comparative Financial performance - Sales 3,576 39,738
BRAFEFAHMEZERE MG AL RE BB RR—HE
ZHBERE
Adjusted Profit-To-Sales ratio 0.78 0.75
Marketability discount rate 25% 25%
miGRBETINE

Sensitivity analysis
If the financial performance - sales is lower and all other variables were

held constant, the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCI would be
lower.

If the adjusted profitto-sales ratio is higher and all other variables were
held constant, the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCI would be
higher.

If the marketability discount rate is higher and all other variables were
held constant, the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCI would be

lower.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial asset

BB DI
BHBER-HETHRRFEL OB BRHT
% RATEFARMGREREZHBEEZD
TEBHAD o

HEBHEEEFRN IR LARFAERMBESEET
B RAFEFAHMEZARE U BEEZR
FEHEm -

fi§ 7B B LTI £ TR AT AL B A T
2 RATEH ARG EREZHBEEL A
FEBHD -

MBEEE=ZRAFEAEZZ2HIEK

2020 2019

et et —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

As at 1 April REA—RH 1,313 -
Change in fair value of financial asset at RAFEFAHMEZEREZ

FVTOCI in other comprehensive income BRERE AT ELZE (1,113) -

Acquisition g - 1,286

Exchange realignment B 5 % (86) 27

As at 31 March R=A=+—H 114 1,313

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of approximately
HK$1,113,000 (2019: HK$Nil) fair value loss relating to unlisted equity
securities classified as financial asset at FVTOCI held at the end of the
current reporting period and is reported as changes of “Financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income reserve”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Except as disclosed as above, the Directors consider the carrying amount
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs in
the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair value.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts which includes amounts
due to shareholders, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other
borrowings, bank borrowings, lease liabilities, obligations under finance
leases, less cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated as
either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings divided
by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

5. MBI RGA)
MEBETIARAZQFHEE)
BREXFIIREEN  EFARARGFEETBRRIE
BERATR2MBEERMBREZREER
H{VEMES -

BExEERER

FEEEBRHER  UBERAKEZERE TR
BEE VEBEBLEBAESEHANENEE
EERGAOR FAEEBEBRBESTIE
BEEAFHEE-

FEECEAERBEEMSRRNE  BAFE
REZFIE - HteEE - RTMEE -HEAER
MEHERESEE RERERASEER
B URALAEAARGES (BEEBITR
KRR AEE) ©

FEBESTFERIELEE FRUBFTZ—
B AREESZEEAKARZTEEAREK
Z R -

AEERAEREBLRERER  HAKEER
LB ERGFEERUBAER - NREPRZE
KEBHRUT :

31 March 31 March

2020 2019

= Jad- -2 5 —E-NF

=RA=+—H =A=+-—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFHT FExT

Total debt (i - R () 44,024 54,055
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RERREEEER (16,201) (19,383)
Net debt FEER 27,823 34,672
Equity (ii) (i) 61,629 131,749
Net debt to equity ratio FEBEERLLE 45.1% 26.3%
Total debt to equity ratio BEBEEREE 71.4% 41.0%

Notes:

(i) Total debt comprises other borrowings, bank borrowings, lease liabilities,
obligations under finance leases, amounts due to shareholders and
amounts due to non-controlling interests as detailed in Notes 30, 31, 32,
33, 34 and 35.

(i)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

(i) #RESEIEMES0 3132 33 34R355
meHMEE - RITEE -HEEE BEHR
ERIE  BNRRREREMFERERZE

(i) BROESEEFEEERRE -
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group organised into three operating divisions: unconventional gas
business, commodities trading business and esmart digital services. These

divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its segment information.

The three operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:

Unconventional gas business Provision of services in connection
with unconventional gas and import
of technical equipment for the
unconventional gas industry

Commodities trading business Provision of agency services and
commodities trading in the PRC,
Hong Kong and overseas

Esmart digital services Provision of esmart digital services

in the PRC

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts received and receivable
from third parties, income from commodities trading business and esmart
digital services. Revenue recognised during the years are as following:

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts REEFREHZBAMS
with customers

Recognised at a point in time RE—FREERER
Commodities sales BmiEE
Service fee REE

Total revenue from contracts with customers REEF&HZIA#EEE

S BEH
BEELERRERENETERARRTMGED
BRREZEBDEPRARNRER 2ERIR
Bz Eh -

FEEIR=FEEEDM  FERRARE
BREBEZEBRERBBERYE - ZE2MWREE
BME2HADMENZEE -

REEBMBHELEDNESS  —EALERTH
BoEMT -

FERRARREE RBREEIBRRAR
HERBRIEERRA
RATHEB ARMR

E
a0
:§ﬂ?
e
£

R E - FBREMEM
PRBEERES

BRBBERE R Bl R L R BB AR 7%

WmEe MR ERE=S WEZRIERAE B F
BWAREEREZEBREEBERYE - FRE
RzBmEmT

2020 2019

o -Jout. -3 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT Fi#T
54,544 82,889
245 6,484
54,789 89,373
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HEBEH (&)
Segment revenue and results S AR RIE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEBBARXEBZRATRARD S D 220
reportable segment: T
2020 —s-=x
Commodities Esmart
Unconventional trading digital
gas business business services  Consolidated
FER e
RARRY HREHRY B R #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTET FTERr FHET
Turnover Bxw
Turnover from external customers RENREF 2 & %5 - 54,536 253 54,789
Result RE
Segment loss SEES (9,751) (11,765) (42,622) (64,138)
Unallocated other income ROBMEMKA 2,107
Unallocated corporate expenses KA EEEL H (32,577)
Equity-settled share-based payment DA% # &b AR X 4 2 ;B (763)
Finance costs A& A (570)
Loss before tax PR Al A5 1R (95,941)
Taxation Big (4)
Loss for the year REERFE (95,945)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. #EBEH (&)
Segment revenue and results (continued) WU B RKIR ()
2019 —E-hEF
Commodities Esmart
Unconventional trading digital
gas business business services Consolidated
FER B
RRREH EEECES)S BB R e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THERT FET THET
Turnover = 3]
Turnover from external customers  XREIINREF 22 %48 - 83,073 6,300 89,373
Result £
Segment loss D EEE (5,562) (8,765) (28,479) (42,806)
Unallocated other income RAOBEMKA 2,133
Unallocated corporate expenses KA EEEL H (33,635)
Impairment loss on goodwill BMEB2REESSE (4,807) (4,807)
Impairment loss on property, plant #13% - BER R E 2 BEEE
and equipment (7,918) (7,918)
Net allowance for expected B RAEMBRRELZ
credit losses on trade and other  FEEIEEEERETFE
receivables (73,687)
Finance costs & R A (457)
Loss before tax PR A A 18 (161,177)
Taxation Big -
Loss for the year REEEE (161,177)
Turnover reported above represents revenue generated from external EXFERZEEBERAMAETRFZNRE - B
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year ended 31 ECECEF AT -HBLEFERNLERIHE
March 2020 (2019 Nil). E(ZE—NEF ®) o
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as AR 2ERRERSEWIIAL S
the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results SRR - pEEEE RSB E THMEKA -
represent the loss from each segment without allocation of certain other UEREESURD I 2HE - EMAX -/
income, equity-settled share-based payment, corporate expenses, finance BERARREZASIBEEZEHE - LLARE
costs and taxation. This is the measure reported to the chief operating ERERKERESUIBWERRTE D BREZ
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of Tk e

segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. FEHEH (&)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERER
Commodities Esmart
Unconventional trading digital
gas business business services Total
FER Bt
XRBRY BRRARE B IR %5 et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
TET FET FET FET
31 March 2020 —E_ZEZA=+-H
Segment assets nHEE 4,482 83,636 16,836 104,954
Segment liabilities PEERF 518 7,455 9,369 17,342
Commodities Esmart
Unconventional trading digital
gas business business services Total
FER -2
RARE BmE 5 EH BIERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FiERr T FTiERr
31 March 2019 —Z-hE=A=1+—H
Segment assets PEEE 14,212 124,290 63,122 201,624
Segment liabilities PHEE 502 7,908 22,328 30,738
Reconciliation of reportable segment assets and ARESBEERARHIE :
liabilities:
2020 2019
ol Juk- - 3 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments THRFES B EEHEE 104,954 201,624
Unallocated and other corporate assets: ROMREMEEERE
Property, plant and equipment W2 - BERERE 2,627 3,140
Right-of-use assets ERREE 310 -
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables B ENRAERAERIE 21,887 19,834
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEER 5,012 2,881
Consolidated total assets REEEHAE 134,790 227,479
Liabilities afs
Total liabilities of reportable segments AR Mz ERE 17,342 30,738
Unallocated and other corporate liabilities: ROTMREMPERRE
Accrued liabilities and other payables ZtEEREMENTE 11,795 10,937
Other borrowings Hi g & - 23,353
Bank borrowings RITIEE - 329
Lease liabilities HEasd 3,019 =
Obligations under finance leases RS S AE - 3,230
Amounts due to shareholders P IRRFRE 31,960 18,658
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEST IE IR IR A TR IE 9,045 8,485
Consolidated total liabilities HEBEERE 73,161 95,730

Annual Report 2020 §% - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 A 3% ¥ Jit i B A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. #EBEH (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) STHEERARE)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating MEESBRARIBESBEERM S :

resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated e BRASHMELEEE(EEZEBEETVE K
corporate assets (mainly comprising certain property, plant and ERZzH BTHEAREE BTERAAR
equipment, certain right-of-use assets, certain deposits, prepayments B REREMERHREARETRERR
and other receivables and certain cash and cash equivalents); and TEEEE)N MEEESIRETRRS

S

e all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than e RBRRIBELXEGE(ZEBEETRFEE
unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly comprising certain accrued REMBMARRIE - BARRRIE - BIIFE
liabilities and other payables, amounts due to shareholders, amounts BEZNE - HittfEE - |RITHEE - HESA
due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings, bank borrowings, ERBMEEERE) N FEEEIERET
lease liabilities and obligations under finance leases). RO EL o

Other segment information Kt @MEHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BFEF T _ZF-HA=1+—HIFE

Commodities
Unconventional trading  Esmart digital
gas business business services Unallocated Total
FERXRERE Y EE S BRBERE L3 #it
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET TET TET FRT TFRT

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #1%  BERZE2HE 886 1,362 3,725 533 6,506

Depreciation of right-ofuse assets FREEECE - 1,972 270 932 3,174

Additions fo non-current assefs* FRBEE M - 32 10 21 63

Impairment loss on goodwill BEZHESSR - - 18,320 - 18,320

Write-down of inventories WHEE - - 7,108 - 7,108

Write-off of obsolefe and slow-moving HERERBBEE

inventories - 836 - - 836

Loss of disposal of property, plant and HENE  BEREEZ

equipment 53} 2,368 - 25 - 2,393
Net allowance for expected credit losses on EFREBRETEZ
trade and other receivables RHEEERRETE 377 3,209 792 4,468 8,846
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BEP_ZE—AF=F=1—HILFE
Unconventional Commodities Esmart
gas business  trading business digital services Unallocated Toal
FER Angs BB
RAREH E3 R AP E At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR ThR AR TERL TERL

Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 1,350 1,336 3,830 542 7,058

Additions to non-current assefs* FREBEE2EM* = 1,803 158 4 1,965

*  Additions to non-current assets excluding goodwill, interests in associate, * ERBEEZENTEERE  REEAAZ
and financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income. EEUREAFET AR MEE R 2B EE

=o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH ()
Geographical information H#hE 3 E
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations are RABRETELEMBURES - AEBZEKE
mainly located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The following analysis of the EURNPBEREB BE-Z-ZTER=-Z—H
Group's turnover by geographical area is disclosed for the years ended FZA=Z+—BLFE AEELEBRBER
31 March 2020 and 2019. 2R MWBEMT ¢
2020 2019
ot ot 225 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FBT
The PRC HE 14,388 72,210
Hong Kong 58 40,401 31
Overseas FEIN - 17,132
54,789 89,373
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets TRAFRBDEE(FEERAFEFAREME
(excluding financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive HWH B ERE) REEMEHESZHED
income) analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are o
located:

Carrying amount of
non-current assets

ERBEEZIREE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT
The PRC HEl 5,236 33,045
Hong Kong ) 6,669 7,364
Overseas N 5,727 5,919
17,632 46,328
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. #EBEH (&)
Information about major customers AFREEERZEH
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's largest three customers BE-Z-ZEF=ZA=+—BHLFE XEEK
(2019: four) contributed revenue from commodities trading business REZ(ZE-IE EBR)RXFEMRBEEAME
and esmart digital services of approximately HK$49,595,000 (2019: ZEBREEEE RS 2 WA #49,595,0005%
approximately HK$62,900,000) and approximately HK$Nil (2019: TT(ZE—NF : 862,900,000 ) RAZET
approximately HK$6,287,000), which represent approximately (ZZ—NF 46,287,000 7T)  HAEEEN
90.5%(2019: approximately 70.4%) and approximately HK$Nil (2019: 90.5% (ZZF—NF : H70.4%) RNZB T (=F
approximately 7.0%) respectively of total turnover. —NF 1 §7.0%) °
2020 2019
—2°% =E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FBT
Customer A (Note (i) =B (MEE() -* 34,542
Customer B (Notes (i) and (i) BFZ (M) &(ii) -* 15,195
Customer C (Note (i)) =P A (M) =* 10,297
Customer D (Note {i)) BFET (MEE() 34,074 9,153
Customer E (Note (i) BFEX (MEE(i) 9,194 —*
Customer F (Note (i) BFCE (MEE() 6,327 —*
Note: MisE :
*  The customer contribution less than 10% of total revenue of the Group. * EBEEFZEMAEAEERABALRI0% -
(i) Revenue generated from commodities trading business (i) REPREZFEB2IWA
(i)  Revenue generated from esmart digital services (i) RESDEHBRBEZHBA
7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER LOSSES - NET 7. Htalk AREMGIR—$8E
2020 2019
ot . —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
Other income Hftnlr A
Interest income on: FEWA :
Bank deposits RITIFR 15 12
Trade and other receivables B REMERIRIE 3,573 2,106
3,588 2,118
Sundry income MEWA 544 362
4,132 2,480
Other losses - net Hthd5is —F 8
Net exchange losses ENEEFE (39) (71)
Loss on disposal of financial asset at fair value HERATFEFAHEMEEKE
through other comprehensive income MREEZER = (1)
Loss on settlement of other receivable EHEHMERRIEZEE - (1,025)
Write-down of inventories MoR 17 & (7,108) -
Werite-off of obsolete and slow-moving inventories ~ fi$EFRERBEEEFE (836) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEK B LRz WaE - 32
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYE - MERRZHZEE (2,393) -
(10,376) (1,065)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

8.

LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

8. BEXRHHIR

2020 2019
- Jot - -2 5 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHT FHExT
The Group’s loss from operating activities is arrived AEBEEEBEEIBEMNBR (5T A) :
at after charging/(crediting):
Cost of inventory sold EEFERSL 54,142 81,029
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment N BERRBZINE 6,506 7,058
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets ERAREEZIE 3,174 -
Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment #MEE¥ % - BERZH 2 EB - 54
Net allowance for expected credit losses EHEESRRBETRE
— allowance for expected credit losses —ESRRFECHBEERERE
on trade receivables 1,696 1,030
— allowance for expected credit losses —HERFIE 2R EERERE
on other receivables 7,585 73,376
— reversal of allowance for expected credit losses -~ B RRRE CAREEFRRERD
on trade receivables (192) (299)
— reversal of allowance for expected credit losses —HiEWRIE AR EEEREERD
on other receivables (243) (420)
8,846 73,687
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration EIRA(BREEME) (HF10)
(Note 10))
- wages and salaries -TERFS 29,445 36,514
— equity-settled share-based payment —URESEFEL ARG M 763 -
- retirement benefits scheme contributions — RIKERIFTEHER 1,614 2,328
31,822 38,842
Auditors’ remuneration 2 BT BN £
— audit services — 2R 700 700
Expenses relating to short-term lease HERANERZEX 150 -
Loss on lease termination HRIEHESE 2 Ei8 210 -
Minimum lease payments under operating lease BErEKEHERS
rentals of office premises ZREES N - 3,074
A\
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERE
2020 2019
- Jo - -2 5 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Interests on lease liabilities HERGZFE 390 -
Interests on obligations under finance leases RMEREREZFNE - 135
Interests on amounts due to shareholders BERRFIEZFE 50 11
Interests on other borrowings HitsfEE 2 FE 128 107
Interests on bank borrowings BITEE2ZFE 2 204
570 457
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. EE8 <
Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, *E}J_;J:_fﬁﬁ”&?‘%@aﬂ%@ Z@Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁ
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies ;zé_g_ii&_.ﬁ—jlﬁ:ﬁ]:ﬂ-—ﬁﬂzﬂirﬁ
: : ZEEHMEWMT
Ordinance, is as follows:
Equity-
settled
Basic Other share-based MPF
Name of director Fees salaries  allowances payment contributions Total
3.2 LEREH
LR
g EFHe Rftis  Xfle®RE  HESHER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TER FiER FET FET FET
2020 ZEZEf:
Executive directors BITEE
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) REWEE (XFE) - 6,600 63 104 - 6,767
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BBEE (BIERE) - 2,860 50 104 18 3,032
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) — #1538 %% (TRAH) - 1,480 - 104 18 1,602
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer) BRELE(ERAME) - 1,354 - 10 - 1,364
Non-executive directors FRITEE
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) R—-EEE (BER)
[Resigned on 29 February 2020) (R-E-FE-H=+1
A - - - - - -
Ms. Xu Ying (Resigned on 1 March 2020) BRLL (K-E-FF
ZA-HEH) - 800 - - - 800
Independent non-executive directors ~ BWIFHITEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond gxREE 220 - - 10 - 230
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE 220 - - 10 - 230
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEBELE 220 - - 10 - 230
Dr. Lam Lee G. MHEEL 220 - - 10 - 230
880 13,094 113 362 36 14,485
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directors with effect from 29 February 2020 and 1 March 2020
respectively due to their decision to devote more time to their other

business commitments.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to

waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2020 and

2019.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no emoluments were

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. EFE & (48)
Basic Other MPF
Name of director Fees salaries  allowances contributions Total
BEpE ik EXEeE HithRE BRESHR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
2019: —E-NE:
Executive directors HTEZ
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin (Chairman) RENEE(ER) - 7,200 499 - 7,699
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BEEE (BER) - 3,120 50 18 3,188
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)] I8 E4E (THRAH) - 1,536 - 18 1,554
Mr. Sun Qiang (Chief Technology Officer| BRassE (BERME) - 2,069 - 4 2,073
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Zhang Yichun (Vice-Chairman) R-BEEEXE) - - - - -
Ms. Xu Ying #hEgt - 960 - - 960
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond HxREE 230 - - - 230
Mr. Lam Williamson HEEEE 235 - - - 235
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen EERLE 230 - - - 230
Dr. lam Lee G. MREEL 240 - - - 240
935 14,885 549 40 16,409
Note:  Mr. Zhang Yichun and Ms. Xu Ying resigned as non-executive M BHRER-—FBEAERBRZTIARAERAES

MEEEREHRES KHESHBIE =
F-TF-A-tAAR-F-FF=A
—BEBERDTEERY -

BECZ-ZEER-Z-AF=ZA=+—-HLF
ERATEEEHERRIHEEAHE 2ZH -

BEZZE-ZEER-F-NF=ZA=Z+—-HL

paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon EER AEETEARSI MERRMEAESR
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of the B SEARBEERESIHIME - FRLE
directors has waived any emoluments during the year (2019: Nil). BEERERAHE (=T —NF : 8) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2019: four)
directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the details of the remuneration of
the remaining one (2019: one) highest paid employee who is non-director
is as follows:

Basic salaries and allowances EXRFEREH
Equity-settled share-based payment

Retirement benefits scheme contributions BARERFEIHR

11.58%

l«ME%E%ﬁjiLXH%ﬁ?ZHZ%kIE

mwER
FRLEBREHFREERENE (ZE-AF N
BES EMESHBRARNGEMBHRMETI0
A e

BE_Z-ZF=RA=1t-RLEE &HT-%

(CF—nF: —R) HKEBREHEAZMLN
L
2020 2019
—$=%%  —F-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR it
820 840
29 -
18 18
867 858

The number of the highest paid employee who are not directors of the
Company whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the non-directors, highest paid employees as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

12.TAXATION 12. IR
2020 2019
k. e —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Current tax R IR

- Hong Kong -&% - -
- PRC — - -

Under-provision in prior years EERBTE
- Hong Kong —&8 4 -
4 _

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of
corporation not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. The two-tiered profits tax
rates regime is applicable to the Group for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation of
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Taxation in other jurisdictions are calculated at the rates prevailing in the
respective jurisdictions. No provision has been made as the Group had no

assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

RZZE-—N\FE=Z=A=-+—-B BBILLEREB
C017E R (1BET) (FB75) R HIEZR) (&5
BR]) SIAMEAFEHRBEHE - KRAER
RZE-NFE=ZA=-+N\BEHEBHEEE
WHRBATE -REMBEFEHBEFNE 68
BEBEEE2,000,0008 T2 EBERENEE
1#8.25%E % - MiBi#82,000,0005% 7t = FEREH
A AER6.5% B - THEMAMBBHE
FIE 2 DR ZERRRFIGEES —1R16.5%%
BoMRAERBMEFNEINBE_S TR
Z-NE=ZA=+-HLLEEHAEEEA -

EZRN BIRMAANGHBRHER 2SS
BHERSMBHRAMSLFREKR -

RETEEEMERE(REMRERE]D RE
SR EzBRMAR BTN NF-A—H
B PENEAR ZHER25% -

H e 2B 2B RREER ZEEZEAHR R
AE - -ARAEERBEE-_Z-EER-ZE-H
FZAZ+-HLFEIEELERBER - &
I SEAE H BB o
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12. TAXATION (continued) 12. 118 (&)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per FEERERIITRGEaEEREMEERER
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive WERHAESIEERNT ¢

income as follows:

2020 2019

i k- 323 —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FTiEr

Loss before tax BRE A 1B (95,941) (161,177)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at rates REBR A IEEEREER RTEZ

applicable to loss in the tax jurisdiction concerned BRRABREzARHE (19,757) (34,375)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses R BB e R E 9,352 16,422

Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBRBAZBBEE (39) (4)

Tax effect of taxable temporary difference ERHESER2HBTE 81 76

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERREEBZRETE 10,363 17,881

Under-provision in prior years EEBETE 4 -

Tax charge at the Group's BEEERNAFEE 2 ER
effective rate for the year BEFHEZRERX 4 -
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13.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 13.EERAFE
At 31 March 2020, the Group had unused estimated tax losses R-ZCBEZEBEF=ZA=Z+—RH XEBHBEA
of approximately HK$333,587,000 (2019: approximately ##333,587,0008t (=& —NF ¥
HK$288,363,000) available for offset against future profits. Tax losses of 288,363,000 ) 2 RE A MG HIEBHET
approximately HK$79,693,000 (2019: approximately HK$61,740,000) LIS R A o BIE BB 479,693,000
will expire after five years from the year of assessment they relate to while BT (ZE—NF 461,740,000 t) # K
tax losses of approximately HK$253,894,000 (2019: approximately REEB2IREERRAFRE R MHKE
HK$226,623,000) can be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred B #4253,894,0008 c (=2 —N"&F 4
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit 226,623,000/ 7t) AR B AR - AR AR R E
streams. FIRRZTAIEE > RUBBEIELEHBEE -
14.DIVIDENDS 14.85 8
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of any AAREEFRERBE S _EF=/A=1+—
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil). BLEEERFEARE(ZE—LEF: &) -
15.LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 15.FAFHFTAEESRER
THE COMPANY
(a) Basic (a) &E=F
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the ARABBEEANEBEBRERBEIDEUT
Company is based on following data: BIEE
2020 2019
—B2F —E-NEF
Loss for the year attributable to RAREEAEBLEERFE
owners of the Company (HK$’000) &8 (FET) (76,932) (138,609)
Weighted average number of ERITEERZ
ordinary shares in issue ("000) INREFEIE (F ) 2,910,349 2,121,589
Basic and diluted loss per share BREXRREEES
(HK cents per share) (FREAWL) (2.6) (6.5)
The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the BEZZ-NF=ZA=t-BLFEZE
year ended 31 March 2019 has been restated accordingly for the BOEBR2METHHECRZFERE
share consolidation occurred during the year. ZRMDEHELEREES -
(b) Diluted (b) H&
The basic and diluted loss per share are the same for the years BE_Z_ZF=A=+—HLFEZS
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. The calculation of the diluted REARBEBEEBE_Z-NF=A
loss per share for both years did not assume the exercise of the EST—BLEFEMER - ZMEFEZSRE
Company’s outstanding share options as the effect is anti-dilutive. HBEEBZAESAALBERRADAZE R

TEBRERTE REREBOTEARE

=
/E\?%O
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. M% - BER &R

127

Freehold Plantand  Leasehold Furniture and  Fixturesand ~ Computer Motor
land Building  equipment improvement  equipment fittings  equipment vehicles Total
KARELY B  BERRA HRMRRE  RARERE  KEREK L1 AE ait
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TR Tin TEn TEn Tn TEn TEn TR
Cost: BEE:
At T April 2018 “Z-\fmA-A 1513 4,346 315 7,673 3,391 1,072 1,695 6,892 59,697
Additions 5 - - - a1 13 20 318 1,093 1,965
Written off s - - - - (57) - [22) - 79
Disposal it - - - - - - - (14) (14)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENEAT - - (68) - (54] - 12) (1,054) [1,188)
Exchange realignment ERHE - - (2,118) (316) (151) (81) 35 (158 (2,857)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=ZF=1-A 1513 4,346 30931 7,878 3,142 1,011 1,944 6,759 57,524
Adjustment upon application of  EREEHBHEEZ1684
HKERS 16 2 - - ; - - - - 14849 14849)
At T April 2019 H-E-1EME-H 1513 4,346 30931 7,878 3,142 1,011 1,944 1910 52,675
Additions % - - - 3 2 - 9 - 63
Wiitien off fis - - - - (23] - (27 - (32)
Disposol e - S sy - ) | (152 B9 389
Exchange realignment EXHE - - (1.431) (340) (137) (55 [77) (65) 2,109)
At 31 Morch 2020 RZBZEEZR=1-A 1513 4,346 6,612 7,570 2,981 927 1717 1226 26,892
Accumulated depreciation ~ BiHFERHEE :
and impairment:
At T April 2018 RZE-NEWB-A - 153 12,750 724 629 186 610 1,488 16,540
Charge for during the yeor EREY - 1 3,505 1317 590 184 361 990 7,038
Wiitien off s - - - - 9) - 20] - 25)
Disposal HE - - - - - - - (10) 10)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBLT - - (44) - (42) - (1) (903) (1,002)
Impairment HE - - 7918 - - - - - 7918
Exchange realignment ERFE - - 813) [40) 43 1) 12 (61 963)
At 31 March 2019 RZF-NE=F=T-A - 264 23316 2,001 1,129 352 952 1,502 29516
Adjustment upon application of  EREHSRREEYE16%H
HKERS 16 2 - - - - ; - ; lo46 (646)
At T April 2019 R=2-nEMA-A - 264 23,316 2,001 1,129 352 952 856 28,870
Charge for during the year ERER - 1 3,256 1,829 563 176 303 268 6,506
Writien off L - - - - (23] - (27 - 32)
Disposal be - - oy - ) 14 m 09 o
Exchange realignment EXHE - - (1,09) (149) (59) (24) 35 21) [1,376)
At 31 March 2020 RZB-8EZB=1-A - 375 5,457 3,681 1,612 490 1,116 874 13,605
Net book value: BERE:
At 31 March 2020 RZBZBEZA=+-B 1,513 39 1,155 3,889 1,369 437 601 352 13,287
At 31 March 2019 R=B-nNE=A=1-A 1,513 4,082 7,615 5,877 2,013 659 992 5,257 28,008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over

16. W% - BB R Ex il (#)
Lz BMERRBEBE DREGHTEASF
YT AHGSRERNESRENE  TAER

their estimated useful lives, after taking into account of their residual value,

on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: BT :

Building g3 2.5%
Plant and equipment L ENE R 20%
Leasehold improvement HEYEEE 10%
Furniture and equipment REARRE 20-33.3%
Fixtures and fittings HEBERBH 20-33.3%
Computer equipment BB 20%
Motor vehicles RE 10%

i {5 % 1R AT (

Impairment loss assessment

In view of the current performance of commodes trading business and
Esmart digital services, the Group considered there was an indication
that the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (the “Tested
Assets”) were impaired. The Group carried out impairment testing on the
Tested Assetfs using value-in-use method and the results were satisfied. No

impairment loss were recognised in regards to the Tested Assets for the

year ended 31 March 2020.

As a result of the poor performance the Group’s unconventional gas
business for the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group carried out a
review of the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment
which in relation to the unconventional gas business for impairment
assessment and the valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer. The recoverable amount is fair value less cost to sell and determined

by replacement cost method under the level 2 fair value measurement.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has not recognised
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (2019: impairment loss
of approximately HK$7,918,000) in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income.

ERITRESERRENEERBENBREX
B AEERAE YE BERIEURSEHARE
EE(RUIREE)CHERE ~EEFAE
AEBIHCAREEETRENR  XEHE
BER REZE-_Z_ZF=A=+—-HLEFE
RERCAREERINERSE -

HRAEBZEERRARREBREBE=Z -1
FZA=ZT-HLEEXRRETHR AEEZR¥
ERRARER 2 BETGRE SR MEER/M AR
ET2GE  HZEB2UE BERREZT
WEEFETRT - THRESFEEER D FER
HERA  ERE-RAFEAETZEERS
SEEE e

HE-Z_ZF=-A=+—HLEE ZXT&EEL
BERGAREREAMEEWNERERIYWE K
ERREZREBE(ZZ—NF  REBEY
7,918,000 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16
at 1 April 2019 (Note 2)

Lease termination
Exchange realignment

Accumulated depreciation
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16
at 1 April 2019 (Note 2)

Charge for the year
Lease termination
Exchange realignment

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2020

5 %3

R-ZB-AFMNA—-RER
EBMBMELERFE1657E
e 2B (HE2)

AL

AR

ﬁ@:?:;ﬂiiﬂ E,,+_,H

REtins

REZZE-NFWNA-BER
EBUBRELRE16RE
e 2B (HE2)

FRFX

MR IE

BE R

R-S-EF=A=1+—H

IR E
RIS EE=A=1+—H

17.(EFRREE

Leased office Leased motor
premises vehicles Total
HARFiE HASE ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FExT
3,957 4,849 8,806
(980) - (980)
(153) - (153)
2,824 4,849 7,673
- 646 646
2,689 485 3,174
(457) - (457)
(35) - (35)
2,197 1,131 3,328
627 3,718 4,345

The lease terms of the Group’s office premises and motor vehicles range
from 1 to 10 years for the year ended 31 March 2020 and their useful

lives are as follows:

Leased office premises
Leased motor vehicles

1 to 2 years
10 years

Lease liabilities of HK$3,019,000 are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of HK$4,345,000 as at 31 March 2020. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased

assets that are held by the lessor.

Details of total cash outflow of leases is set out in the consolidated

statement of cash flows.

ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 4: % #% % FR A % - Annual Report 2020 % #
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) General informations of subsidiaries (a)

18. RIIEAFIZCESR

MHEARZ—RER

RBEHRR  AEMEEWB AT ZHE
HHWOT :

Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the
reporting period are set out below:

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Nominal value  and proportion of

Place of of issued  voting power held
incorporation share capital/ ERTIEGES
Name and operations  paid up capital BEHLRMAFERTEELH
2% HEMAEIR ERTRS EHE Direct  Indirect Principal activities
BEME BAEE B Mg FERH

Sino Talent Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Operation company

HEEEERDA BB 18 EENT

Profull Int'l Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding

REERERERAF RREZHS 127 REZR

Twinkle Win Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding

RBEZHE 127 REZR

Multi Century Technology Development Limited Hong Kong HK$490 - 100 Investment holding

AERRBREERAT BB 490% T REZR

Multi Century Energy Technology Limited (i) The PRC RMB15,000,000 - 100 Provision of services in connection

Rl B RR R B IR 2 7 i) mE AR®15000,0007 with unconventional gas and
import of technical equipment
for the unconventional gas
industry

RBRUEEFERXAREE

BRERFERXAR
TERBARMRE

Zhan Sheng Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$10,000 70.97 - Investment holding

BEREERAA RBELHE 10,000% 7t REER

World Grace Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trading of commodities

HHREEXERDA BB 187 BmES

Miles Trading Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Trading of commodities

BEEESREARAT BB 100% 7t BmES

Zhuhai Tiegang Commercial Trading The PRC US$151,611 - 100 Provision of agency services and

Company Limited {ii] HE 151,611ExT trading of commodities in the PRC
HEEEHEAR DA REEREFNBERBRES
Hubei Tiegang Trading The PRC RMB10,200,000 - 77.5 Trading of commodities

Company Limited ("Hubei Tiegang”) {iii] HE AK¥10,200,0007 BRES

M EEEZARDE (THLEE ) (i)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#r e BF 7% 3R R B R
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. RMIBATIZEE (&)
(a) General informations of subsidiaries (continued) (o) MEBARZ—BRER (&)

Percentage of
equﬂﬁ' attributable

to the Company
Nominal value  and proporhon of
Place of of issued  votin ower held
incorporation share capital/ P]
Name and oEerahons paid up capital Eﬁtb&ﬁfrﬁ&"&tbﬁl
&% HMEIR EB2TRE EERE Direct  Indirect Principal activities
HEEE B&mE E# f& E?#%

Elife Investment Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding

SEEREERERAH RERLHE 1%7% REZR

National Gain Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding

ERERERAF REEZHE 1%7% REER

Hui Min International HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding

ERER (FB)BRAT &# iy REZR

Elife International Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Trading of commodities

SERERESERAT BE 10,0007 BmES

ZhongNongXin Supply Chain Management The PRC RMB49,999,999 - 100 Trading of commodities

Limited (ii) TR AR¥49,999,9997 HmES

HREHEEEEERAR i)

Elife Limited (i) The PRC RMB10,640,160 - 100 Trading of commodities

KiESENETBERERLA (AR [HLF FE AR#10,640,1607T EIES

BRAR]) (i)
Elife (North America) Limited The United States Us$1 - 100 Trading of commodities
B [ES BmES
Adnmiral Glory Global Limited (*Admiral Glory”) British Virgin Islands US$1,000 51.2 - Investment holding
RBRZHB 1,000%7 REZR
Sunfield Global Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Us$100 - 51 Investment holding
(“Sunfield Global “) RBELES 100£7 REZR

FERRREARAT

Esmart Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding

ENBEERERAT 9 i REZR

Esmart Technology Co., Ltd {ii) The PRC RMB31,887,168 - 100 Provision of esmart digital services

HEEABRRAERDRi) HE AK31,887,1687 REUEREHBRE

Notes: Bt -

(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the (i) tiﬁﬁﬁﬂtﬂ$§l25ﬁ§®1 BES
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets RARBINELAEBE X ESEEFTYE
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the % %% B IHEMHB AT ZF
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths. ESERNBHAERE -

(i)  These companies are wholly-foreign owned enterprises. (i) ZERXRRIBBELE-

(iii)  Hubei Tiegang is wholly-domestic owned enterprises. (i) HMAEERBERNLE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZTF=-A=+—AILFE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. RItB ATz & ()

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non-

controlling interests:

The table below shows details of the non-wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

Place of incorporation

and principal

Proportion of
ownership
interests and voting
rights held by non-

b) BERFEREZZHFZEMBLRZF

Hp
I
2]

Loss allocated to
non-controlling

B B 9 R IR 3 2 A B 3
A2 HHE

Name place of business controlling interests interests Accumulated
FERERFRIER SEF non-controlling
& B L 3t B R ZHARERR FIERED interests
28 FEERMBR BREZLE ZER REtEERER
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZEIBF —EZ-NF ZBIBE ZZ-AE IZBIBF —IZ-NF
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET FET FET
Hubei Tiegang The PRC
WL EE HE 22.5 22.5 (1) (12) 2,383 2,552
Sunfield Global* British Virgin Islands
RBELZES 49.0 49.0 (12,314) (14,633)  (39,134) (26,391)

*  An non-wholly owned subsidiary of Admiral Glory *  Admiral Gloryz k2 &M B A Al

FHBEERFEREZZ2HFZEMBL
A2 BERBMESIMT - LTBHBER
MEEREBRN QR BMEN S8 -

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents amounts

before intragroup eliminations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non- (b)

18. RIB AR ZES ()
BERFERESZZHEENBAR ZF

controlling interests: (continued)

Hubei Tiegang

& (&)

EiEl4
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Current assets RBEE 10,681 11,439
Non-current assets FRBEE - -
Current liabilities nEBEE (90) (95)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - -
Equity attributable to owners RARER ANELER
of the Company 8,208 8,792
Non-controlling interests SRR 2,383 2,552
Revenue L'ON - -
Loss for the year KEEEER (3) (53)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ARARFEEAEGER (2) (41)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests FERERELEIE (1) (12)
Loss for the year KEEEE (3) (53)
Other comprehensive loss attributable to AABEBEANBEEMEZHEE
owners of the Company (580) (603)
Other comprehensive loss attributable to FEREREEHEME2EEE
non-controlling interests (168) (175)
Other comprehensive loss for the year AEEHMEEBE (748) (778)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to ARREEAEGZEBELEHE
owners of the Company (582) (644)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FEREREEEEBEASE
non-controlling interests (169) (187)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEZHEBREHE (751) (831)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests EfNFEERERZRE - -
Net cash inflow from operating activities REXBRERANFHE 10,650 773
Net cash inflow from investing activities RETBHZ2RERANFE = =
Net cash outflow from financing activities REEE RSN HFE (9,901) -
Net cash inflow RERAFHE 749 773
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. B ATz S (1)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non- b) BERIEZEREZZIZEMBLARZF
controlling interests: (continued) 1% (&

Sunfield Global

2020 2019
k. k. 22 s
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Current assets RBEE 13,130 30,092
Non-current assets FRBEE 4,119 9,902
Current liabilities REBEE (48,076) (45,835)
Non-current liabilities kRBER (49,040) (48,238)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARER ANELER (40,733) (27,688)
Non-controlling interests R ER (39,134) (26,391)
Revenue A 253 6,300
Loss for the year AEEEER (25,131) (29,986)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AATEE AEEERE (12,817) (15,353)
Loss attributable to owners of non-controlling interests JF 32 IR # 5 FE (5 &5 18 (12,314) (14,633)
Loss for the year AEEEB (25,131) (29,986)
Other comprehensive income attributable to ARAREAARGHEMEERE
owners of the Company (446) 749
Other comprehensive income attributable to non- FEREREREMEEmEKE
controlling interests (429) 714
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year AEEHME@E (BE) Wi (875) 1,463
Total comprehensive loss attributable to AARFEEAEEZEEBELEE
owners of the Company (13,263) (14,604)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FEREREGEEEEAH
non-controlling interests (12,743) (13,919)
Total comprehensive loss for the year REEXHEBER (26,006) (28,523)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ERNFERERZRE - -
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEB RS R EIFHE (16,229) (12,599)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities REZHZHERA CRH) B4 446 (158)
Net cash inflow from financing activities RMETBHZRLSRAFE 16,043 13,965
Net cash inflow BEeRANFHE 260 1,208
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE
19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Details of the Group's interest(s) in an associate(s) is as follows:

Cost of investment in associates

— Unlisted

Less: Accumulated impairment loss on interests

in associates

Share of post-acquisition loss

and other comprehensive loss

19. RBBLARZES
AEBRBEE AT ZEEZFHBOT ¢
2020 2019
ot Jout. - —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT F#T
REE AR ZRENK
- 46,568 72,320
W REE AR R 2 REHRERE
(19,194) (32,539)
27,374 39,781
R EEREM2EES
(27,374) (39,781)

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Name

i3

Global Mining
Engineer Inc.
["Global Mining"|
(Nofe (i])

BB IRARLA
(RupEs D) ()

Wisdom Orchid Limited
("Wisdom Orchid”)
[Note {ii))

BEBERARN(EH)
(Br&ii))

Form of entity Place of incorporation of operation

EIM.\LHE!E

L 37

Republic of Vanuatu
REMELA

Incorporated

EMA

Incorporated  British Virgin Islands
EMAL EBRZES

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power

Principal place Class of held by the Group

shares held FEAMREZRAR
FEERME FifsRBER REFELH
The PRC Ordinary  N/A FER (2019: 30%)
HE EER (ZB-N%F 130%)
The PRC Ordinary 40% (2019: 40%)
HE EER (ZB-NEF 1 40%)

REEHR  AEE2BEQTFHOT ¢

Principal activities

IERE

Providing Radio Frequency
Identification Mining Management
System and Solution (“RFID@MMS)
services, and natural resources-related
global sources direct services
REEEGIER
REEEZGRBADE
(TRFID@MMS ) B 7% »
NREREFRBNRRERY

Investment holding

RERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE
19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group holds 30% equity interest in Global
Mining and possesses the right of participation in policy-making
processes, including participation in decisions about dividends or other
distributions. On 30 September 2019, the Group disposed all equity
interest in Global Mining at a cash consideration of HK$1, resulting in
a gain on disposal of approximately HK$1. The disposal was completed
on 30 September 2019. Upon completion of the disposal, Global Mining
ceased to be classified as an associate.

The Group holds 40% equity interest in Wisdom Orchid and possesses
the right of participation in policy-making processes, including
participation in decisions about dividends or other distributions.
Therefore, the directors of the Company consider that the Group had
significant influence over Wisdom Orchid.

Wisdom Orchid’s principal assets is the entire equity interest in
Wisdom Mega Inc Llimited and Qinglong Manchu Autonomous County
Shuangxin Mining Co., Ltd. (“Shuangxin Mining”) (collectively referred
to as “Wisdom Mega Group”). Wisdom Mega Group’s are principally
engaged in extraction of iron ores, production and sales of iron ore
concentrates.

Shuangxin Mining adopted 31 December as financial year end date
for local statutory reporting purposes. For the preparation of associate’s
consolidated financial statements, its accounts for the year ended 31
March 2020 have been used after making adjustments, as appropriate,
for compliance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong.

19. RIMELAF S ()
waE -

(i)

(ii)

REZZE-AF=ZA=+—-0 FEEHFERK
WEIONRMEREAZERR ZER - BES
LBEAREIEMDIKRZRE - RZE-—IF
AAZTR AEEUREREIBTHER
RBEXEZIRE  RUBERLEE2RELE
T BARHER-ZE-NAFAA=ZTAREK
HEZRHE BRRBEXTBIEAMEDNT -

FEBFEEWA0NREREFSERAK 2E
A BESEABEREREMD IR ZIRE -
o ARBDESRA  AEEHEREREX
HEN-

EWNZIREERRNEBERIARFEBK
BEBEEREBRATD (EE) (RERIE
BEE])22MERE EREEE2NEHER
ARR - EEREEHBEE -

BERM+ A=+t -BAURFELABESE
AEHRAR MEEBE VRN ZSREHER
EmME HBEZE-_Z_ZF=A=+—HL#F
EZREERELBEEREEZTUKA  UE
FTEBORGEREL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE
19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates
are set out below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

Global Mining

19. B E

NTFIZzED ()

FEASEBE QMR CHBENERERIMNT -
ATHBERMBERETEHHREEARER

ZHMERTMBREA T Z2EHE -

DEAREE

B MRPIRAERENR -

IRERTR R
2019
—E-AF
HK$’000
FExT
Current assets RBEE 4,066
Non-current assets FRBEE 648
Current liabilities RBAEE (5,351)
Net liabilities BEFE (637)
Revenue 1'ON 1,320
Loss for the year REEBE (647)
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHMEZEKE -
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEERHEHEBRARE (647)
Reconciliation of the above summarised LB RHEER
financial information to the carrying RiFEMBHRRAER
amount of the interest in an associate ZRBEARCES
recognised in the consolidated ZIEEEHE :

financial statements:
Net liabilities of the associate BENTAz (BEFH) EEFE (637)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership Z]K%.EAF—”}.TE)%iz

interest in Global Mining FrEERERLEA 30%
Effect of fair value adjustment at acquisition (Note (i) RURE QAT ERR S E (K L(i)) 24,000
Accumulated impairment loss on interest in REBEEQAR 2R 2Rt BEEIRE

associate (Note (ii)) (/7/7‘3(///) (13,345)
Other adjustments Hib R (18,407)
Goodwill GRS 7,752
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEERRREXZ

interest in Global Mining w2 REE -

Notes:

(i) The fair value of the net assets and liabilities of associate at the date
of acquisition were determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation performed by Roma Appraisals Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuers.

(i)  The Group completed its annual impairment test for interests in Global
Mining by comparing the recoverable amount of interests in associates to
its carrying amount as at 31 March 2019. The carrying amount of Global
Mining was became zero as at 31 March 2019. No further profits or
losses shared by Global Mining to the Group during the year ended 31
March 2019.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. RBELTZHER ()

Wisdom Orchid

]
2020 2019
—ECTF —E2-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current assets REBEE 435 303
Non-current assets FRBEE 7,662 7,758
Current liabilities REBERE (9,752) (8,945)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (27) (29)
Net liabilities BEFH (1,682) (913)
Revenue A - 6,592
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (FB)RF (611) 806
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year AEEHME2TE (BE) WG (184) 28
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year AEELE(BE) WEBAE (795) 834
Reconciliation of the above summarized LTl BEEHBERE R
financial information to the carrying REMBREARAEZR
amount of the interest in an associate —HBREavzEGZ
recognised in the consolidated IREEZHIE :
financial statements:
Net liabilities of the associate HENRZBERE (1,682) (213)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest AEEREHZ
in Wisdom Orchid B RERER L5 40% 40%
Effect of fair value adjustment at acquisition (Note (i)) RUEEE D FEFARE & (4a2() 44,175 44,175
Accumulated impairment loss on interest in REERAzRR2 RN RAEERR
associate (Note {ii]) (K1EE(ii)) (19,194) (19,194)
Other adjustments HihFH# (37,666) (37,666)
Goodwill BHE 12,685 12,685
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEBREHZER
in Wisdom Orchid ZEREE - -

Notes:

(i) The fair value of the net assets of associate at the date of acquisition (i)
were determined by the directors of the Company with reference to the
valuation performed by Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent firm of

professional valuers.

(i)  The Group completed its annual impairment test for interests in Wisdom (ii)
Orchid by comparing the recoverable amount of interests in associate
to its carrying amount as at 31 March 2020. The carrying amount of
Wisdom Orchid became zero during the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019. No further profits and losses shared by Wisdom Orchid to the
Group during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

RUBEE  BMEQARCEEFE2LFED
HAARESSZH I EXLEMTESERE
FEERABAET 2 HEMEE -

EBREBERBE LR ZEF I RESEEAE
R-ZE-_ZF=A=+—BZKHE x5H
RREBZEEEAFERBINR BE=-Z
CEER-ZE-NEFZA=S+—HILEE &
HMRABEERES - EBEREZE-—ZS=-ZF
F—ZE-hF=A=+—HLFEBEOLE
EERERNRERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. RBEQATZHER ()

Unrecognised share of losses of associates SEBBLARNZREREIE
2020 2019
- - -2 5 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBT
The unrecognised share of losses of associates REESEES DT 2 REDEE
for the year 244 128
Cumulative share of losses of associates At o hHE AR 2EE 244 131
20. GOODWILL 20.7 8
HK$'000
FET
Cost: B%FE :
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, RZZE—NFWNA—H - ZZE—-hAFE=ZA=+—-8"
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 —=— jlill[lﬁ El&_q_ =A=+—8H 69,757
Accumulated impairment: RtiEE :
At 1 April 2018 R-Z-N\EMA—H (46,630)
Impairment for the year REERE (4,807)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R-EB-NAF=ZA=+—-HER=-ZF-AFHNA—H (51,437)
Impairment for the year REERE (18,320)
At 31 March 2020 W-E-FF=B=1-A (69,757)
Carrying amounts: IR BE -
At 31 March 2020 R-EZSFE=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2019 RZE—hFE=A=+—H 18,320
Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in Note FEREBRENR ZFBERME211RE -
21.
21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 2. HERENR

139

As explained in Note 6, the Group uses business segments as its primary
segment for reporting segment information. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill with indefinite useful lives set out in Note 20 has been
allocated to following cash generating unit (CGUs). In performing the
impairment testing for the year, the directors of the Company have
engaged an independent valuer, APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting
Limited, to determine the recoverable amount of each CGUs. The carrying
amount of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 March
2020 and 2019, is allocated as follows:

MK - ARBIRAEB D HERBEDH
BRZEBRDH - METRERRMS » MFE20
FRYEZEANERAFH2BECSIETTIE
SELEN(REELEN]) - RFRAETRE
AR AARESCERB Y AEMNEAEE
FEREEARARNEEEREELBEM TR
OEE - R-B-_ZER-_FT-NF=ZA=1+-—
B B2 (RERRESR) 2REEDEER
LU

2020 2019

ot et 3.2 —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER FTERT

Esmart digital services B REBUE AR = 18,320
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL (continued) 21.BERENK (]|

Esmart digital services

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period,
and a pre-tax discount rate of 23% (2019: 21%) per annum for the
year ended 31 March 2020. Cash flow projections during the budget
period are based on the same expected gross margins throughout the
budget period. The cash flows beyond that five-year period have been
extrapolated using a steady 3% (2019: 3%) per annum growth rate for the
year ended 31 March 2020. The growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the market.

The management of the Company assessed the recoverable amount of
the goodwill and it is calculated to be lower-than its carrying amount, an
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$18,320,000 (2019:
approximately 4,807,000) was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2020. The reasons leading to the impairment of goodwill were
mainly due to: (i) the esmart digital services business recorded further
operating loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 when compared with
last year; (i) strong competition in the esmart digital services industry, our
competitors with similar products which is lower costs and higher gross
profit margin; (iii) the cash flow demand in the esmart digital services
business was huge with longer packback period than expected, thus the
Group is scaling down the operation of esmart digital services; and (iv)
the unfavourable marco-economic environment, especially the U.S.-China
trade war and COVID-19 outbreak, which the business is significantly
being affected. The impact of the weak performance of the global
economy and the scaling down of the esmart digital services business
which raised the Company’s awareness of an indication of an impairment
on the goodwill of the esmart digital services business.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the esmart
digital services are as follows:

Budgeted market share ~ The values assigned to the assumption reflect
past experience, except for the growth factor,
which is consistent with the directors’ plans
for focusing operations in these markets. The
directors believe that planned market share
growth per year for the next five years is
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the
period immediately before the budget
period, increased for expected efficiency
improvements. This reflects past experience,
except for efficiency improvements.

EBEERS
BHBREEESV KBS EDREEAEET
HE MEREEDNUERMEREAFHEZ
MBEERBE-_E-_EF=ZA=+—HLEFE
BATBNEEGF23% (ZF—NF 1 21%) REH
FBzReREREATE REEHRAZEER
EEANEREEERER 2 EREHERE -
BE-Z-_ZEHE=ZA=+—-HLEE BHE
FHEZRERENKAGEIR(ZE—LE:
3%) ZBEFBREEHEE - ZIEREWREBT
SREAFHERE -

RARERENEHETRESH W HEH
FHRSEAENREE - RBE-ZT=-2F=
A=Z+-BLEECHRIABTEZAREBFED
18,320,000 7t (=& — L5 : 494,807,000
7T) BHHEBREZEIERER  (EEFMH
b BHHERBEBREBEE-Z-_2F=
=+-RLEFERGE-SELEER . (i|T8ER
BRBEZHRIHZ URAEEZHRFHFFR
FEENER  BRABRE (i) SeBBREX
BeRERBFREXEDAHRENR - Bt
FEBERREEBERE EERE R(v)E
BRERBETRR  LEZFEZHRCOVID-19
REHEBXEBRRER - RERLBERBEHR
BHRUERBEBARAEMER ZZE 5|
RABYERBERBEL 2HEERBEBET
RHER °

BREEBEREERAEEAEMRAZEZER
BT

BEWSEER ERARZSEBRERZEERR
BELE  WHEBFZIRN
ZENISZRENTEER
—H - BEEZME RREF
MBS EERFRERR
A EEHER

BREEM= SRS BB ARG
ZPHERR - BRGNS
BEMIZM o RPWBER
BoERERERM
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

22.FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22. ZAFEAARMEZAKGZIMERE
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2020 2019
- o - -2 5 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Unlisted equity securities in the PRC PEIFE TR ARRE S
(Notes (i) & (ii)) (HTEE(i) B (i) 114 1,313

Notes: e -

(i) On 23 January 2019, Esmart Technology Company Limited, a non i) REZZB-AF-—A=+=H AEEZIZE
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sale and purchase MEARKESENBREBRARILTER
agreement to subscribed 4.61% of unlisted equity securities. The company WRAREL 61 % LETRAES - ZDAE
is principally engaged in the business in relation to vending machine EREFEEDRERREFNTE X - B
and convenience store. The directors of the Company have elected to RALAREZHEZSREBERKRE  BF
designated these investments in financial asset at fair value through other BEPREBEE HHSECEBEZERERE
comprehensive income as they believe that the investment is strategic ERBRAFEFARMEERE -
investment and intended to be held for medium to long-term.

(i)  The unlisted equity securities are measured at fair value and are (i) FLTREABHFRAFEABUIDERAE=R
classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The details of the fair value DNPEFE - BRAAFEFEZFBET2HN
measurement reference to the Note 5. ERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

23.INVENTORIES 23. %8
2020 2019
—BCEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Finished goods Do 1,559 10,952
24.TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 24. RS BBHRAREBIKRE
2020 2019
“BIEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET FET
Trade receivables (Note (i) B RWIE (Miti) 17,759 20,844
Less: allowance for expected credit losses on W BESERREZRBEERSE
trade receivables, net BEFEEE (2,904) (1,400)
14,855 19,444
Bill receivables (Note {ii)) BRERE (Fatii) - 11,157
14,855 30,601

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice

UTARBERRRERZAMERRINTZE

0 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

date, at the end of reporting period. SEWERE
2020 2019
ZE_FF —E-AEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
0Z30H 1,572 2,054
31&260H - 1,553
612908 - 1,682
912180H 7 3,872
#iB180H 16,180 11,683
17,759 20,844
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE
24.TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

24. B HEURAR B RE (8&)
G

143

(i)

(i)

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows
a range of credit periods within 90 days to its trade customers. Trade
receivables are denominated in HK$, RMB and US$.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors of
the Company consider any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit were initially granted up to the reporting
date. Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered that provision
for impairment is value be made in respect of trade receivables to their
recoverable values and believe that there is no credit provision required
in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

As at 31 March 2020, bill receivables represent commercial draft of
approximately HK$Nil (2019: approximately HK$11,157,000) will be
matured within two months after the end of the reporting period. All the
bill receivables are denominated in RMB.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the years ended 31
March 2020 and 2019 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

25.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

(i)

(ii)

RETREF2FEFER  FEELATHES
BEFZEEMABR - EZBKFIALLE
T ARBRERTE-

EETEZREREZJREME  AAEE
ENEZRESGRUHNBCFEEZANIR
HEERNEEEREAHL2EMEE - F
o ANBDESRRAHE S RWFRERE
BEZHTEREEE  LESHARBHRIE
BEzEZRELEERE -

R-ZZEZZF=ZA=Z1+—-RB UBEEZR
BREZEURRBANZTBT(ZE-NF K
11,157,000/ 7T) R K EWREMERRE
HeTARWEBIGUANREE -

BE-_Z-_ZHER-_Z-NAF=A=+—HLEE
RESEBEETZRETEHBRARGEUE
RRMIFES ©

25. 8¢ FAARFERAEMERRTR

RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
= Jod - 2 5 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT
Deposits & 1,181 1,369
Prepayments FE [ FE 25,271 24,755
Other receivables (Notes (i), (ii) & (iii)) H fto & WK IE (BFEE() ~ (ii) R fiii)) 141,351 168,810
167,803 194,934

Less: allowance for expected credit losses on other W BEMERRIE c EREEEERE
receivables, net (Note (iv)) FEE (Bt (iv)) (83,374) (76,032)
84,429 118,902
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

25.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

As at 31 March 2020, included the other receivables are several significant
items as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Outstanding consideration for sale of minority interest in an associated
company

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 2 June 2015
(as supplemented and amended by two supplemental agreements
thereto dated 23 June 2017 and 28 November 2017) (the “Disposal
Agreement”) between Elife Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Sino Rich Energy Holdings Limited) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) (“Elife Investment”) and Jetgo Group Llimited (“Jetgo”), Elife
Investment agreed to dispose of 10.5% of the issued share capital of an
associated company to Jetgo at the consideration of HK$150,000,000.
The first and second instalments of the consideration of approximately
HK$75,304,000 were settled in accordance with the schedule.

In relation to the third instalment of the consideration of approximately
HK$74,696,000 due on 31 December 2018, Jetgo settled HK$200,000
in June 2018 and approximately HK$74,496,000 has remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Performance deposit due from Zhongshang Huimin (Beijing) E-Commerce
Co. ltd. (“Huimin”)

An interest-free and unsecured performance deposit of RMB50,000,000
(the “Performance Deposit”) was paid by Zhongnongxin Supply Chain
Management Company Limited (“Zhongnongxin”) (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) to Huimin pursuant to the supply
agreement dated 8 March 2017 (the “Supply Agreement”) among
Zhongnongxin, Huimin and Mr. Zhang Yichun (“Mr. Zhang”). Mr. Zhang,
a non-executive Director and a vice-chairman of the Board (resigned on
29 February 2020), provided a personal guarantee to Zhongnongxin for
the repayment of the Performance Deposit in full when due.

Pursuant to the Supply Agreement (as supplemented and amended by
two supplemental agreements thereto on 11 September 2017 and 1
March 2018 respectively), the Performance Deposit shall become due on
16 September 2018. Huimin did not repay the Performance Deposit in
full by the said due date. Since August 2018 (that is, one month before
the due date), the Group has from time to time requested repayment of
the Performance Deposit by Huimin by various means and in particular,
(a) on 20 August 2018, the Group issued a letter to Huimin requesting
for immediate repayment of the Performance Deposit; (b) on 22 August
2018 and 4 September 2018 respectively, the Group requested Huimin
to repay the Performance Deposit in full before 16 September 2018
by email; (c) on 27 September 2018, the PRC legal counsel of the
Company, issued a demand letter to Huimin and Mr. Zhang requesting
Huimin for repayment of the Performance Deposit; (d) in early November
2018, the management of the Company attended physical meetings
with representatives of Huimin to negotiate on, among other things, the
means to seftle the Performance Deposit, which is preliminarily proposed
to be either by way of loan, equity pledge or equity transfer; (e) on 10
December 2018, Huimin provided a repayment schedule in respect of
settlement of the Performance Deposit and approximately RMB2,000,000
had been received during the year ended 31 March 2019; (f) On 30
May 2019, a supplemental agreement was entered into among the
parties and it was agreed that Huimin shall to repay the remaining
balances of the Performance Deposit on or before 16 December 2019;
and (g) On 15 June 2020, a supplemental agreement was entered into
among the parties and it was agreed that Huimin shall to repay the
remaining balances of RMB27,700,000 of the Performance Deposit on
or before 31 December 2020. The said supplemental agreement contains
a clause that the Group shall have the right to demand repayment of the
outstanding sum on or before the due date.

As at 31 March 2020, the Performance Deposit of approximately
HK$33,529,000 (equivalent to RMB30,700,000) (2019: approximately
HK$56,128,000) included in other receivables. The Performance Deposit
was partially repaid of approximately RMB3,000,000 subsequently in
accordance with the repayment schedule to the year ended 31 March

2020.
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

25.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 25.%& WMEARBRAEMEKRRIT ()

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued) Mt o (#E)

(iii) Loan to Graceful Ocean International Group Holding Llimited (“Graceful fiii) [ GE R E R B R L A ([1ZEE5 ) 12
Ocean”) HRE
On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a RZZE-NEAA+T—B A2 Z22EK
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, entered into a loan BraHEEEERLAR (HE]) ERHE
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful Ocean, as borrower and MG EEBEE (FRABRER) REERE
Mr. Ma Haike as first guarantor whereby Sino Talent agreed to advance * (FERE-BRAFTLERBZ (ERH
to Graceful Ocean a term loan in the principal amount of HK$18 million E Bt FEREQZSEKRREEASE
(the “Loan”) with interest accrued at the rate of 13% per annum. The #18,000,0008 Tz EHMER ([ZEMK]) -
parties entered into five supplemental agreements to the Loan Agreement RENEIZ%AE - BRATHNHHER =1
between April 2015 and June 2018 to, 25 among other things, postpone FORE=Z—NEXANBRERBRET L
the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2019. On 24 June 2019, AR mE U (HPERE) EEZERZE
the parties and Mr. Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”), an executive director and HHEZZE-NF=ZA=+—-H -R=ZF—-H
the vice-chairman of the Board, entered into the sixth supplemental FARAZTOBE KN FEPTEERES
agreement to the Loan Agreement with the interest rate of 10% per ERIEFEsEEE ((SEE]) MERWHER L
annum, to further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March ERADERHRE  BRNETRFENZI0% X
2020. Meanwhile, as an additional security of the repayment obligations E-SPEERZERZIPRAE-_ZE-_TF=A
of the borrower under the Loan Agreement (as supplemented by the six =t—R - B FREEFBTERERDB
supplemental agreements), Mr. Gao, entered into a second guarantee B(EANDHEAGRAER) TZEREETZHE
contract (“Mr. Gao’s Second Guarantee”) with Sino Talent and Graceful MER  SELEENEREEEKRITLE-E
Ocean whereby Mr. Gao agreed to act as the second guarantor and in REHNTBEEREZEZERD Bt S%4E
the event and only when Mr. Ma failed to or refused to fulfill its guarantee BEEEEERA TE(BEREE)ELE
obligations as the first guarantor, guarantee the due performance of BEFEBBTEFERAE - ERAZEREMR
Graceful Ocean in respect of its repayment obligations under the Loan ZBERT  ERESERZEBTERERG
Agreement (as supplemented by the six supplemental agreements). On 12 BRADEZBRIER) TZEREE - R
June 2020, the Seventh supplemental agreement entered into the parties ZEZZEARATZBR BITNAFITLELNH
to further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to 31 March 2021. Wrahz UE—STEEZERZIBRE=

Z--F=ZRA=+—-H-
As at 31 March 2020, the total outstanding amount of the Loan and the REZZBEZEHFZA=Z+—-H ZERZKREE
interest accrued thereon was approximately HK$25,598,000 (2019: SHERZRNAEE 425,598,000/ T (=
approximately HK$23,686,000) and included in other receivables. The Z—NF 423,686,000 7T) T35t A H At FE
loan interest was repaid of approximately HK$327,000 subsequently to BRIE - RBEZZ-Z2F=A=+—-HLF
year ended 31 March 2020. E#CEEN327,0008 TERAE -

(iv) In respect of the sales consideration in Note (i), on 28 November (iv) BME()FRZEERENS  AEE (BT
2018, 2 January 2019 and 25 April 2019, the Group [either by itself REBHEEEB EEEN - -NF+—
or through its legal advisers) issued demand letters to Jetgo while the A=ZtNB -ZZ-hF—-B=ZBR=-Z—-H
management of both parties continued to discuss the means to settle FRHA-+HEHMESHELERERHMYG  H
the outstanding amount. The Company sought legal advices from two RESTEERTTEHMZEREERRZEN
separate Hong Kong law firms on the viability and pros and cons of BRERIE - ADFAEHRESKRBMRBLEE
taking legal action against Jetgo on its failure to make the repayment HEFEHER —SmOERBERTH 2T
in accordance with the Disposal Agreement. The Company will further HRAE . 2R EMEBMREMITEREESR
instruct professionals to assess the assets and financial conditions of the ReARPA#E—SIETREHEEALTEE
Vendor, its associated companies and the sole shareholder of the Vendor FEBERRAREAZE-—RRNEBRE
in Hong Kong and elsewhere and will then decide whether or not to take i 2 EERMBMR - RAEFRERLEE
legal action against the Vendor or explore other options including but not HESRIEZETHERERTEMLE - 8
limited to disposal of the outstanding amount. FEFRREEZEREENR -

Due to the expected possibility of repayment from Jetgo in short period ARESTHEPNER—ENER 2 TR EER
of time is very low and assessed its expected credit losses ("ECL") HENEERRE (AHEFEERD KBIYSE
is very high by an independent firm of professional valuers, after EGEMTIEAES  HESSTLHAAZE
thorough consideration, the Board decided to make an allowance for # O OREHEBEEYWHIRELEREESER
expected credit losses on the respective receivables, i.e. approximately B RBEZZ-AFZAZ+-HLFEYN
HK$74,496,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019. £74,496,0008 7T °

Regarding the Performance deposits in Note (i) and loan balance in Note B8 A B S (i) BT 2 2 7B A9 4R RE & I B S (i) BT 2t
(iii), the ECLs are relatively low as supported by the repayment schedules ZEREH ERCHFERBBERRBEALE
and the personal guarantees, the provision allowance for expected R ARZEHEEBEEERE R=22=
credit losses on other receivables are approximately HK$688,000 and ZE=ZR=+-—HREMERREFELEZE
HK$5,015,000 respectively as at 31 March 2020 (2019:HK$931,000 HEEEERBETRI BN A ARY688,000
and HK$547,000 respectively). Tt K5,0150008 T (ZE—HLE: 25 H

931,000% 7t % 547,000% 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZTF=-A=+—AILFE

25.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 25. 85 HAARBEREMBEHRRTR (K)

RECEIVABLES (continued)
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables for the years ended
31 March 2020 and 2019 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated

financial statements.

HE-_Z-_ZFR-ZF-NF=ZA=1+—HLHTF
ERHMAERFEET2REFGEHEBERES

B RS ERARMIEES o

26.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26.5l&RB&FEEA
At the end of the reporting period, cash and cash equivalents were NBEMR BERBESZEEENUTHEX
denominated in the following currencies: EE
2020 2019
-t 55 =E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
RMB AR 9,604 15,897
HK$ BT 5,348 3,124
us$ ES 1,249 362
16,201 19,383
The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB out of DAREEE-RENBESSEEREEHRIRHSA
the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by BrPEBERERZINESH -
the government of the PRC.
Cash and cash equivalents carry interest at market rates which range from REeRBESEBEARDMBANEFE N FEF
1% to 2% per annum. 1%ZE2% °
27.TRADE PAYABLES 27. B5EAREA

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on the

UTARBERRREBRRAMERRONTZE

invoice date at the end of the reporting period. S EAFIE .
2020 2019
ot et 225 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
0 to 30 days 0%30H 1,040 4,971
31 to 60 days 31HZE60H - 2,587
61 to 90 days 61HEQ90H - -
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H - -
Over 180 days ##iB180H 10 -
1,050 7,558

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 90 days. The

Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all

payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

BEETERZFPHEEHRO0R - AREEE
ECUBRBEERER  URKMEERCRER

FERBERAZN -

Annual Report 2020 ¥ - ELIFE HOLDINGS LIMITED % 2 i £ J§ 47 it 24 #




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE
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28. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. RAtAREHMEMARE

147

2020 2019
- Jo - .5 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET FHET
Accrued liabilities ZitaE 11,482 10,622
Deposit received glize 49 55
Other payables Hib S E 15,370 22,066
26,901 32,743

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. 8RR
2020 2019
k. o —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHT FHET
Contract liabilities (Note) EREE(HE) 1,186 1,374

Reconciliation of contract liabilities for the years ended 31 March 2020

and 2019:
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2018 R-ZZE—-NFWMBE—A -
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 15 BREREBMBERELEA
ERNY a2 1,007
Restated balance at 1 April 2018 R-ZZE-NFOA—-HZ
REY &8k 1,007
Receipts in advance from customers during the year FERBUREFRE 42,286
Revenue recognised from performance obligations MBEFEERZENER
satisfied in prior year ‘R WK (1,007)
Revenue recognised upon the product sales during the FREHERBBR ZWEH
year (40,912)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZEBE-NWF=ZA=+—-HK
—E-AFMA-R 1,374
Receipts in advance from customers during the year FRBEWREFRIE 37,686
Revenue recognised during the year that was included FAEHNENEEBZ
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year FRERZWE (1,374)
Revenue recognised upon the product sales during the FREHEREBER 2 W
year (36,500)
At 31 March 2020 R-E_EF=A=+—H 1,186

Note:

Contract liabilities in relation to sales of finished goods are expected to be
settled within one year. The revenue is recognised upon the performance

obligation had been performed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

30. OTHER BORROWINGS 30. H ft i &
2020 2019
- o= -2 5 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Carrying amount repayable within one year: AR—FREEZER ZKREE :
Secured loan BHEAERN - 23,353

On 8 March 2019, one of the subsidiary of the Company entered into a
loan agreement with an independent third party (“Lender”) for borrowing
of a loan in the principal amount of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,353,000) for a term of 2 months from the date of
drawing down with interest rate was 8.0% per annum.

On 26 April 2019, the Company, the subsidiary of the Company and the
Lender entered into the loan capitalisation agreement (“Loan Capitalisation
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Lender conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue,
an aggregate of 125,008,842 Loan Capitalisation Shares, at the Loan
Capitalisation subscription price of HK$0.188 each. The subscription
amount payable by the Lender under the Loan Capitalisation Agreement
shall be satisfied by capitalising the outstanding principal amount of the
loan and the interest accrued thereon under the loan agreement. The
completion of Loan Capitalization completion took place on 10 May
2019.

For the details of other borrowings and Loan Capitalisation, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 26 April 2019 and 10 May

2019 respectively.

REZZB-NF=ZANR XA HEHF—-EHWEQ
BAE-EBYE=F (ERADTLERDGE
LULE AR £ 3R ARY20,000,0007T (FHERK
23,353,000 ) 2cEXK  BEERBARNZA
EETREI2MEA - WIRFRIEG%TE ©

RZZB-AFONAZ+XB A2F -AQH
ZHBAREERATYERERLHRE (&
RERHED HBE - Bl ERAFRER
ERBE MALXAERERERBERBTEH
125,008 842REREARLRH  ERMEARLR
BEAER0.188BTT - EMARBERESNLH
BREVNZABIEAZBEAEREENAEHER
HERFARNEERMEZARAXN - ERERLE
REZEB-NFHEA+HEERK -

EREMEERERERLZFHE  FEHEEQ
FAME-Z-AFNA=-+RBR=-Z—-HE
ER+BZ A
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e M BRRMHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

31.BANK BORROWINGS S1.BITHE
2020 2019
- Jok- 3. 2 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Secured fixed rate bank borrowings BEERABEFNERRTEE - 329
2020 2019
- Jok- 3. 2 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Scheduled payment terms of bank loan contain STEREEREBRKARZERITER
a repayment on demand clause (shown under (PIAFBER) 2EREH
current liabilities):
Within one year —F R - 329
Notes: G
i) One of the customer of the Group provided the deposits to bank to secure i ARER T - ERFORTRARDAERR

the banking facilities. TREZER-

i) AKRERERTEEZRAERANEUARE

i)  The carrying amount of the Group’s bank borrowings are all originally

denominated in RMB. FHE
32.LEASE LIABILITIES 32. H5 AR
The Group's lease liabilities arise from the leasing of office premises and rEE-HEAEELAHABTERAE A
motor vehicles with a fixed lease term from 2 to 5 years. The weighted RENZEEHBN F2EF - REERAZM
average incremental borrowing rates applied by the Group range from BFIPBERERN RS 85%E12.47% - REE
1.85% to 12.47%. Obligation under finance lease under HKAS17 were BEFEANFEI7RARCREVEREIR -
reclassified to lease liabilities on 1 April 2019 upon the adoption of —hFNA-AERMAEBUBERELELEI6HE
HKFRS 16 (Note 2). EFPEZHESRE (ME2) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

32.LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 32. G AR (#E)
The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows: FEBETFEECHESBWT :

As at 31 March 2020
W-E_ZEF=A=+—H

Present
value of the Total
minimum minimum
lease lease
payments payments
REHES mEHSE
fTRZBRE TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHT FTHERT
Within 1 year 1R 1,728 1,815
Over 1 year, less than 2 years 1E#BE2FR 1,027 1,059
Over 2 years, less than 5 years 2F#B5FR 264 268
Over 5 years 5F# - -
3,019 3,142
Less: total future interest expenses B ORRRE R AR (123)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaExRE 3,019
Analysis for reporting purpose as: MEE BRI
Current liabilities REEE 1,728
Non-current liabilities FRBEEF 1,291
3,019
The Group’s leases in respect of HK$3,718,000 are secured by the £%853,718,0008B T 2 AEBEBEHNURBEAZ
lessor’s title to the leased assets. The Group’s lease liabilities are HEEEXREEET AEFHEEEUETR
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB, being the functional ARBIE  MEEEEER 2IHEEY -
currency of the relevant group entity.
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective AEBRALETERIEREREREBMBER
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to HEREI6W  UTHABR-Z-—IFNA—ABZ
recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously HAsEes  UEREEFRIESBSTERE7
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Comparative information FOBEAKREHNZHNEEZHEEE 1 E
as at 31 March 2019 has not been restated. Further details on the impact H_E-NEF=ZA=+-—HZUREREF - B
of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 2. HREEREMBEREENE 16T B2 E—

HHBERME2 -
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33.OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 33.MFAEERIE

151

As at 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under

finance lease their present value were as follows:

REZZB-NF=ZA=+—H0 BMEBELTZRRE
BREEENREEZRENT :

2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
FHET
Total minimum lease payments BREEENRERE
— Due within one year - —FRIH 1,059
— Due in the second to fifth years, inclusive —E-_ZERF(BREEREME) B 2,386
3,445
Less: future finance charges on finance lease & : BMERN 2 KA RBMEE H (215)
Present value of lease obligations HEREZBE 3,230
2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
FERT
Present value of finance lease liabilities MEHEAEZRE
— Due within one year — —F R E H 950
- Due in the second to fifth years, inclusive —-F£-_ZFHF (BEHEEME) 2 H 2,280
3,230
Less: current portion due within one year W ARBDEEMR —FREH SIS
included under current liabilities (950)
Non-current portion included under non- FAFERBEB IS
current liabilities 2,280

The Group has leased the motor vehicles under finance leases and the lease
term are in the range from 4 to 5 years. During the year ended 31 March
2019, the annual effective interest rates of the obligations under finance lease
was 1.85% to 2.2% per annum. The obligations under finance leases are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and its carrying amount approximate its
fair value. The Group’s obligations under finance lease are secured by the
lessors’ title to the leased assets of the Group.

As at 31 March 2019, the finance lease payables of the Group were
secured by the lessor’ charge over the leased assets with carrying amount of
approximately HK$4,203,000 (Note 16).

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and reclassified the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to
the lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified
as obligations under finance leases under HKAS 17. Comparative
information as at 31 March 2019 has not been restated. Further details on
the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 2.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE
34. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Current liabilities
Amount due to Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”)

- interest-bearing (Nofe (i) — 5B (KE()
— interest free (Notes (ii) & (iii)) — R B (W (i) & (i)

Amount due to Zhang Xiaobin (“Mr. Zhang”) (Note (iii)) BT R BEM ([ 3R 54 1) FRIE (M a2 iii))
Amount due to Chiu Sui Keung (“Mr. Chiu”) (Note (iii) FEAT#E¥m 8 ([ #8654 1) FRIE (M a2 iii))

mERE

ENEE(SEE]) KA

34. FEfTBRRIE
2020 2019
—e-eF —E-hE
HK$/000 HK$'000
FHR Fi
212 1,160
27,044 604
4,479 2,339
225 -
31,960 4,103

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

On 4 February 2019, the Company signed a shareholder’s loan facility
agreement of HK$5,000,000 with Mr. Gao, a director of the Company,
is unsecured, bearing interest at a prime rate plus 1% (i.e. 6.125%) per
annum and due on 3 February 2020. The shareholder’s loan was fully
repaid subsequently.

The amounts of approximately HK$15,000,000 was part of the proceeds
of share subscription from Mr. Gao which will be completed within one
year.

The amounts due to shareholders are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand. As at 31 March 2020, including
the amounts due to Mr. Gao, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Chiu, who are
also directors of the Company, with approximately HK$11,475,000,
HK$2,295,000 and HK$225,000 respectively which are under current
liabilities and non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest free and repayable
with fixed term of three years. The amount will be mature within one year.

The amounts due to shareholders with aggregated amount approximately
HK$Nil (2019: approximately HK$14,555,000) under non-current
liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable with fixed term of
three years.

EE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

REZZB-AFZANH  RAREALQTES
= S EFFT £ 55,000,000 T2 RRE R
EE FERRERRAEERR REEEF
1% (B16.125%) st ERR=—ZB=FF=A
RIS -RREFERZCEHEE -

#15,000,0008 tHIBH BB LERBRD
FEzBaRE  AERDRBEN-—FAR
B o

EABRRAEBHEISUE HAEER 2
ERARERERZ R-ZT-EF=A=+-
H BAEAQAESSRE - REERBEEE
ZRIEDRI#11,475,000/% T ~ 2,295,000
BT R225,0008 TG ARBEBET RAHE
REME  BREER  RERAR=FEE
HAEER - ZRESR—FREE -

RIRBEBTZENRRUELENTE
T (ZE—NEF 1 §14,555,000/8 T) HEIE
B RERER=FETHAEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE
35. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 35. BRI RTA

The amounts due to non-controlling interests are non-trade in nature, BN EEREZREBIRIZHEE HAEK
unsecured, interest-free and repayable with fixed term of three years. B RERENR=ZFETHRERE -
36.SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 36. X NFIRF
Number of shares Amount
Bip®E &8
2020 2019 2020 2019
. o 3 —E-RF ot Jon- 33 —E-NE
‘000 '000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TH Tk Tt TR
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each BREE0.02E
(Note {i)) ZEBR (W)
At the beginning of the year REH 15,000,000 30,000,000 300,000 300,000
Share consolidation (Note (i) B &0k (Ba2)) - (15,000,000) - -
At the end of the year REH 15,000,000 15,000,000 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAR:
At beginning of the year REND 2,787,767 5,192,160 55,755 51,922
Subscription of shares (Notes (ii] & fiiil] — SRBEBAD (B2(ii) & fi77)) 53,191 383,375 1,064 3,833
Share consolidation (Note (i)) BA> & B (A7) - (2,787,768) - -
Issuance of shares for loan capitalisation  Ft & HE &L E TR A
[Note (iv)) (Hrt(iv) 125,009 - 2,500 -
At the end of the year REH 2,965,967 2,787,767 59,319 55,755
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE

36.SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY (continued) 36. X TR F (])

Notes: Mia -

() On 14 November 2018, the Company proposes to implement the share (i) RZE-NE+-A+MA RXAAEZEET
consolidation on the basis that every two issued and unissued existing BRBe6 BEEABEMREBITRAEITR
shares to be consolidated into one consolidated share. In addition, the ERNEHA—REHRD U BEFEE
board lot size of 2,000 existing shares will be proposed to consolidated BUAAZEHEB2,000RBE RGBS H 520,000
to 20,000 consolidated shares. The par value is changed from HK$0.01 REGRD - HEHSRO.0IBLIEXNRER
per each to HK$0.02 per share. The extraordinary general meeting was 0.02 8t - FERZECN=-E—hE—HAtH
approved on 7 January 2019. ZRRERARE L EEHE -

(i) The Company was successfully subscribed 150,625,000 shares, i) XAAR=ZZE-NFEHEA+-—-BB - =%
156,250,000 shares and 76,500,000 shares at HK$0.01 each on - NERZA=+—-BE=ZZE—-—NE XA
11 May 2018, 31 May 2018 and 29 June 2018 respectively at a ZTThBERDERBEEER0.128E T D 5
subscription price of HK$0.128 per share for a total consideration, REB150,625,0008 ~ 156,250,000 &
before expenses, of approximately HK$49,072,000. The proceeds 76,500,000 R EEC.01E T 2R % - 42
were used for general working capital of the Group and development of RAE (MNBRBAX AT K 549,072,000 T - F
the Group’s daily consumer goods trading and esmart digital services BAASRERBEREE -—REEESURE
business. RASEHEEEME S R EEIEREET -

(iii) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company was successfully lii) RBZ-_Z-_ZF=A=+—HLFE &
subscribed 53,191,000 Shares at HK$0.02 each on 16 January 2020 AR ZE_ZEF-—A+BRDWEREE
at a subscription price of HK$0.188 per share for a total consideration, F1R0.1888 T ES3,191,000R F R EE
before expenses of approximately HK$10,000,000. The proceeds were 0.02B Tz RH - #BNRE (NBREXA) NAE
used for the Group’s daily operations and the funding for developing the 10,000,000 T - EEAMBRERRAER
daily consumer goods trading business of the Group. HEEERABRREASEAEHEREZEY

RBYHES -

(iv) On 8 March 2019, Huimin International (HK) Limited (“Huimin Int'l”), a (ivy RZZE-hE=Z=ANB KRR ZZEMEB
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Mr. Wang Haoyu (“Mr. ARERER (B8 BERLR (EREK]
Wang") entered into a loan agreement whereby Mr. Wang provided HEEFEE(EIEENDTLERBZE B
Huimin Int'l with a loan in the principal amount of RMB20,000,000. I TREDNBEREBREREISEAARE
The loan bears interest at a rate of 8% per annum and would be due 20,000,000t 2 ER - EREERRE%TE
on the 60 days from the drawdown date of the loan. On 26 April RENRERRMALTECOR B BEA - 1
2019, the Company, Huimin Int'l and Mr. Wang entered into the loan ZE-NENMAZ+ KA AAT EREK
capitalisation agreement (“Loan Capitalisation Agreement”) pursuant to HEILETLERER LR (BRER LT
which Mr. Wang conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company D B IEEERHEERE mMAAQ
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, an aggregate of 125,008,842 AT ERGEEEEKRETEH125008,842
loan capitalisation shares, at the loan capitalisation subscription price of BEREXLLERD  EREXNABELER
HK$0.188 each. The subscription amount payable by Mr. Wang under 0.188B T - EEERBERERLIGEREN
the Loan Capitalisation Agreement was satisfied by capitalizing the ZRABREBEZBEAEEERLASERIER
outstanding principal amount of the loan and the interest accrued. The EHFNEER b zARIM - BEZERER
Loan Capitalisation took place on 10 May 2019. CtER=ZZE-—NEEATHEEET-
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37.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of Financial Position

37. FRFIZHBRARR &R

(a) BEBRAR

2020 2019
ot~ Jo- 3 3 —E-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt &£ THET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries KB R E 2 33,242 86,513
Property, plant and equipment WE - BERERE 2,540 2,963
Right-of-use assets ERAREE 311 -
36,093 89,476
Current assets mENRE
Deposits, prepayments and B EANRER
other receivables H At FEUR SR IE 1,233 1,422
Cash and cash equivalents RERBELZEER 4,377 2,381
5,610 3,803
Less: Current liabilities W REAR
Accrued liabilities and 2B BEREMENTIE
other payables 12,874 12,615
Lease liabilities HEEE 403 -
Amount due to a shareholder FET R R T IE 15,212 1,160
28,489 13,775
Net current liabilities mENARBEH (22,879) (9,972)
Total assets less current BERERTDAR
liabilities 13,214 79,504
Net assets HEBE 13,214 79,504
Capital and reserves BER R
Share capital B’ 36 59,319 55,755
Reserves w8 37(b) (46,105) 23,749
Total equity L k=108 13,214 79,504

REZE-ZZEFRA-TAABRESEHE

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29
REEHE  YRTHATRARESE:

June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Xiaobin Gao Feng
R -1
Director Director

EE EE
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HBE-Z-TF=A=+—AItFE

37.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 7. F LT cMBR AR 68 (1)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(b) Reserves (b) & fi
The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows: AABBEZHMASLBOT ¢
Shares held
Share for share Share
premium  Contributed Accumulated award options
account surplus losses scheme reserve Total
B R aE fRk
RIVRRE BARER RitEHE iR n 1] #a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#n TR TiEn TER TiEn Ti#n
[Note i)) [Note {ii)) [Note {iii))
(HEf)) (K i) (Hiazfii)
At 31 March 2018 R=ZE-N\F=B=t-A 236,255 7,076 (116,453) (4,986) 67,307 189,199
Loss for the year rEEEE - - (210,676) - - (210,676)
Share options lapsed BRI - - 7,636 - (7,636) -
Subscription of shares RBRY (Hi36)
[Note 36) 45,239 - - - - 45,239
Share issuing expenses GELE (13) - - - - (13)

At 31 March 2019 and RZE-AE=A=1-H

1 April 2019 R-E-AEMA-A 281,481 7076 (319,493) 14,98¢) 59,671 23,749
Loss for the year AEEFR - - (100,555) - - (100,555)
Equity-seftled share-based  SUEGEE I URH X A

payment ZHE - - - - 763 763
Share options lapsed BREXY - - 9,008 - (9,008) -
Subscription of shares BIERAEBERERG 8,936 - - - - 8,936
Issurance of shares for loan  FLEREALETRA

capitalisation (H1E230K36)

[Notes 30 and 36) 21,002 - - - - 21,002
At 31 March 2020  R-E-BE=B=+—H 311,419 7076  (411,040) (4,986) 51,426 (46,105)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HIIEE
37.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Reserves (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and the capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted
and issued nil paid. Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances. Details of distributable reserve are set out in page
57 of the consolidated financial statements.

Shares held for share award scheme

The shares held for share award scheme is the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs for purchase
of shares under the Share Award Scheme, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 3(p).

Share options reserve

The share options reserve relates to share options granted to
employees under the employee share option scheme. Further
information about share-based payments to employees is set out in
Note 38.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Company did not have
reserves available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands to members. No final dividend has been
proposed out of such reserves for the year (2019: Nil).
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(b) f il (#8)
Mz

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

A Bk
AAFZBABHRIEREREEZ_2EZ
CE-ZA=t+-BLEERETZER
BAMBACHBARARDZAFE
SHEERBRINZEWBATRMMET
ZAATRMEEZZERERNLATER
2% % 247 230,000,00088 5 #4 IR £ IR
B RBEFEHELNAE (ZTT—FF
ZRIERTIR) - AQ TR EE TRERUE
ABBRERAZREORRELDIK - &
AR AR IREBEZFBRREETH
HAES7H -

B4 SR Bt B PR IR 1

RIEM S (p) Tl 2 EFTHER - RIDRE
STEIFFFRD A2 KE  BER
BRORBFIBERD 2 EMEERE
IEIBERA

BREE

BREFRBEREESERENART
BEZBREER ERHESFLZ
RO ZE - S ERBRHIFESS o

A D IREE
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B AQARWERBHEFEATE(Z
ZE=EBR) TEZ2ARER S DR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE-T-TE=A=1—-HIFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 38. LI ZRIR

Share Options Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any directors and employees of the
Company, including all executive directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 8 October 2010 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date. On 17 August 2017, the Company passed an ordinary
resolution by the shareholders at the annual general meeting to amend
certain provisions of the share option scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share option in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors.

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the
share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer, provided that the subscription
price shall not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.

R Bzt B

RRBRE-EBEREFTS (TZE))  #EUE
HAEEMEBINEHEM 2 SERSEERT
HERRER - ZAEZEERSEERER
DNAEFNESRES (BEAQREAREWBELQA
ZIBEHTES) - ZFAER=_Z-ZFF+AN
BEBAER  BRIFUHME XNBUERIEFT %=1 8
TRzt EEZB R T EARBER -R=F
—tFENATLRE AREARRRRREFAS
LEB-EHEBRER  WETBREFHET
R 3L o

MR R2 at B TR IS I B 1% 0 i) AR AT 168 2 B AR A A
BRO2EeRNVBBEEASRBRETERAQF
REMBSEE #HTRD Z10% - ZTEEEERK
SEEMEMI12EA BEREBRETERTZ
BEeROHE UARQXAEAHEDHTRODZ1%
AR LE-STREBELRBBRE  HA
RIRRRE EERRALAE -

REARARAES  TETRAESRTERRRREK
E2EMHBAIRLBRE KASENES
SIEBATESRE o BLHh  LAMEMI1218 B B
AERRAHEEMAMBEBARN ZEERRIB L
FHUTESREFMBRE  MERBFEAR
DEAEMEBERTRG 20.1%HEBE (RIER
HBEHMADBRD 2 ERFE) BB5,000,000
BT BEABERBRRAELESRRAE -

REBRECEZRTRREHEZZAHET28BR
B ARAAXINEH BRI 2EBARE-
FEREREZ2ITEHHESEE -

BRECTRERESETE  ERSERED
ARDNBREZZRHEBS (VAREXHE)E
BT 2 W E  R(i)ARARDAEEREE
BOMAEERZ B EBR A2 FORTERE
TReE MRBEFSENROEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 38. LIt ZRRIA (&)
Share Options Scheme (continued) MERR AT B (48)
The fair value of share options granted to any directors, employees and other BFENES - EERHEMALTZBREZAFE
parties is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in RA—ERENA  MERRZENRBESIHEE
a share option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date B ZATEDIREE AHETREBRIEERH
using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, taking into account the B RS REt R U EGEREEEERTE -
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at BRESEABERERERERRAS ERE
shareholders’ meetings.
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2020 are as BE-_Z_ZF=ZR=1+-HLFEBRESZH
follows: mE
Adjusted
exercisable
Exercisable price per share
Exercisable rice atter share Oulslundinq Granted Exercised Lapsed  Reclassified 0ulslundinﬂ
Category of Date of grant period  per share  consolidation at 1 Apri during during during during  at 31 Marc
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) HK HK$ 2019 the year the year the year the year
RO&HELZ
) ) EREWAHE RIZ-NE R-B-E2E
i dn]=E ] 168  BROER BRER mA-A ) ZA=+-8
BHEEN (WiEb)  (Wi(a) &n #T RRTHE FhREH FRTE FREN  ERENRE ARTE
Directors
g%
Mr. Zhang Xiaobin 16 December 2016 Penod 3 0.285 057 22,500,000 - - - - 22,500,000
ik SR-REICAIAR BeH
21 Janvory 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A - 3,625,000 3,625,000
ZRCEE-BI1-H £18 TER
22,500,000 3,625,000 - - - 26,125,000
Mr. Gao Feng 22 Se| ember 20]5 Period | 0.17 0.34 8,000,000 - - - - 8,000,000
Zuit ~3-51f 5y
16 December 20]6 Perlod 3 0.285 057 22,500,000 - - - - 22,500,000
ZE-RETZATAA £=H
21 Jonuury 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A - 3,625,000 - - - 3,625,000
ZRZRE-341-4 218 TER
30,500,000 3,625,000 - - - 34,125,000
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 22 September 2015 Period 1 0.17 0.34 8,000,000 - - - - 8,000,000
ERRLE ZE-RENATZA -4
16 December 20]6 Period 3 0.285 0.57 22,500,000 - - - - 22,500,000
ZE-RETZATRA 228
21 Jonuary 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A - 3,625,000 - - - 3,625,000
ZRCEE-BI1-H £1H TER
30,500,000 3,625,000 - - - 34,125,000
Mr. Sun Qiang 27 June 20]7 Period 4 0.21 042 24,460,000 - - - - 24,460,000
21 Jonuury 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A - 362,500 - - - 362,500
I £18 TER
24,460,000 362,500 - - - 24,822,500
Mr. Zhang Yichun 20 October 2016 Period 2 03 06 15,000,000 - - - - 15,000,000
[Resigned on 29
February 2020)
;i “E-AFTAZTR Eut-

-5
(=§=%5=4
ZFhRRE)

16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 7,500,000 - - - - 7,500,000
SE-AEt-ATAR  EcH

22,500,000 - - - - 22,500,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 38. LIt ZRRIA (&)
Share Options Scheme (continued) RERR MRt E (4E)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2020 are as BHE_T_ZF=-RA=1+—HIEFEBEREEZH
follows: (continued) wmT ()
Adjusted
exercisable
Exercisable price per share
Exercisable rice atter share Oulslandinq Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Reclassified Oulslundinﬂ
Category of Date of grant period  per share  consolidation at 1 Agrl during during during during ot 31 Marc
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) HK$ ﬂmw?al(zs 2019 the year the year the year the year 202
) ) BREAGE  HoS-AE Hg-es
idn]=E] 8 SRAERE BRES mA-A ) ZRz+-
BHEEN (Wi(b)  (Wik{a)) &n #T ARTE FhEH AT FREN  FRENAR ﬁiﬁﬁ
Ms. Xu Yin 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 22,500,000 - - - [22,500,000) -
[Resigned on
1 March 2020)
pEnt ZB-RETZATAH 228
(H-8-FF
Zh-AER)
22,500,000 - - - (22,500,000] -
Mr Cheng Wing Keung, 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
mon
ﬁﬂéﬁ Z-RETZATAA #=H
21 January 2020 Penod b 0.11 N/A - 362,500 - - - 362,500
ZRIRE-84-4 218 T8R
1,000,000 362,500 - - - 1,362,500
Mr, Lam Williamson 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
Y “E-RETZATRA £ZH
21 Janvary 2020 Period 5 0.1 N/A - 362,500 - - - 362,500
ZRIRE-A4-0 18 TER
1,000,000 362,500 - - - 1,362,500
Mr. Won%Hoi Kuen 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
ESEL ZE-RETZATAE F=H
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A - 362,500 - - - 362,500
ZECEE-B1-H EFitd TER
1,000,000 362,500 - - - 1,362,500
Dr. Lam lee G. 20‘October 2016 Period 2 0.3 0.6 1,181,000 - - - - 1,181,000
HEEEL Z2-RETACTE 28
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.570 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
Z-RETZATRA 228
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A - 362,500 - - - 362,500
ZRIRE-A4-4 £18 T8R
2,181,000 362,500 - - - 2.543,500
Sub-tjot%I 158,141,000 12,687,500 - - (22,500,000] 148,328,500
Employees of the Group
+4TRA
In aggregate 22 September 2015 Period | 0.17 0.34 25,500,000 - - - - 25,500,000
& ZE-REAAZTZR -4
20 October 20]6 Period 2 0.3 0.6 19,500,000 - - (10,000,000) - 9,500,000
“E2-RE+AZ1H ]
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.570 14,516,000 - - - - 14,516,000
ZE-AETZATRA EE
21 January 2020 Period 5 0.11 N/A - 10,125,000 - - - 10,125,000
ZRIRE-A4-4 ik TER
Sub-tJotgrl 59,516,000 10,125,000 - (10,000,000) - 59,641,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 38. LIt ZFRIA (&)
Share Options Scheme (continued) E&E“I-EI] (#8&)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2020 are as BE-Z_ZTF=-A=1+-HLEEBEREEZH
follows: (continued) mT ()
Adjusted
exercisable
Exercisable price per share
Exercisable rice atter share Oulslandinq Granted Exercised lapsed  Reclassified Oulslundinﬂ
Category of Date of grant period  per share  consolidation at 1 Apri during during during during ot 31 Marc
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) HK$ ﬂﬁﬁ‘ﬁl‘g(zs 26’19 the year the year the year the year
) ) SHETGE  RoS-AE Hg-es
EHom 8 SROERE BRER mA-A ) ZR=+-
BHERN (WiEb)  (Wi{a) kb #T BRTE FhEH R FREN  FRENSR ﬁ*ﬁﬁ
Others
#ft
In aggregate 22 September 2015 Perlod | 0.17 0.34 18,800,000 - - (18,800,000) - -
mrﬁ :g_i nﬂ:-l-:a %_ ﬂ
20 October 2016 Period 2 03 0.6 12,500,000 - - {12,500,000) - -
ZE-RETACTH 28
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 - - - - 22,500,000 22,500,000
ZE-RETZATRE Ry TER
27 June 2017 Period 4 0.21 042 24,460,000 - - - - 24,460,000
ZE-tERACTER £
21 January 2020 Period ) 0.1 N/A - 6,737,500 - - - 6,737,500
I E5id TER
Sub-tjot%l 55,760,000 6,737,500 - (31,300,000 22,500,000 53,697,500
T%I# 273,417,000 29,550,000 - (41,300,000) - 261,667,000
Weighted average 04977 01 - 0.4816 0.432
ﬁ)lt(eri::ﬁ przeg(m
ofe
W)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 38. LIBRp Xtz wRIE (18)
Share Options Scheme (continued) BBREiEsE (4E)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2019 are as follows: BE-ZE-hE=RA=+—HLEEBREZEHN
T
Adjusted
exercisable Adjusted
price rer share affer share
ter share consolidation
Exercisable Exercisable  consolidation on7 Junuurz
Date of grunt period  price per share HKS  Outstandin 201 OutsIunding at
Category of /M:Ieé ﬁ (Note % HKS  BhaHEER o Apnl 201 Granted Exercised  Llopsed during ~ R-Z-A% 31 March 2019
Participants o0 fi BREE BUTHESRER  R_S-\E duringtheyear during the year theyear  -ALAE KZE-LEZR
SHERN (k) (Kitfe)) & &1 WME-RAXGE EhRM ERfifE ﬁﬁ*ﬂ BhaRaiE =t-RRKGE
Directors
]
Mr. Zhun%Xioobin 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 45,000,000 - - - (22,500,000] 22,500,000
REWE ZE-RETZATAR 528
Mr. Goo feng 22 September 2015 Period | 0.17 0.34 16,000,000 - - - (8,000,000] 8,000,000
BHE “E-BEARZTCA £-3
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 45,000,000 - - - (22,500,000] 22,500,000
“B-RETZATAA %28
61,000,000 - - - (30,500,000] 30,500,000
Mr. Chiv Sui Keung 22 September 2015 Period | 0.17 0.34 16,000,000 - - - (8,000,000] 8,000,000
Ebass 35018 128 s
16 December 20]6 Period 3 0.285 0.57 45,000,000 - - - (22,500,000] 22,500,000
“E-RETZRTAA EEL]
61,000,000 - - - (30,500,000] 30,500,000
Mr. Sun Qiang 27 June 2017 Period 4 0.21 042 48,920,000 - - - (24,460,000] 24,460,000
Ay E-tERBITEA EJUE
Mr. Zhun%Y\'chun 20 October 2016 Period 2 03 04 30,000,000 - - - (15,000,000) 15,000,000
E-5% “E-AETATH £8
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 15,000,000 - - - {7,500,000] 7,500,000
“E-RETZATAA %25
45,000,000 - - - (22,500,000) 22,500,000
Mr. Shao Zil 22 September 2015 Period | 0.17 N/A 36,000,000 - - (36,000,000 - -
Pinik ZE-REAACTCA -8 TEf
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 N/A 24,000,000 - - [24,000,000) - -
“E-RETIATAR £=5 TER
60,000,000 - - (60,000,000) - -
Ms. Xu Ying 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 45,000,000 - - - (22,500,000) 22,500,000
#Ent “E-RETZRTAR =8
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 2,000,000 - - - [1,000,000] 1,000,000
Raymond ZE-RETZATAR #28
L Y
Mr. Lom Williamson 16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 057 2,000,000 - - - (1,000,000 1,000,000
H2gLs “E-RETZATAR %8
M W_on%Ho'\ Kuen 16 December 016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 2,000,000 - - - (1,000,000] 1,000,000
ERER “E-RETZRTAR %28
Dr. lom lee G. ZO‘October 2016 Period 2 0.3 0.6 2,362,000 - - - [1,181,000] 1,181,000
Ehe “E-7ETAZTH 28
16 December 2016 Period 3 (.25 0.57 2,000,000 - - - (1,000,000] 1,000,000
“E-RETZRTAR £28
4,362,000 - - - (2,181,000] 2,181,000

Subfolol 376,262,000 - (60,000,000 (158,141,000 138,141,000

I\ i'l'
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ=ZZ-ZF=A=+—HItFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 8. LI Tz ®RIA (48)
Share Options Scheme (continued) RERR MRt B (4E)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2019 are as BE-_ZE-hE=ZA=+—HLEEEREZS
follows: (continued) wmT ()
Adjusted
exercisable Adjusted
price rer share affer share
atter share consolidation
Exercisable Exercisable  consolidation on 7Junuar;
Date of grant period price per share HKS  Outstandin 201 Outslundm% at
Category of (Note éb (Note % HKS  BRAREZER ot 1 April 201 Granted Exercised  lapsed during ~ RZZ-AF 31 March 2019
Participants fi BREE EAA ﬁ%‘ﬁﬁ R-i-lw during the year during the year theyer  -RLBET RZB-1EZA
ﬂ% 5'] /ﬁé‘/b// (Wéfa)) &7 H-Eﬁih E3 ERfTfE #WM Hﬁ‘ﬁ&ﬂ! St-BREME
EmEIo ees of
roup
k5ERR
In aggregate 22 5¢ ember 20]5 Period 1 017 0.34 61,000,000 - - (10,000,000 (25,500,000] 25,500,000
& Z%-15) #-8
2 Oclober 20]6 Period 2 03 04 39,000,000 - - - (19,500,000) 19,500,000
“2-7ETAZTR £28
16 December 2016 Period 3 0.285 0.57 34,048,000 - - [5,016,000] (14,516,000] 14,516,000
“E-RETZATAA #28
Sub-tJolg! 134,048,000 - - (15,016,000} (59,516,000) 59,516,000
Others
ift
n oggregote 22 September 2015 Period 1 017 0.34 37,600,000 - - - (18,800,000] 18,800,000
3 “E-1EABCTCA £-3
20 October 2016 Period 2 03 0.4 25,000,000 - - - (12,500,000] 12,500,000
“E-RETAZTR 28
27 June 2017 Period 4 0.21 042 48,920,000 - - - (24,460,000) 24,460,000
ZE-tERBITEA £ng
SUb—ToIE! 111,520,000 - - - (55,760,000] 55,760,000
M:fl 621,850,000 - - [75,016,0000 (273 417,000] 273 417,000
L}
Weighted average exercise
nce [m HK$] [Note (c)) 0.2447 - - 0.2145 - 0.4977
I

r§7u //WE/://
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Share Options Scheme (continued)

Notes:
(a)  Period 1 22 September 2015 to 21 September 2020
Period 2 20 October 2016 to 19 October 2021
Period 3 16 December 2016 to 15 December 2021
Period 4~ 27 June 2017 to 26 June 2022
Period 5 21 January 2020 to 20 January 2025
(b)  The vesting date of the share options for Period 1 to 4 is the date of

(c)

grant. The vesting dates of the share options for Period 5 are as follows:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 March 2020 and
exercisable from 31 March 2020 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 June 2020 and
exercisable from 30 June 2020 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 September 2020
and exercisable from 30 September 2020 to 20 January 2025,
both dates inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 December 2020
and exercisable from 31 December 2020 to 20 January 2025, both
dates inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 March 2021 and
exercisable from 31 March 2021 to 20 January 2025, both dates

inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 June 2021 and
exercisable from 30 June 2021 to 20 January 2025, both dates
inclusive;

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 30 September 2021
and exercisable from 30 September 2021 to 20 January 2025,
both dates inclusive; and

12.5% of the Share Options shall be vested on 31 December 2021
and exercisable from 31 December 2021 to 20 January 2025, both
dates inclusive.

The exercise prices of the outstanding share options as at 31 March
2020 range from HK$0.11 to HK$0.6 per share and their weighted
average remaining contractual life as at 31 March 2020 is 3.21 years.

As at 31 March 2019, the exercise prices after share consolidation
on 14 November 2018 of the outstanding share options range from
HK$0.34 to HK$0.6 per share and their weighted average remaining
contractual life as at 31 March 2019 is 2.51 years.

Annual Report 2020 % -

(b)

(c)

8. LI Tz ®RIA (48)
AERE Rt B (48)
et -
(o) -8 —E—HFAA-+Z-HZE
—EEFAA=+—H
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Share Options Scheme (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company granted
29,550,000 share options to directors, employees and other parties and
the fair value of the share options granted are range from HK$0.0232
to HK$0.0287 each. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions. The fair value of the share options granted during the year
ended 31 March 2020 was determined by an independent valuer, APAC
Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited, using the Binomial option pricing
model (the “Model”). Details of the inputs to the Model are as follows:

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company did not grant any
share options to directors, employees or other parties.

AERE Rt B (48)
REBE-Z-ZF=ZA=+—ALFER  &2D
AHES - EERHEMATREHE29,550,0004
BREURFMBEHZEBREZLAFLENTEHR
0.0232B T E0.0287 8L  sTEZSHERELD
FHEHZ2EERBRNDEREEZ2REMT - BR
B EEEZETEIBHRI|2TRASLMAERT
B REBEE_E-_BF=A=+—-HLFEMRE
H2ERBECAFEDBHBE L (AEMEAEEF
HEREEBERAGREAENPREEEN ((Z
BRXNEE ZEAZBWAEFBOT

RBE-ZE-hAhF=ZA=Z+—-BLFERXN  £Q
AYEMNES EEREMLIREEMBRE -

22 September 20 October 16 December 27 June 21 January

2015 2016 2016 2017 2020

—Z2-1% - SN 3 Z2-RF —2—+t%F - - -3

AA=+Z=H +A=+H +ZA+7xH ~BZ=+tH —B=+—AH

Grant date share price REBHRMGER  HKS0.1688 T HK$0.338 T HK$0.285 T HK$0.1928 7T HK$0.1078 T
Grant date share price ARG ER

(after share consolidation) (RiBEDE) HK$0.336%& 1t HK$0.63%& T HK$0.57% 1t HK$0.384%& T HK$0.107% T

Exercise price TEE HK$0.17#& 7t HK$0.3:& T HK$0.285% T HK$0.218 7t HK$0.110% T

Exercise price (after share THEE (R

consolidation) ABtiE) HK$0.3408 T HK$0.638 7T HK$0.578 7T HK$0.42058 7T HK$0.110/ 7T

Expected volatility SEEEN L 72% 53% 53% 43% 40%

Expected life of the options BB F 1 5 yearsf 5 years® 5 yearsf 5 years® 5 years

Dividend yield = 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate 23| b K| = 0.97% 0.64% 1.56% 1.09% 1.49%

The Group recognised total expenses of approximately HK$763,000
(2019: Nil) during the year ended 31 March 2020 in relation to equity-
settled share-based payment.

Share Award Scheme

The Board has approved the adoption of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Old Share Award Scheme”) on 11 February 2011, pursuant to which
existing shares will be purchased by the Bank of East Asia (Trustees)
Limited (the “BEA Trustee”) from the market at the cost of the Company
and be held in trust. On 9 March 2011, the Board approved and
transferred HK$5,000,000 to the BEA Trustee. During the year ended
31 March 2020, the Company transferred shares from the share award
scheme from the BEA Trustee to Xin Yongan international Securities
Company Limited (the “Trustee”). As at 31 March 2020, 5,050,000
(2019:5,050,000) shares were purchased and held by the Trustee,
representing approximately 0.17% (2019: approximately 0.18%) of the
issued share capital of the Company. No award shares have been granted
to any persons since the commencement of the Old Share Award Scheme.
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 38. LIz BRIN (&)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

On 27 June 2017 (the “Adoption Date”), the Board resolved to terminate
the Old Share Award Scheme with immediate effect. Such termination
shall not affect the share awarded by the Board under the Old Share
Award Scheme. On the same day, the Board has conditionally resolved to
adopt the new share award scheme (the “New Share Award Scheme”).

The purposes and obijectives of the New Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees and persons to the
Group and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Subject to any early
termination as may be determined by the Board in accordance with the
scheme rules, the New Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective
for 10 years from the Adoption Date.

The Board may select any individual or corporate entity being a director
(including executive and non-executive director), employee, officer, agent,
advisor, consultant or business partner of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and other persons who/which in the opinion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group
(the “Eligible Participant”) for participation in the New Share Award
Scheme and determine the number of the awarded shares to be awarded
to the selected participants (the “Selected Participants”).

The Board shall offer the awarded shares (“Awarded Shares”) to the
Selected Participant(s) by any of the following ways as the Board deems

fit:

(a) subject to (i) the passing of an ordinary resolution by the
Shareholders in general meeting approving the Scheme Mandate
and the transactions contemplated thereunder; and (i) the Listing
Committee granting approval of the listing of, and permission to deal
in, any new shares as Awarded Shares, pay such sum to the Trustee
for the purpose of subscribing for the new Shares to be allotted and
issued to the Trustee for the benefit of the Selected Participant(s) or
allot and issue the new Shares as Awarded Shares to the Selected
Participant(s) directly; and/or

(b) pay the reference amount to the Trustee (or as it shall direct) and
direct the Trustee to purchase Old Awarded Shares. The Board
is entitled to impose any conditions as it deems appropriate with
respect to the entitlement of the Selected Participant to the Awarded
Shares.

Pursuant to the scheme rules, the total number of Shares, whether they are
new shares or old shares purchased on-market by the Trustee, underlying
all grants made pursuant to the New Share Award Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at the Adoption Date.
Such scheme limit may however be refreshed from time to time subject
to the certain conditions set out in the New Share Award Scheme. The
Company shall not make any further grant of Awarded Share(s) which
would result in the total number of the Awarded Shares together with the
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted but yet to be exercised under the other share option
or award scheme(s) of the Company representing an aggregate over thirty
per cent (30%) of the Share in issue as at the date of such grant.

B {7 S8 Wh &t & (48)
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Share Award Scheme (continued)

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders and subject to the
adjustment in the event of consolidation or subdivision of shares, the
maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a Selected
Participant under the New Share Awarded Scheme in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1 per cent (1%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date or the date of refreshment of the scheme
limit (as the case may be), excluding all the shares awarded under the
New Share Awarded Scheme up to the Adoption Date or the latest date of
refreshment.

Any Awarded Shares and the related income thereof held by the Trustee
and which are referable to a Selected Participant shall vest in that
Selected Participant in accordance with the timetable and conditions as
imposed by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided that the Selected
Participant remains at all times after the approved by the Board and on the
relevant vesting date an Eligible Participant of the Group.

If the Board selects a director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to the director may constitute a connected transaction
of the Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to director
forms part of the remuneration of the relevant director under his/her
service contract, such grant of awarded shares is exempted from all
the reporting, announcement and independent Shareholder’'s approval
requirement under Rules 14A.31(6) of the Listing Rules.

For the Award Shares to the Selected Participants who are connected
persons (excluding directors), the Company will comply with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements. However, any
grant to any director or senior management of the Company must first be
approved by the Remuneration Committee.

The New Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the date
falling on the 10th anniversary date of the Adoption Date and (ii) such
date of early termination as determined by the Board provided that such
termination shall not materially and adversely affect any subsisting rights
of any Selected Participant thereunder.

On 27 June 2017, the Board has resolved 249,370,000 Awarded
Shares (comprising (i) 234,140,000 Awarded Shares to be allotted and
issued to the connected persons of the Company and (ii) 15,230,000
Awarded Shares to other non-connected persons of the Company) to 18
Selected Participants under the New Share Award Scheme by way of
issue and allotment of new shares. On 17 August 2017, the Company
passed the above ordinary resolution by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting. On 22 August 2017, the Company issued the respective
Awarded Shares at fair value of HK$0.142 per share. The Group
recognised total expenses of approximately HK$35,411,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2018 in relation to Awarded Shares granted by the
Company.

There was no purchase of shares by the Trustee under the New Share

Award Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).
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39.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. X kiR
2020 2019
“BEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Authorised and contracted for capital contributions EAHBARZEE
payable to a subsidiary FETHHE 259,476 277,817

The Company did not have significant capital commitment at the end of
the reporting period (2019: Nil).

40.OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease
arrangements. Lleases for office properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to three years.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office premises falling
due as follows:

RBEHR AQAAAUBEREREE (ZF—H
FE) e

40. B EHEKIE
FEERECERRRFAEETHATNE -
WATNECEEREHEEL  FHE—F=
ER% .

REZZE-NWF=ZA=1t—H  RETTRHELE
BH AEEARATFEFRINARAREEEEN
AR

2019
—E-nF
HK$'000
T#x

Within one year —F R

3,894

B_ZELF (BEEEWT) 994

4,888

The Company did not have significant operating lease arrangements as at

31 March 2019.

REZZB-NF=A=1t—H  ARFALBEBRE
EHEZH-
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41.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Amounts

due to

Amounts non-
dueto  conirolling
shareholders interests
e

ERRRRET HERE
HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR
At 1 April 2018 RZE-NEMA-H 15,212 8,370
Changes from financing cash flows: BERENE2EE
Repayment of obligations under finance EERERERE
lease - -
Proceeds from other borrowings HitEEZFERE - -
Proceeds from bank borrowings BREZRERE - -
Advances from shareholders RREH 3,550 -
Repayment of bank borrowings RITEEER - -
Inferest paid BAFE - -
Non-cash items: FELEA
Finance costs MEHA 1 -
Inferest payables EMFE - -
Reclassification of amounts due to BEARES IEE%ﬁN‘ﬁ
shareholders to amounts due to non- R FERERT
controlling interests (115) 115
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  RIEREBHUNENE « BFE
under hnance |eoses u{ﬂﬁ - -
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=ZA=1-H 18,658 8,485
RWERHREERE 652
Impact on cdophon of HKFRS 16 7E - -
At 1 April 2019 RIE-AEMA-A 18,658 8,485
Changes from financing cash flows: BEREE2ET
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHESE - -
Repayment of bank borrowings RITREZER - -
Advances from shareholders EEEN 16,250 -
Repayments o shareholders BREER (2,249) -
Inferest paid ERFE - -
Non-cash items: FELER
Finance costs BERE 50 -
Reclassification of amounts due to BEARES Iﬁiﬁﬁﬁ <EY
shareholders to amounts due to non- R FERERT
controlling interests (560) 560
Issuance of shares for loan capitalisation RERERCBIRG = =
Lease termination RN - -
Exchange realignment B (189) =
At 31 March 2020 R-BZS§=A=1+-H 31,960 9,045

4. MR EBRELEARZHIE

TREINAEERETDFELEEBZEBF
B EBRAERIACEH METHFELE
F}EIIE%MLEE&*miﬁﬁulbiﬂaﬂy\z‘g%.@'&’

REREXREPEABETDIEENRERE
Z2EfE-
Lease
liabilities/
obligation
Other Bank under
borrowings  borrowings finance lease Total
HEAR
Hfe i SfTEE REEARER by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TERL TERL TERL

[Note 30) [Note 31) [Note 39)

B} - 3113 26,695
- - (964) (964)
23,353 - - 23,353
. 8,103 - 8,103

- - - 3,550

. 7,774) - (7,774)

. (199) (135) (334)

107 204 135 457
(107) (5) - (112)

- - 1,081 1,081
23,353 329 3,230 54,055
B - 3,957 3,957
23,353 329 7,187 58,012
. . (3,786) (3,786)

- (314) - (316)

. - - 16,250

] ) - (2,249)

- 2) (110) (112)

128 2 390 570
(23,502) a - (23,502)
h - (541) (541)

2] (13) (121) (302)

; - 3,019 44,024
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42. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42. EXREAETE S
In additions to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these BRIt E GRS ERREMBAFTBEZSER
consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31 March 2020 EeN RBE-ZE-ZFER_ZT-NE=A
and 2019, the Group had entered into the following material related party Z+-BLEFER AEEBTLUTEREREE
transactions: AERS
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (o) EEEHARZHE
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts FTEEBABZHE (BESRESHBHREM
paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 to the FIOFfEEZERAFARARNES ZHIE) W
consolidated financial statement is as follow: T
2020 2019
- o -2 5 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Short term employee benefits AHEEREA 14,848 18,182
MPF contributions mES MR 144 181
Equity-settled share-based payment LA R A E I LA 19 2 F 2 R 460 -
15,452 18,363
Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the MEeBEDEEEIETIRAER](GEWBR
consolidated financial statements. RHIEE8) A ©
(b) On 11 September 2014, Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino (b) R=Z—HmFEAB+—H X2AZ2E
Talent”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lender, WMEARFESEEERLAR (FHED (E
entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Graceful BEFT) EGraceful Ocean International
Ocean International Group Holding Limited (“Graceful Ocean”) Group Holding Limited ([ Graceful
as borrower and Mr. Ma Haike as guarantor whereby Sino Talent Ocean]) fEREER) REBM KL (fF
agreed to advance to Graceful Ocean a term loan in the principal BERNITLERGE (ERHBERD -
amount of HK$18 million (the “Loan”) with interest accrued at the Bt > #ER ZE mGraceful Oceani® A<
rate of 13% per annum. The parties entered into six supplemental £%8518,000,0008 Tz EHER ([ZE
agreements to the Loan Agreement between April 2015 and June M) BERRIZ% A E - BRI NHHE
2019 to, among other things, postpone the maturity date of the Loan RZZE-—HEFMNAZ=-ZE-NFAHHE
to 31 March 2020. MERWBRIT L AADEIHE U(EPE
BIEEZERZEMBE-E-_2F=A
=t—He-
On 12 June 2020, the parties and Mr. Gao Feng (“Mr. Gao”) RIZBEZFTFEXA+TZH FFIYNLESE
entered into the seventh supplemental agreement to the Loan FE(BEENFRERBRTLEL N
Agreement to further postpone the maturity date of the Loan to g WE—SEEZERZIHBEE=
31 March 2021. Meanwhile, as an additional security of the E-_-F=A=+t—H -E  EAEEA
repayment obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement BITHRERBR (KA BEHRAER)
(as supplemented by the six supplemental agreements), Mr. Gao, an TRZERETZEMER  BTESRES
executive Director and the vice-chairman of the Board, entered into SRIFFESELEEHE K Graceful Oceani]
a guarantee contract (“Mr. Gao’s Guarantee”) with Sino Talent and TEREHN(BEEZERD Bt B
Graceful Ocean whereby Mr. Gao agreed to act as an additional EERBEREEIMERA » LIERGCraceful
guarantor and guarantee the due performance of Graceful Ocean in OceanZ ERTERER M= (KL O
respect of its repayment obligations under the Loan Agreement (as WEAWE) TZEREE -

supplemented by the seventh supplemental agreements).
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43. MAJOR NON CASH TRANSACTION

During the year, the company had issued shares to seftle other borrowings

of approximately HK$23,502,000.

44.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has the following events occurred subsequent to the end of the
reporting period:

(i)  On 29 June 2020, the Company entered into a cooperation
agreement with two joint venture partners who are both independent
third parties not connected with the Company and its connected
persons whereby the parties agreed to establish a joint venture group
as a sales platform for watches through live streaming bloggers
and KOLs (key opinion leaders), direct sales, e-commerce shopping
platforms and exports. The Company shall contribute the initial
working capital for the joint venture group while the joint venture
partners shall assist the joint venture group to negotiate with suppliers
for setting up supply chains of watches and obtain the licences for
using the registered trademarks of the watches. The companies
constituting the joint venture group are accounted for as subsidiaries
of the Company and their financial results will be consolidated into the
accounts of the Group.

(i) Since January 2020, the outbreak of COVID-19 has posed enormous
impact on the global business environment. Depending on the
development and spread of the epidemic subsequent to the date of this
announcement, it may pose further changes in financial conditions of
the Group and impact on the financial results of the Group, the extent
of which cannot not be ascertained as at the date hereof. However,
due to the Group's strategies in responding to COVID-19 and the
Group’s estimated recovery from its trading business, the management
expects that the impact of COVID-19 to the financial conditions of
the Group will be mitigated. The Group will pay close attention to
the development of COVID-19, evaluate its impact on the financial
position and operating results of the Group.

45. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019. Upon the
transition methods, comparative information is not restated. Further details
of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.

46. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2020.
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